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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549
Form 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OHE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JANUARY 3, 2015

OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(df ®HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
COMMISSION FILE NUMBER 0-19687

Syn

SYNALLOY CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its arart

Delaware 57-0426694
(State of incorporation) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
775 Spartan Blvd, Suite 102, P.O. Box 5627, Sphttan South Carolina 29304
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant's telephone number, including area co@&4) 5853605
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(thefAct Name of each exchange on which registered:
Common Stock, $1.00 Par Value NASDAQ Global Market
(Title of Class)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghefAct:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%e0B#dturities Act. YeBl No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ortfBecl5(d) of the Act. Ye&l No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @l filed all reports required to be filed by Seetk8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of4L88rin¢
the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter petiatlithe registrant was required to file such reg)pand (2) has been subject to such filing nesents fc
the past 90 days. Y&l No[

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ibsnitted electronically and posted on its corpokeb site, if any, every Interactive Data File riegd to bt
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Réguol&-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shigperiod that the registrant was require
submit and post such files). YB8 No[

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilers pursuant to Item 405 of RegulatiorkSs not contained herein, and will not be contdirn® the best «
registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or inftation statements incorporated by reference inhIRaf this Form 10-K or any amendment to thisrifol0-
K.O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-smcelerated filer or a smaller reporting comparse
definitions of "large accelerated filer," "acceledfiler" and “smaller reporting company” in Rdl2b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one)

Large accelerated Fil&d Accelerated fileix] Non-accelerated filell Smaller reporting compariy

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the A¢gs] No[X]

Based on the closing price as of June 27, 2014chwivas the last business day of the registrant& recently completed second fiscal quarter, thyreagt
market value of the common stock held by rmdfiliates of the registrant was $135.6 million.s8d on the closing price as of March 4, 2015, ggregat
market value of common stock held by non-affiliatéfsthe registrant was $122.9 million. The registradid not have any noweting common equit
outstanding at either date.

The number of shares outstanding of the registranthmon stock as of March 4, 2015 was 8,710,302.

Documents Incorporated By Reference
Portions of the Proxy Statement for the 2015 ansliateholders' meeting are incorporated by referario Part 11l of this Form 10-K.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes and incogbes by reference "forwatdeking statements” within the meaning of the fed
securities laws. All statements that are not histébfacts are forwartboking statements. The words "estimate," "projetttend,” "expect,
"believe," "should," "anticipate,” "hope," "optintiis,” "plan,” "outlook," "should," "could,” "may" rad similar expressions identify forward-
looking statements. The forwatdeking statements are subject to certain risks wmzkrtainties, including without limitation thokentifiec
below, which could cause actual results to diffatenially from historical results or those anti¢grh Readers are cautioned not to place L
reliance on these forwatdeking statements. The following factors could smactual results to differ materially from histaliresults or tho:
anticipated: adverse economic conditions; the impacompetitive products and pricing; product dech@and acceptance risks; raw mati
and other increased costs; raw materials availgbéimployee relations; ability to maintain workfer by hiring trained employees; la
efficiencies; customer delays or difficulties inetiproduction of products; new fracking regulatioasprolonged decrease in oil pric
unforeseen delays in completing the integrationaagfuisitions; risks associated with mergers, aitijoms, dispositions and other expan:
activities; financial stability of our customerspvironmental issues; unavailability of debt finamgion acceptable terms and exposul
increased market interest rate risk; inability eanply with covenants and ratios required by ourtdielancing arrangements; ability to weal
an economic downturn; loss of consumer or investoifidence and other risks detailed from timeitioe in Synalloy Corporation's Securi
and Exchange Commission filings. Synalloy Corporatassumes no obligation to update any forwaodting information included in th
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

PART |

Item 1 Business

Synalloy Corporation, a Delaware corporation, wa®iporated in 1958 as the successor to a chemaalifacturing business founded in 1!
Its charter is perpetual. The name was changedubn 31, 1967 from Blackman Uhler Industries, Incn Qune 3, 1988, the state
incorporation was changed from South Carolina tta®are. The Company's executive offices are locatet/'5 Spartan Boulevard, Suite 1
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29301 and 4301 DomiBmulevard, Suite 130, Glen Allen, Virginia 230&hless indicated otherwise, the te

"Company," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Synall@prporation and its consolidated subsidiaries.

The Company's business is divided into two segmémsMetals Segment and the Specialty Chemicajm8et. The Metals Segment oper
as Bristol Metals, LLC ("BRISMET"), a whollpwned subsidiary of Synalloy Metals, Inc., PalmérTexas Tanks, Inc. ("Palmer") a
Specialty Pipe & Tube, Inc. ("Specialty"). BRISMHEfanufactures stainless steel and other alloy phadmer manufactures liquid stor:
solutions and separation equipment, and Specialy master distributor of seamless carbon pipetabe. The Metals Segment's mar
include the chemical, petrochemical, pulp and papening, power generation (including nuclear), evaand waste water treatment, lic
natural gas ("LNG"), brewery, food processing, pletnm, pharmaceutical and other industries. Thecig@jig Chemicals Segment operate
Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC ("MC"), a wholbwned subsidiary of Manufacturers Soap and Chen@Gaahpany, located in Clevelal
Tennessee and CRI Tolling, LLC ("CRI Tolling"), lted in Fountain Inn, South Carolina. The Speci@hemicals Segment produ
specialty chemicals for the chemical, paper, metaming, agricultural, fiber, paint, textile, antotive, petroleum, cosmetics, mattr
furniture, janitorial and other industries.

General

Metals Segment —This segment is comprised of three whallyned subsidiaries: Synalloy Metals, Inc., whichnewl00 percent of Brist
Metals, LLC, located in Bristol, Tennessee; PalofeFexas Tanks, Inc., located in Andrews, Texast 8pecialty Pipe & Tube, Inc., locatec
Mineral Ridge, Ohio and Houston, Texas.

BRISMET manufactures welded pipe, primarily froraistess steel, but also from other corrosiesistant metals. Pipe is produced in ¢
from one-half inch to 120 inches in diameter and wéckness up to one and one-half inches. EigiMaeh and smaller diameter pipe is m
on equipment that forms and welds the pipe in aigoous process. Pipe larger than 18 inches in elienis formed on presses or rolls
welded on batch welding equipment. Pipe is normaltyduced in standard Z6et lengths. However, BRISMET has unusual cap@édsliin the
production of long length pipe without circumferiahtwelds. This can reduce installation cost fa tustomer. Lengths up to 60 feet ca
produced in sizes up to 18 inches in diameterailgdr sizes BRISMET has a unique ability among dim@roducers to make 48et length:
in diameters up to 36 inches. Over the past sixsyeBRISMET has made substantial capital improveameeaxpanding and improvi
capabilities to service markets requiring largenthter pipe and specialty alloy pipe such as waner \waste water treatment, LNG,
scrubber applications for the power industry. Thieserovements include expanding itgay facilities which allows simultaneous use ofl
time and film examination; updating material hanglequipment; expanding capabilities for formingyéapipe on existing batch equipment,
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giving BRISMET the capability to produce 36-incladtieter pipe in 48ot lengths with wall thicknesses of up to onehinadding a shear tt
has the capacity of shearing stainless steel plat® oneinch thick; completing plant expansions that allth@ manufacture of pipe up to
inches in diameter utilizing more readily availabbev materials at lower costs, provide additionanofacturing capacity, and prov
improved product handling and additional spacepfanned equipment additions; installing automatgdtdrtesting equipment for pipe up to
inches in diameter; installing an energy efficitmhace to anneal pipe quicker while minimizingurat gas usage; and system improvemer
pickling to maintain the proper chemical compositad the pickling acid.

Palmer is an International Organization for Stadiation ("1ISO") 9001 certified manufacturer ofdiiglass and steel storage tanks for th
and gas, waste water treatment and municipal viedeistries. Located in Andrews, Texas, Palmer éslig located in the heart of oil and
production territory. Palmer produces madestder fiberglass tanks, utilizing a variety of @mtmandrels and application specific matet
Their fiberglass tanks range from two feet to 3€ i@ diameter at various heights. The majorityha&fse tanks is used for oil field waste w
capture and is an integral part of the environnmerggulatory compliance of the drilling process.ckdiberglass tank is manufacturec
American Petroleum Institute Q1 standards to enpuoeluct quality. In 2007, Palmer began investingaidedicated steel tank produc
facility. Over the past four years, Palmer hastharil integrated production facility housing enctbséeel preparation, computer assisted pl;
cutting table, automated submerged arc weldingstinig, painting and drying buildings. The facilignables efficient, environmente
compliant steel production with designedexpansion capability to support future growtmished steel tanks range in size from 50 to 1(
barrels and are used to store extracted oil. D2y, Palmer obtained all of the necessary oeatifins to produce certified pressure ves
These certifications allow Palmer to sell all of $eparator and storage equipment needed at aiteell

Specialty is a leading master distributor of hoidi, seamless, carbon steel pipe and tubing, avitemphasis on large outside diameter:
exceptionally heavy wall thickness. Specialty'sdueds are primarily used for mechanical and higisgure applications in the oil and i
capital goods manufacturing, heavy industrial, tatsion equipment, paper and chemical industi@serating from two facilities located
Mineral Ridge, Ohio and Houston, Texas, Speciatyellpositioned to serve the major industrial and eneggyons and successfully re
other target markets across the United States.i@peperforms valuexdded services on approximately 80 percent of mtsdshipped, whic
would include cutting to length, heat treatmenstitey, boring and end finishing and typically preses and ships orders in 24 hours or
Based upon its short lead times, Specialty plagsta&al role in the supply chain, supplying lorgatitime items to markets that demand
deliveries, custom lengths and reliable executioorders.

In order to establish stronger business relatigpssithe Metals Segment uses only a few raw matsufgbliers. Seven suppliers furnish abot
percent of total dollar purchases of raw materiaih one supplier furnishing 42 percent of matepiarchases. However, the Company (
not believe that the loss of this supplier wouldéha materially adverse effect on the Company asmaterials are readily available fror
number of different sources, and the Company aaies no difficulties in fulfilling its requiremest

This segment's stainless steel products are usedgally by customers requiring materials that acgrosion-resistant or suitable for high
purity processes. The largest users are the chem&taochemical, pulp and paper, waste waterrreat and LNG industries, with some of
important industry users being mining, power getiena (including nuclear), water treatment, brewefgpd processing, petroleu
pharmaceutical and alternative fuels. The segmehnittame alloy products are used primarily in thev@ogeneration and chemical industries.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Fhis segment consists of the Company's whollyred subsidiary Manufacturers Soap and Chemicaipaoy
("MS&C"). MS&C owns 100 percent of the membershiperests of MC, which has a production facility @eveland, Tennessee an
warehouse in Dalton, Georgia. This segment alsodies CRI Tolling which is located in Fountain If8guth Carolina. Both facilities are fu
licensed for chemical manufacture. The segmentymesl specialty chemicals for the oil and gas, ¢argdemical, paper, metals, mini
agricultural, fiber, paint, textile, automotive tpeum, cosmetics, mattress, furniture, janitoaiadl other industries.

MC, which was purchased by the Company in 1996dyres over 1,100 specialty formulations and inteliates for use in a wide variety
applications and industries. MC's primary prodiroed focus on the areas of defoamers, surfactawtdudricating agents. Over 20 years i
MC began diversifying its marketing efforts and amging beyond traditional textile chemical markdtsese three fundamental product |
find their way into a large number of manufacturtngsinesses. Over the years, the customer lisgtoasn to include end users and chen
companies that supply paper, metal working, surtaaings, water treatment, paint, mining and @it applications. MC's capabilities a
include the sulfation of fats and oils. These pridware used in a wide variety of applications eegiesent a renewable resource, anima
vegetable derivatives, as alternatives to more rsige and nomenewable petroleum derivatives. In its Dalton, @G&ofacility, MC stores ar
ships chemicals and specialty chemicals manufatinr®C's Cleveland, Tennessee plant to the campatug market.
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MC's strategy has been to focus on industries amdtets that have good prospects for sustainalilithe U.S. in light of global trends. M(
marketing strategy relies on sales to end useaigffir its own sales force, but it also sells chehiidarmediates to other chemical compa
and distributors. It also has close working relagtups with a significant number of major chemicaipanies that outsource their produc
for regional manufacture and distribution to coniparike MC. MC has been ISO registered since 1995.

CRI Tolling, which acquired substantially all ofettassets of Color Resources, LLC and the facititynerly used by Color Resources, LL(
August 2013, is located in Fountain Inn, South Gaao CRI Tolling has underutilized manufacturingpacity which allows the Company
expand production from MC's Cleveland, Tennesseiitiato further penetrate existing markets, adlwas develop new ones, including th
in the energy industry, and provides redundant yctdn capabilities for key products. The Compamyested approximately $3,500,00(
equipment at CRI Tolling during 2014. The new equant provided CRI Tolling with production capalédi similar to those currently in ple
at MC's facility and increased the production cétyaaf the Specialty Chemicals Segment by 60 petcen

The Specialty Chemicals Segment maintains two ktbaes for applied research and quality controicWlare staffed by nine employees.

Most raw materials used by the segment are geperadlilable from numerous independent suppliersanmbst 50 percent of total purche
are from its top eight suppliers. While some rawtarial needs are met by a sole supplier or onlgva guppliers, the Company anticipate:
difficulties in fulfilling its raw material requiraents.

Please see Note 13 to the Consolidated Finana#ti8ents, which are included in Item 8 of this FAOK, for financial information about tl
Company's segments.

Sales and Distribution

Metals Segment —The Metals Segment utilizes separate sales orgamsafor its different product groups. Stainlesses pipe is sol
nationwide under the BRISMET trade name throughaniged stocking distributors at warehouse locatittmoughout the country. In additi
large quantity orders are shipped directly from 8RET's plant to endiser customers. Producing sales and providingaetweithe distributo
and enddser customers are BRISMET's President, two outsatkss employees, ten independent manufactureregsentatives and nine ins
sales employees.

Palmer does not employ a dedicated external sakbsnarketing resource. However, it employs twodasiales professionals that manag:
relationships with past customers to identify arduse new sales. Additionally, the Metals SegmeasiBlent assists in account relation
management with large customers. Customer feeddnattkn-field experience generate product enhancenaer new product development.

Approximately 80 percent of Specialty's pipe salesto North American pipe and tube distributorthwvtiie remainder comprised of direc
customer orders. In addition to Specialty's Pregid8pecialty utilizes two manufacturing represtws and 7 inside sales employees, w
are located at both locations, to obtain salesrerded service its customers.

There were no customers representing more thapei@ent of the Metals Segment's revenues for 26@46@12 but had one domestic custc
that accounted for approximately ten percent oénexes in 2013. These revenues were for the Bechtdéar project which will not recur
the future.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Specialty chemicals are sold directly to variouwdustries nationwide by six futime outside sales employ:
and thirteen manufacturers' representatives. Tleei8lty Chemicals Segment has one domestic custtraeaccounted for approximately
percent of the Segment's revenues in 2014 withffareint domestic customer representing 40 peraer0il3 and 28 percent in 2012. °
change in customers resulted from two of the thmeluct lines which use our products were soldrotleer company in early 2014. 1
Specialty Chemicals Segment successfully retaihedatquiring customer's business. This new custanarlarge global company, and
purchases by this customer are derived from twfemiht business units that operate autonomousliy feach other. Even so, loss of
customer's revenues would have a material advéfieset en both the Specialty Chemicals Segment hadCtompany.

Competition

Metals Segment -Welded stainless steel pipe is the largest salesnemproduct of the Metals Segment. Although infation is not publicl
available regarding the sales of most other produoé this product, management believes that thegamy is one of the largest dome
producers of such pipe. This commodity productighly competitive with nine known domestic produceand imports from many differe
countries.




Due to the size of the tanks produced and shippéid customers, the majority of Palmer's prodacessold within a 300 mile radius from
plant in Andrews, Texas. There are currently 1% faroducers, with similar capabilities, servicifgt same area.

Specialty is a leader in the specialized produetgreent of the pipe and tube market by offering radustry-leading irstock inventory of
broad range of high quality products, includingaakzed products with limited availability. Spelties dual branches have both common
regional-specific products and capabilities. Thenefour known significant pipe and tube distrilvataith similar capabilities to Specialty.

Specialty Chemicals Segment ¥he Company is the sole producer of certain spgc@iemicals manufactured for other companies
processing agreements and also produces proprigtagralty chemicals. The Company's sales of sipegieoducts are insignificant compa
to the overall market for specialty chemicals. Tiarket for most of the products is highly competitand many competitors have substant
greater resources than does the Company.

Mergers, Acquisitions and Dispositions

The Company is committed to a loterm strategy of (a) reinvesting capital in ourreat business segments to foster their organic oy’
disposing of underperforming business segments mégpative projected cash flows and (c) completioguaitions that expand our curr
business segments or establish new manufacturiatiophs. Targeted acquisitions are priced to benewcucally feasible and focus

achieving positive longerm benefits. These acquisitions may be paidrfahé form of cash, stock, debt or a combinati@rebf. The amou
and type of consideration and deal charges paittdoave a shorterm dilutive effect on the Company's earnings gfeare. However, su
transactions are anticipated to provide long-teconemic benefit to the Company.

On November 21, 2014, the Company entered intooakSPurchase Agreement with The Davidson Corparatéo Delaware corporati
("Davidson"), to purchase all of the issued andstautding stock of Specialty. Established in 196thwlistribution centers in Mineral Rid
Ohio and Houston, Texas, Specialty is a masteriloigbr of seamless carbon pipe and tube, with augoon heavy wall, large diame
products. The purchase price for the all-cash aitipn was $31,500,000, subject to working camtijilistments postlosing. Davidson has t
potential to receive earn-out payments up to d tjt&5,000,000 if Specialty achieves targeted sadwenue over a twygear period followin
closing. The purchase price for the acquisition Yvaxled through a combination of cash on hand,va teem loan with the Company's b
and an increase to the Company's current crediityacThe financial results for Specialty are refgal as a part of the Company's Me
Segment.

On August 29, 2014, the Company completed thecfaddl of the issued and outstanding membershigr@sts of its wholly owned subsidie
Ram-Fab, LLC, a South Carolina limited liabilitympany ("RamF~ab"), to a subsidiary of Primoris Services Corfiora The transaction w
valued at less than $10 million, which considerafiocluded cash at closing, Synalloy's ability égeive potential future eaout payment(
and the retention of specified Ram-Fab currenttas3éaie Company realized a otiee charge in the third quarter of 2014 of $1,996, foi
costs associated with the closure plus a $947,886ge to write off the Company's investment in Réab- These charges, along with all nor
recurring revenues and expenses associated with-FR&anare included in the respective consolidatednfifal statements as discontin
operations. Ram-Fab was reported as a part of #talMSegment.

On June 27, 2014, the Company completed the placlosdre of the Bristol Fabrication unit of SynallBabrication, LLC ("Bristol Fab"
Bristol Fab's collective bargaining agreement with United Association of Journeymen and AppresticEthe Plumbing and Pipe Fitti
Industry of the United States and Canada Local iNo. 538 (the "Union") expired on February 15, 20After lengthy negotiations with t
Union, Bristol Fab was unable to reach an agreemglsb, upon closure of the operation, the Compamg legally obligated to pay
withdrawal liability to the Union's pension fund e¥er $1.9 million. The Company realized a dimee charge in the second quarter of 201
$6,988,000 for costs associated with the closufgristol Fab. These costs, along with all mecurring revenues and expenses associate!
Bristol Fab, are included in the respective comisaéd financial statements as discontinued op@satio

In August, 2013, the Company, through its whallyned subsidiary CRI Tolling, completed the pureha$ the business assets of C
Resources, LLC (“CRI”) and the building and landdted in Fountain Inn, South Carolina where CRI thassole tenant (the “CRI Facility”
CRI Tolling, a South Carolina limited liability cqmany and wholly-owned subsidiary of the Companwytioned CRIS business as that of a
manufacturer that provides outside manufacturisgueces to global and regional chemical compa@esAugust 9, 2013, Synalloy purcha
the CRI Facility for a total purchase price of &)400. On August 26, 2013, the Company purchase@io assets and assumed ce
operating liabilities of CRI through CRI Tolling f@ total purchase price of $1,100,000. The agsatshased from CRI included accot
receivable, inventory, certain other assets, andpatent, net of assumed payables. The Company theedcquisition of CRI and the C
Facility to expand its production capacity from @teveland, Tennessee facility to further peneteadsting markets, as well as develop
ones, including those in the energy industry. CRIliilg operates as a division of SynalleySpecialty Chemicals Segment, which includes
The Company viewed both the building and operatisgets of CRI together as one business, capalgewiding a return to ownership
expanding the segment's production capacity. Adaghy the acquisition met the definition of a messs and the transaction
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is structured in a way that meets the definitiomdfusiness combination under accounting standgndesrally accepted in the United State
America ("GAAP").

On August 21, 2012, the Company completed the asectof all of the outstanding shares of capitatkstf LeeVar, Inc. (now Palmer 1
Texas Tanks, Inc.), a Texas corporation doing lmssiras Palmer of Texas, pursuant to a stock pwamsement (the "SPA") among Paln
former shareholders and the Company dated Augy*Q®. Palmer is a manufacturer of liquid storsgletions and separation equipmen
the petroleum, municipal water, wastewater, chelhdoa food industries. The purchase price for thémér acquisition was $25,575,00(
cash, subject to working capital and fixed assg@isdighents at closing. The adjustments at closicgegsed the purchase price to $26,951
Palmer shareholders also have the ability to receontingent consideration ("eanmt") payments ranging from $2,500,000 to $10,500,i
the business unit achieves targeted levels of egsrbefore interest, taxes, depreciation and apaticin ("EBITDA") over a three year per
following closing; and the Company will have theliépto claw-back portions of the purchase price over a two peaiod following closing
EBITDA falls below baseline levels. The former Pammshareholders received the first year earhpayment during 2013 of $2,500,000. -
amount was partially offset by claims made againstsellers, as designated in the SPA, amountir&g&%5,000. The net amount paid to
sellers after the first year of Synalloy ownershigs $1,615,000. The actual second year EBITDA &mer fell below the minimum targ
level and no payment was made in 2014. Lookingtouhe third and final year of the eawnt period, management does expect Palrr
achieve the threshold EBITDA target of $5.825 miili The Company remains pleased with Palmpérformance to date and its prospect
the future; however, management does not expediubi@ess unit to reach the second tier level @Z28H000 for the final earn-out period.

Environmental Matters

Environmental expenditures that relate to an engstiondition caused by past operations and do arttibute to future revenue generation
expensed. Liabilities are recorded when environaleassessments and/or cleanups are probable anmbste of these assessments al
cleanups can be reasonably estimated. Changewsoalad environmental issues, including climate geamre made or proposed with s
frequency and some of the proposals, if adopteghtdirectly or indirectly result in a material rexdion in the operating results of one or n
of our operating units. We are presently unabliotesee the future well enough to quantify sucksriSee Note 5 to the Consolidated Finau
Statements, which are included in Item 8 of thienk@0-K, for further discussion.

Research and Development Activities

The Company spent approximately $531,000 in 20%88®00 in 2013 and $612,000 in 2012 on researdidawelopment activities that wi
expensed in its Specialty Chemicals Segment. Siwiduals, five of whom are graduate chemists, emgaged primarily in research
development of new products and processes, theoiraprent of existing products and processes, anddkelopment of new applications
existing products.

Seasonal Nature of the Business

With the exception of Palmer and Specialty's Houdtzation, which primarily serves the oil and gagustry, the Companyg’businesses a
products are generally not subject to any seadomct that results in significant variations irveaues from one quarter to another. Fc
quarter revenue and profit for Palmer and Specidityiston can be as much as 25 percent below trex tithee quarters due to vaca
schedules for customer field crews working at ttik sltes.

Backlogs

The Specialty Chemicals Segment operates primarilhe basis of delivering products soon after irdee received. Accordingly, backl
are not a factor in this business. The same appiepmmodity pipe sales in the Metals Segment. ¢éi@r, backlogs are important in
Metals Segment's steel and fiberglass tanks samdestare produced only after orders are receitedhacklog of open orders were $12,229
and $11,477,000 at the end of 2014 and 2013, riégelyc Management began tracking Palmer backlognduthe fourth quarter of 201
Therefore, backlog levels prior to 2013 are notlate.

Employee Relations

At January 3, 2015, the Company had 464 employBes.Company considers relations with employeesetsdtisfactory. The number
employees of the Company represented by unionatddcat the Bristol, Tennessee and Mineral Riddeo @cilities, is 162, or 35 percent
the Company's employees. They are represented byldeals affiliated with the United Steelworkersdaane local affiliated with tt
Teamsters. Collective bargaining contracts for $theelworkers will expire in June 2017 and July 20M® Company has given notice to
Teamsters that their contract will not be renewidtbre are two employees represented by this union.
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Financial Information about Geographic Areas
Information about revenues derived from domestit faneign customers is set forth in Note 13 to@uasolidated Financial Statements.
Available information

The Company electronically files with the Secustend Exchange Commission ("SEC") its annual repmmtForm 10K, its quarterly repor
on Form 10-Q, its periodic reports on FornK8amendments to those reports filed or furnishedsygant to Section 13(a) of the Secur
Exchange Act of 1934 (the "1934 Act"), and proxytemials pursuant to Section 14 of the 1934 Act. Bl#C maintains a site on the Inter
www.sec.goV, which contains reports, proxy and informatiortesteents, and other information regarding issuesftte electronically with th
SEC. The Company also makes its filings availafske of charge, through its Web site, www.synalioyn, as soon as reasonably prac
after the electronic filing of such material withet SEC. The information on the Company's Web siteot incorporated into this Annual Rej
on Form 10-K or any other filing the Company makéth the SEC.

Item 1A Risk Factors

There are inherent risks and uncertainties assatiadth our business that could adversely affect aperating performance and finan
condition. Set forth below are descriptions of #hatgks and uncertainties that we believe to beerist but the risks and uncertain
described are not the only risks and uncertairtias could affect our business. Reference shoulthade to "Forward-ooking Statement:
above, and "Management's Discussion and Analyginaincial Condition and Results of Operationsitém 7 below.

The cyclical nature of the industries in which aurstomers operate causes demand for our productsetaeyclical, creating uncertair
regarding future profitability.Various changes in general economic conditionscaffiee industries in which our customers operateesi
changes include decreases in the rate of consumptiaise of our customergroducts due to economic downturns. Other factarssiog
fluctuation in our customergositions are changes in market demand, capitaldspg, lower overall pricing due to domestic antéinatione
overcapacity, lower priced imports, currency flattans, and increases in use or decreases in icasstitute materials. As a result of tf
factors, our profitability has been and may infileire be subject to significant fluctuation.

Domestic competition could force lower product pricand may have an adverse effect on our reveandgrofitability. From time-totime,
intense competition and excess manufacturing cgpatithe commodity stainless steel industry hagsulted in reduced selling pric
excluding raw material surcharges, for many of stainless steel products sold by the Metals Segmeiirder to maintain market share,
would have to lower our prices to match the contipeti These factors have had and may continue ¥e ha adverse impact on our reven
operating results and financial condition and maptinue to do so in the future.

Our business, financial condition and results oé@tions could be adversely affected by an increédseel of imported product®ur busines
is susceptible to the import of products from otbeuntries, particularly steel products. Importisvof various products are affected by, an
other things, overall worldvide demand, lower cost of production in other d¢das, the trade practices of foreign governmegésiernmer
subsidies to foreign producers and governmentaijyoised trade restrictions in the United Statedidlgh imports from certain countries h
been curtailed by anti-dumping duties, importeddpiais from

other countries could significantly reduce pridesreased imports of certain products, whethegdledumping or legal imports, could red
demand for our products in the future and adverag#ct our business, financial position, resuftsperations or cash flows.

The Specialty Chemicals Segment uses significanitifies of a variety of specialty and commoditgroiicals in its manufacturing proces:
which are subject to price and availability fluctioms that may have an adverse impact on our firaperformanceThe raw materials we u
are generally available from numerous independappléers. However, some of our raw material needszet by a sole supplier or only a-
suppliers. If any supplier that we rely on for ravaterials ceases or limits production, we may irgignificant additional costs, includi
capital costs, in order to find alternate, reliatale material suppliers. We may also experienceifidgnt production delays while locating n
supply sources, which could result in our failwditmely deliver products to our customers. Puretarices and availability of these critical |
materials are subject to volatility. Some of the materials used by the Specialty Chemicals Segmentierived from petrochemidaése:
feedstock, such as crude oil and natural gas, wiisle been subject to historical periods of rapid significant movements in price. Th
fluctuations in price could be aggravated by faxtoeyond our control such as political instabiléyd supply and demand factors, inclu
Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countrl&3REC") production quotas and increased global dehfier petroleum-

7




based products. At any given time we may be unt@btdtain an adequate supply of these critical maaterials on a timely basis, at prices
other terms acceptable, or at all. If suppliergéase the price of critical raw materials, we may lmave alternative sources of supply.
attempt to pass changes in the prices of raw naddesiong to our customers. However, we cannotyswi so, and any limitation on «
ability to pass through any price increases coalehan adverse effect on our financial performaAog. significant variations in the cost ¢
availability of our specialty and commodity matésienay negatively affect our business, financialdition or results of operations, specifici
for the Specialty Chemicals Segment.

We rely on a small number of suppliers for our naaterials and any interruption in our supply chaiould affect our operationsn order tc
foster stronger business relationships, the M&atgment uses only a few raw material suppliersirpuhe year ended January 3, 2015, s
suppliers furnished approximately 82 percent of total dollar purchases of raw materials, with sneplier providing 42 percent. Howe\
these raw materials are available from a numbesamfrces, and the Company anticipates no difficuliie fulfilling its raw material
requirements for the Metals Segment. Raw materaklsd by the Specialty Chemicals Segment are génexahilable from numerol
independent suppliers and approximately 50 peraktutal purchases were made from our top eighplsens during the year ended Janual
2015. Although some raw material needs are met Bingle supplier or only a few suppliers, the Companticipates no difficulties

fulfilling its raw material requirements for the &palty Chemicals Segment. While the Company belahat raw materials for both segm
are readily available from numerous sources, the &t one or more key suppliers in either segnwrany other material change in our cur
supply channels, could have an adverse effect@iCtdmpanys ability to meet the demand for its products, Wtdould impact our operatiol
revenues and financial results.

A substantial portion of our overall sales is degent upon a limited number of customers, and the & one or more of such customers w
have a material adverse effect on our businessiltesf operation and profitabilityThe products of the Specialty Chemicals Segmenseaic
to various industries nationwide. However, thatnsegt has one domestic customer that accountegfworimately 31 percent of revenue
2014 with a different domestic customer represgndf percent of revenues in 2013 and 28 percemewgnues in 2012. The change
customers resulted from two of the three produstdiwhich use our products being sold to anotherpeay in early 2014. The Specit
Chemicals Segment successfully retained the acguaompany's business. This new customer is a ol company, and its purchases
derived from two different business units that eperindependently of each other. Even so, the dbskis customer would have a mate
adverse effect on the revenues of the Specialtyniitzds Segment and the Company.

The Metals Segment did not have any customer ttwiumted for more than ten percent of the segmentenues for 2014 and 2013. Tt
was one domestic customer that accounted for appately eleven percent of the segmentvenues in 2013. These revenues were fi
Bechtel nuclear project which will not recur in theure. Palmer and Specialty, which are a parthef Metals Segment, sell much of tl
products to the oil and gas industry. Any changehis industry, or any change in this indussrglemand for their products, would har
material adverse effect on the profits of the Me@&gment and the Company.

Our operating results are sensitive to the avaiispiand cost of energy and freight, which are impaot in the manufacture and transpor
our productsOur operating costs increase when energy or freigsts rise. During periods of increasing energy fagight costs, we might r
be able to fully recover our operating cost incesathrough price increases without reducing denfanaur products. In addition, we i
dependent on third party freight carriers to tramspnany of our products, all of which are dependsnfuel to transport our products. -
prices for and availability of electricity, naturgds, oil, diesel fuel and other energy resourcesabject to volatile market conditions. Tt
market conditions often are affected by politicatlaaconomic factors beyond our control. Disruptionghe supply of energy resources ct
temporarily impair the ability to manufacture pratkifor customers and may result in the declinfe§ht carrier capacity in our geograr
markets, or make freight carriers unavailable. lk@ntincreases in energy or freight costs that aaba passed on to customers, or chanc
costs relative to energy and freight costs paiddypetitors, has adversely affected, and may coatio adversely affect, our profitability.

Qil prices are extremely volatile. A substantialextended decline in the price of oil could advirsdfect our financial condition and results
operations.Prices for oil can fluctuate widely. Our Palmer &@pkcialty (Texas) units' revenues are highly dépethon our customers add
oil well drilling and pumping locations. Should gitices decline such that drilling becomes unpabfi for our customers, such customers
likely cap many of their current wells and ceasecortail expansion. This will decrease the demamddur tanks and pipe and tube
adversely affect the results of our operations.

Significant changes in nickel prices could haverapact on the sales by the Metals SegmBm. Metals Segment uses nickel in a number
products. Nickel prices are currently at a reldyivew level, which reduces our manufacturing cdstscertain products. When nickel pri
increase, many of our customers increase theirsiidean attempt to avoid future price increasesulting in increased sales for the Me
Segment. Conversely, when nickel prices decreaaayrf our customers wait to place orders in aanat to take advantage of subseq
price decreases, resulting in reduced sales fokMtitals Segment. On average, the Metals Segmert itsr inventory of commodity pipe ew
four months, but the nickel surcharge on saleoofranodity




pipe is established on a weekly basis. The diffegeif any, between the price of nickel on the ddtpurchase of the raw material and the p
as established by the surcharge, on the date ®hsal the potential to create an inventory prafibes. If the price of nickel steadily incres
over time, as it did from 2005 to 2007, the Metatgment is the beneficiary of the increase in nipkiee in the form of inventory gair
Conversely, if the price of nickel steadily dece=asver time, as it has from 2009 to 2013, the M&agment suffers inventory losses. Du
2014, nickel prices were relatively unchanged. Wetals Segment incurred inventory losses of $118f00 the year ended January 3, 2
We will incur inventory losses in the future if kéd prices decrease. Any material changes in teeafmickel could impact our sales and re
in fluctuations in the profits for the Metals Segrme

We encounter significant competition in all aredsoar businesses and may be unable to competdiefigc which could result in reduc
profitability and loss of market sharwWe actively compete with companies producing theesar similar products and, in some instances,
companies producing different products designedtifersame uses. We encounter competition from doiestic and foreign sources in pr
delivery, service, performance, product innovatéod product recognition and quality, depending lwn groduct involved. For some of
products, our competitors are larger and have grdatancial resources than we do. As a resultseheompetitors may be better abli
withstand a change in conditions within the indestin which we operate, a change in the pricesvwwfmaterials or a change in the econon
a whole. Our competitors can be expected to coattoudevelop and introduce new and enhanced produd more efficient producti
capabilities, which could cause a decline in madateptance of our products. Current and futures@atation among our competitors i
customers also may cause a loss of market shaselhas put downward pressure on pricing. Our cditgre could cause a reduction in
prices for some of our products as a result ofnisifeed price competition. Competitive pressures akso result in the loss of major custorr
If we cannot compete successfully, our businesanitial condition and profitability could be adwaysaffected.

Our lengthy sales cycle for the Specialty Chemi&dgment makes it difficult to predict quarterlwerue levels and operating rest
Purchasing the products of the Specialty ChemiSalgment is a major commitment on the part of ostauers. Before a potential custo
determines to purchase products from the Spedtigmicals Segment, the Company must produce tedupr material so that the poten
customer is satisfied that we can manufacture aymtoto their specifications. The production of lsuest materials is a timsnsumin
process. Accordingly, the sales process for pradictthe Specialty Chemicals Segment is a lengtioggss that requires a consider
investment of time and resources on our part. Assalt, the timing of our revenues is difficultgeedict, and the delay of an order could c
our quarterly revenues to fall below our expectatiand those of the public market analysts andsiove.

A significant portion of our sales results from quetitive bidding, which is a long and unpredictapl®cessin both of our business segme
many of our sales efforts are based on competitidding situations with existing and potential @msers in which we must fix a price early
the process. This is often a slow and lengthy E®dteat requires us to spend considerable timeesulirces. Moreover, it is an unpredict
process and we are not always successful in odirtgd The unpredictability of the competitive biddiprocess makes it difficult to predict
quarterly revenues with any degree of certaintythin event we do not accurately predict our costs @roject, we will not realize our pre
expectations and may in fact incur a loss on thaiqular project. Many factors which are out of eantrol may adversely affect our profit ¢
project.

Our operations expose us to the risk of environalehealth and safety liabilities and obligationghich could have a material adverse el
on our financial condition, results of operationsaash flowsWe are subject to numerous federal, state and &vatonmental protection a
health and safety laws governing, among other thing

» the generation, use, storage, treatment, trangjmortaisposal and management of hazardous sulestamt] waste
* emissions or discharges of pollutants or othertsmogs into the environme

* investigation and remediation of, and damages tiagutom, releases of hazardous substance:

» the health and safety of our employ:

Under certain environmental laws, we can be halidtlst liable for hazardous substance contaminatiérany real property we have e
owned, operated or used as a disposal site. Walsoeequired to maintain various environmental perraitd licenses, many of which reqt
periodic modification and renewal. Our operationtaé the risk of violations of those laws and regions, and we cannot assure you tha
have been or will be at all times in compliancelwvétl of these requirements. In addition, theseaiiregnents and their enforcement may bec
more stringent in the future.

We have incurred, and expect to continue to inadditional capital expenditures in addition to oatly costs to comply with applica
environmental laws, such as those governing aisgnrnis and wastewater discharges. Our failure ngobowith applicable environmental la
and permit requirements could result in civil amdddminal fines or penalties, enforcement actiars] regulatory or judicial orders enjoin
or curtailing operations or requiring correctiveasares such as the installation of
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pollution control equipment, which could have a en@l adverse effect on our financial conditiorsulés of operations or cash flows.

We are currently, and may in the future be, reguie investigate, remediate or otherwise addresdacaination at our current or forn
facilities. Many of our current and former fac#isi have a history of industrial usage for whichitiatthl investigation, remediation or ot
obligations could arise in the future and that douaterially adversely affect our business, finahcondition, results of operations or c
flows. In addition, we are currently and, couldlive future be, responsible for costs to addrestaunation identified at any real property
used as a disposal site.

Although we cannot predict the ultimate cost of ptience with any of the requirements described abtive costs could be material. Non
compliance could subject us to material liabilitisgch as government fines, third-party lawsuitthersuspension of naempliant operation
We also may be required to make significant sitemerational modifications at substantial cost.uFeitdevelopments also could restric
eliminate the use of or require us to make modifices to our products, which could have a significaegative impact on our results
operations and cash flows. At any given time, we iavolved in claims, litigation, administrativeqmeedings and investigations of vari
types involving potential environmental liabilitieiscluding cleanup costs associated with hazardeaste disposal sites at our facilities.
cannot assure you that the resolution of theser@mviental matters will not have a material advexféect on our results of operations or ¢
flows. The ultimate costs and timing of environnatniiabilities are difficult to predict. Liabilityunder environmental laws relating
contaminated sites can be imposed retroactivelyoana joint and several basis. We could incur $iggmit costs, including cleanup costs, ¢
or criminal fines and sanctions and third-partyrolg as a result of past or future violations ofli@bilities under, environmental laws.

We could be subiject to third party claims for pmtpe&lamage, personal injury, nuisance or othenasa result of violations of, or liabiliti
under, environmental, health or safety laws in emtion with releases of hazardous or other magedtlany current or former facility. \
could also be subject to environmental indemnifigatlaims in connection with assets and businetssgsve have acquired or divested.

There can be no assurance that any future capitbperating expenditures to maintain compliandé emvironmental laws, as well as cos!
address contamination or environmental claims, moll exceed any current estimates or adverselgtafier financial condition and results
operations. In addition, any unanticipated lialgtor obligations arising, for example, out ofcdigery of previously unknown conditions
changes in laws or regulations, could have an adveffect on our business, financial conditionultef operations or cash flows.

We are dependent upon the continued operation opmduction facilities, which are subject to a noen of hazardsln both of our busine
segments, but especially in the Specialty ChemiSalsment, our production facilities are subjechaaards associated with the manufac
handling, storage and transportation of chemicaknas and products, including leaks and ruptueaplosions, fires, inclement weather
natural disasters, unscheduled downtime and emmieotal hazards which could result in liability faorkplace injuries and fatalities.
addition, some of our production capabilities aighly specialized, which limits our ability to shifroduction to another facility in the even
an incident at a particular facility. If a produartifacility, or a critical portion of a productidacility, were temporarily shut down, we lik
would incur higher costs for alternate sources ugpdy for our products. We cannot assure you thatwill not experience these types
incidents in the future or that these incidentd wilt result in production delays, failure to timéulfill customer orders or otherwise hav
material adverse effect on our business, finardatition or results of operations.

Certain of our employees in the Metals Segmentcaxered by collective bargaining agreements, aredftlilure to renew these agreem
could result in labor disruptions and increaseddalrosts.As of January 3, 2015, we had 162 employees repessdy unions at our Brist
Tennessee and Mineral Ridge, Ohio facilities, whigl85 percent of the aggregate number of Compangl@y/ees. These employees
represented by two local unions affiliated with theited Steelworkers (theSteelworkers Union") and one local union affiliateith the
International Brotherhood of Teamsters (the “TeansstUnion”).The collective bargaining contracts for the Steek&os Unions will expire i
June 2017 and July 2019. The collective bargainomgract for the Teamsters Union will expire in lai2015. The Company does not pla
renew the Teamsters Union agreement in 2015, whfédcts two employees. Although we believe that present labor relations
satisfactory, our failure to renew these agreementseasonable terms as the current agreementeexqild result in labor disruptions ¢
increased labor costs, which could adversely affacfinancial performance.

Our current capital structure includes indebtedneskich is secured by all or substantially all afrcassets and which contains restric
covenants that may prevent us from obtaining adeqwarking capital, making acquisitions or capitadprovements.

Our existing credit facilities contain restrictieevenants that limit our ability to, among otheings, borrow money or guarantee the deb
others, use assets as security in other transactioake investments or other restricted paymenthstributions, change our business or €
into new lines of business, and sell or acquiretassr merge with or into other companies. In aoldljt
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our credit facilities require us to meet finangwtios which could limit our ability to plan for oeact to market conditions or meet extraordi
capital needs and could otherwise restrict ourniiirag activities. Our ability to comply with the \@nants and other terms of our cr
facilities will depend on our future operating perhance. If we fail to comply with such covenantsl derms, we will be in default and

maturity of any then outstanding related debt cdddhccelerated and become immediately due andlgaya addition, in the event of suc
default, our lender may refuse to advance additiumals, demand immediate repayment of our outstanihdebtedness, and elect to forec
on our assets that secure the credit facilities.

There were no events of default under the covenahisur credit facilities at January 3, 2015. Altigh we believe we will remain
compliance with these covenants in the foresedaltlee and that our relationship with our lendestiong, there is no assurance our le
would consent to an amendment or waiver in the tteenoncompliance; or that such consent wouldb®tonditioned upon the receipt (
cash payment, revised principal payout terms, amed interest rates or restrictions in the expansidhe credit facilities for the foreseee
future, or that our lender would not exercise rigtitat would be available to them, including, amatiger things, demanding paymen
outstanding borrowings. In addition, our ability dbtain additional capital or alternative borrowiagangements at reasonable rates mi
adversely affected. All or any of these adversenesvavould further limit our flexibility in plannindor, or reacting to, downturns in ¢
business.

We may need new or additional financing in theritio expand our business or refinance existinglitéddness, and our inability to obt
capital on satisfactory terms or at all may haveamverse impact on our operations and our finanogslults.If we are unable to access cay
on satisfactory terms and conditions, we may noaltle to expand our business or meet our paymemirezments under our existing cre
facilities. Our ability to obtain new or addition@hancing will depend on a variety of factors, masf which are beyond our control. We n
not be able to obtain new or additional financiregduse we may have substantial debt or becauseaywenot have sufficient cash flows
service or repay our existing or future debt. Iditidn, depending on market conditions and ourriial performance, equity financing may
be available on satisfactory terms or at all. If are unable to access capital on satisfactory temdsconditions, this could have an adv
impact on our operations and our financial results.

Our existing property and liability insurance coages contain exclusions and limitations on coverafye have maintained various forms
insurance, including insurance covering claimsteglato our properties and risks associated with @pgrations. From time-tome, ir
connection with renewals of insurance, we have ggpeed additional exclusions and limitations omerage, larger selfisured retentions a
deductibles and higher premiums, primarily from ¢iperations of the Specialty Chemicals Segment Aesult, our existing coverage may
be sufficient to cover any losses we may incur iarthe future our insurance coverage may not colams to the extent that it has in the |
and the costs that we incur to procure insurancg imerease significantly, either of which could kaan adverse effect on our result
operations or cash flows.

We may not be able to make the operational and ymbdhanges necessary to continue to be an eféectimpetitor We must continue

enhance our existing products and to develop antlfaature new products with improved capabilitieider to continue to be an effec
competitor in our business markets. In addition,muest anticipate and respond to changes in indssarydards that affect our products ant
needs of our customers. We also must continue teerimprovements in our productivity in order to mtain our competitive position. Wh
we invest in new technologies, processes or pramtuctpabilities, we face risks related to congtamcdelays, cost ovamns and unanticipat
technical difficulties.

The success of any new or enhanced products wikr on a number of factors, such as technologicalvations, increased manufactul
and material costs, customer acceptance, and tfierpance and quality of the new or enhanced predues we introduce new products
refine existing products, we cannot predict theelef market acceptance or the amount of marketesteese new or enhanced products
achieve. Moreover, we may experience delays inrnttneduction of new or enhanced products. Any maotufring delays or problems with n
or enhanced product launches will adversely affectoperating results. In addition, the introduetaf new products could result in a decrt
in revenues from existing products. Also, we magchenore capital for product development and enlraeog than is available to us, wh
could adversely affect our business, financial @ or results of operations. We sell our produat industries that are affected
technological changes, new product introductiond ehanging industry standards. If we do not respbpddeveloping new products
enhancing existing products on a timely basis, pmaducts will become obsolete over time and ouemneres, cash flows, profitability a
competitive position will suffer.

In addition, if we fail to accurately predict fueicustomer needs and preferences, we may inveatyhigathe development of new or enhan
products that do not result in significant saled evenue. Even if we successfully innovate indaeelopment of new and enhanced prod
we may incur substantial costs in doing so, and mofitability may suffer. Our products must be keprrent to meet the needs of
customers. To remain competitive, we must devel®p and innovative products on an going basis. If we fail to make innovations, or
market does not accept our new or enhanced prqduatsales and results could suffer.
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Our inability to anticipate and respond to chanigemdustry standards and the needs of our cus@neerto utilize changing technologies
responding to those changes, could have a mateiarse effect on our business and our resultperiations.

Our strategy of using acquisitions and disposititm@osition our businesses may not always be ssbge which may have a material adve
impact on our financial results and profitabilitfVe have historically utilized acquisitions and disjions in an effort to strategically posit
our businesses and improve our ability to comp®¥e. plan to continue to do this by seeking specialighes, acquiring busines
complementary to existing strengths and continuallgluating the performance and strategic fit of existing business units. We cons
acquisition, joint ventures and other business doatlon opportunities as well as possible businasis dispositions. From time-ttome,
management holds discussions with management ef athmpanies to explore such opportunities. Assaltethe relative makeup of 1
businesses comprising our Company is subject tagghaAcquisitions, joint ventures and other bussmasmbinations involve various inher
risks, such as: assessing accurately the valungihrs, weaknesses, contingent and other liakiléied potential profitability of acquisition
other transaction candidates; the potential loskegf personnel of an acquired business; signifitemsaction costs that were not identi
during due diligence; our ability to achieve idéet financial and operating synergies anticipatedresult from an acquisition or otl
transaction; and unanticipated changes in busiaess economic conditions affecting an acquisitionotimer transaction. If acquisiti
opportunities are not available or if one or mocguasitions are not successfully integrated into operations, this could have a mate
adverse impact on our financial results and priifits.

The loss of key members of our management teawmiffimulty attracting and retaining experienced b@ical personnel, could reduce ¢
competitiveness and have an adverse effect on wsinéss and results of operatiofte successful implementation of our strategies
handling of other issues integral to our futurecass will depend, in part, on our experienced mamagt team. The loss of key membel
our management team could have an adverse effestiohusiness. Although we have entered into anlempent agreement with Craig
Bram, our President and Chief Executive Officer, Bram may resign from the Company at any time saek employment elsewhere, sut
to certain non-competition restrictions for a gmear period. Additionally, if we cannot retain ot@chnical personnel or attract additic
experienced technical personnel, our ability to peta could be harmed.

Federal, state and local legislative and regulatamiiatives relating to hydraulic fracturing, asell as governmental reviews of such activ
could result in delays or eliminate new wells frbaing started, thus reducing the demand for owerfitass and steel storage tanks and h
walled pipe and tubedydraulic fracturing (“fracking”)is currently an essential and common practice tmaekoil from dense subsurface n
formations and this lower cost extraction method ggnificant driving force behind the surge dfeoiploration and drilling in several locatic
in the United States. However, the Environmentakdution Agency, U.S. Congress and state legigatbiave considered adopting legisle
to provide additional regulations and disclosuregainding this process. In the event that newllegstrictions surrounding the fracki
process are adopted in the areas in which our megstooperate, we may see a dramatic decreasenrePalnd Specialty Fexas' profitabilit
which could have an adverse impact on our finareisuits.

Our results of operations could be adversely affédby goodwill impairmentsAs a result of our acquisitions, we had approxinya$23.:
million of goodwill on our balance sheet as of Jayu3, 2015. Goodwill must be tested at least atyiar impairment, and more frequen
when circumstances indicate likely impairment. Gaifids considered impaired to the extent thatdésrying amount exceeds its implied
value. An impairment of goodwill could have a salngial negative effect on our profitability.

Our results of operations could be adversely affédby intangible asset impairmen#ss a result of our acquisitions, we had approxithy:
$17.0 million of intangible assets on our balankees$ as of January 3, 2015. Intangible assetsracgtized over their estimated useful li
using an accelerated method or straigig-method. Intangibles are reviewed for impairinghen events or changes in circumstances inc
the carrying value of the intangible asset or grofigssets may no longer be recoverable. An impaitnof intangible assets could hay
substantial negative effect on our profitability.

Our allowance for doubtful accounts may not be adde to cover actual losseédn allowance for doubtful accounts in maintained
estimated losses resulting from the inability of eustomers to make required payments and for thspalaims and quality issues. T
allowance may not be adequate to cover actualdpase future provisions for losses could matgriafid adversely affect our operating res
The allowance for doubtful accounts is based oormxperience, as well as an evaluation of thetating receivables and existing econc
conditions. The amount of future losses is susbkpto changes in economic, operating and othesigiforces and conditions, all of which
beyond our control, and these losses may exceedntugstimates. Although management believes tieatiiowance for doubtful account:
adequate to cover current estimated losses, weotamake assurances that we will not further inazets allowance for doubtful accounts
significant increase in the allowance for doub#otounts could adversely affect our earnings.
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We depend on third parties to distribute certainoof products and because we have no control oueh shird parties we are subject
adverse changes in such parties’ operations orrinfgions of service, each of which may have anessly effect on our operationd/e us:
third parties over which we have only limited cahtio distribute certain of our products. Our degeamcy on these third party distributors
increased as our business has grown. Because werr¢hese third parties to provide distributionvéses, any change in our ability to acc
these third party distribution services could hare adverse impact on our revenues and put us atmgatitive disadvantage with ¢
competitors.

Freight costs for products produced in our Palmpemtions restrict our sales area for this faciliThe freight and other distribution costs
products sold from our Palmer facility are extreynblgh. As a result, the market area for these getedis restricted, which limits t
geographic market for Palmer’s tanks and the ghitsignificantly increase revenues derived frates of products from the Palmer facility.

New regulations related t“‘conflict minerals” may force us to incur additional expenses, may noakesupply chain more complex and 1
result in damage to our reputation with customés. August 22, 2012, under the DoHdank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Prote
Act of 2010 (the “Dodd-Frank Act”the SEC adopted new requirements for companiesitigtertain minerals and metals, known as co
minerals, in their products, whether or not thesedpcts are manufactured by third parties. Thegelations require companies to cont
annual due diligence and disclose whether or noh sninerals originate from the Democratic RepublicCongo and adjoining countri
Tungsten and tantalum are designated as conflicerais under the DodBrank Act. These metals are used to varying dedreear welding
materials and are also present in specialty alfogdycts. These new requirements could adversedgiffie sourcing, availability and pricing
minerals used in our products. In addition, we dantur additional costs to comply with the discigsrequirements, including costs relate
determining the source of any of the relevant nalseand metals used in our products. Since ourlgupgin is complex, we may not be abl
sufficiently verify the origins for these mineralad metals used in our products through the digedite procedures that we implement, w
may harm our reputation. In such event, we may false difficulties in satisfying customers who abukquire that all of the components of
products are conflict mineral-free.

Our inability to sufficiently or completely proteour intellectual property rights could adverseljfext our business, prospects, finan
condition and results of operation®ur ability to compete effectively in both of oundiness segments will depend on our ability to ta#i
the proprietary nature of the intellectual proparsed in our businesses. These intellectual prppigtits consist largely of tradgecrets ar
know-how. We rely on a combination of trade secagtd nondisclosure and other contractual agreements amhditsd measures to protect
rights in our intellectual property. We also depembn confidentiality agreements with our officedsrectors, employees, consultants
subcontractors, as well as collaborative partrterspaintain the proprietary nature of our intelledtproperty. These measures may not a
us sufficient or complete protection, and othersy nradependently develop intellectual property s@mito ours, otherwise avoid ¢
confidentiality agreements or produce technologgt twould adversely affect our business, prospdatancial condition and results
operations.

Our internal controls over financial reporting calfail to prevent or detect misstatemenBecause of its inherent limitations, internal cofs
over financial reporting may not prevent or deteisstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatbreffectiveness to future periods
subject to the risk that controls may become inadexibecause of changes in conditions, or thadélgeee of compliance with the policies
procedures may deteriorate. Any failure to maingfiiective internal controls or to timely effectyanecessary improvement in our inte
control and disclosure controls could, among othergs, result in losses from fraud or error, hayam reputation or cause investors to
confidence in our reported financial informatiodl, @ which could have a material adverse effect am financial condition, results
operations and cash flows.

During 2014, a material weakness in internal cdnénger financial reporting was identified relatiig internal controls around busin
combinations. Management is taking steps to renedias material weakness and performed additianalysis and procedures to concl
that the consolidated financial statements incluitethis 2014 Form 1@ fairly present, in all material respects, ourafiicial condition ar
results of operations as of and for the year entiethary 3, 2015. See "Management's Annual Reporin@nnal Control Over Financ
Reporting".

Cyber security risks and cyber incidents could aslely affect our business and disrupt operatid@gber incidents can result from delibe
attacks or unintentional events. These incidentsinelude, but are not limited to, gaining unauthed access to digital systems for purpos:
misappropriating assets or sensitive informatianyupting data, or causing operational disruptibine result of these incidents could inclt
but are not limited to, disrupted operations, naitedd financial data, liability for stolen assetsrdormation, increased cyber security protec
costs, litigation and reputational damage adveraffcting customer or investor confidence.

Loss of key supplier authorizations, lack of pradamxailability, or changes in supplier distributiggrograms could adversely affect our si
and earningsOur business depends on maintaining an immediatalifable supply of various products to meet
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customer demand. Many of our relationships with geyduct suppliers are longstanding, but are teabl by either party. The loss of |
supplier authorizations, or a substantial decréagbe availability of their products, could put asa competitive disadvantage and ha
material adverse effect on our business. Suppbriiaptions could arise from raw material shortageadequate manufacturing capacit
utilization to meet demand, financial problemsgiaflisputes or weather conditions affecting supglieroduction, transportation disruption:
other reasons beyond our control.

In addition, as a master distributor, we face thke of key product suppliers changing their relasibips with distributors generally, or Speci
in particular, in a manner that adversely impacskor example, key suppliers could change thevallg: the prices we must pay for tt
products relative to other distributors or relatteecompeting products; the geographic or proding breadth of distributor authorizatio
supplier purchasing incentive or other support pots; or product purchase or stock expectations.

The purchasing incentives we earn from product Befgpcan be impacted if we reduce our purchaseseBponse to declining custor
demandCertain of our product and raw material supplieasehhistorically offered to their customers andritistors, including us, incentiv
for purchasing their products. In addition to markecustomer accourspecific incentives, certain suppliers pay incesgito the customer
distributor for attaining specific purchase volunaesing the program period. In some cases, in ad@earn incentives, we must achieve yea
overyear growth in purchases with the supplier. Whendbmand for our products declines, we may bevdieg to add inventory to tal
advantage of certain incentive programs, therelgrpi@lly adversely impacting our profitability.

Item 1B Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2 Properties

The Company operates the major plants and fasillisted below, all of which are in adequate caadifor their current usage. All faciliti
throughout the Company are believed to be adegquatslred. The buildings are of various types ohstouction including brick, ste
concrete, concrete block and sheet metal. All lredejuate transportation facilities for both rawemiats and finished products. The Comg.
owns all of these plants and facilities, except waehouse facilities located in Dalton, GA, a pamaf land in Mineral Ridge, OH and 1
corporate offices located in Spartanburg, SC arh@llen, VA.

Location Principal Operations Building Square Feet Land Acres
Bristol, TN Manufacturing stainless steel pipe 275,000 73.1
Fountain Inn, SC Chemical manufacturing and warehousing facilities 136,834 16.9
Cleveland, TN Chemical manufacturing and warehousing facilities 118,000 10.5
Andrews, TX Manufacturing liquid storage solutions and separagiquipment 109,432 19.6
Dalton, GA Warehouse facilitie® 32,000 2.0
Houston, TX Cutting facility and storage yard for heavy walfgge 29,821 10.0
Mineral Ridge, OH Cutting facility and storage yard for heavy walfg@ge 12,000 12.0
Mineral Ridge, OH Storage yard for heavy walled pifye — 4.6
Spartanburg, SC Corporate headquartets 6,840 —
Glen Allen, VA Office space for Corporate employeés 2,869 —
Augusta, GA Chemical manufacturing — 46.0

(1) Leased facility / lant
(2) Plant was closed in 2001 and all structures andufaaturing equipment have been remo

Item 3 Legal Proceedings

For a discussion of legal proceedings, see Notexl5l1 to the Consolidated Financial Statementaded in Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Item 4 Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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PART Il

Item 5 Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

The Company had 567 common shareholders of re¢dviduech 4, 2015. The Company's common stock tradethe NASDAQ Global Mark
under the trading symbol SYNL. The Company's cragieement only restricts the payment of divideghdsugh a minimum tangible net wa
covenant. The Company paid a $0.30 cash dividen®ecember 9, 2014, a $0.26 cash dividend on Deceb2013, and a $0.25 c:
dividend on December 10, 2012. The prices showovbelre the high and low sales prices for the comstiook for each full quarterly peri
in the last two fiscal years as quoted on the NASDBlobal Market.

2014 2013
Quarter High Low High Low
1st $ 15.7¢  $ 1312 $ 14.8¢ $ 12.5:
2nd 16.9¢ 13.8: 16.0( 12.9¢
3rd 18.7¢ 15.8¢ 17.3¢ 14.9¢
4th 18.8¢ 14.67 16.7¢ 13.8(

The information required by Item 201(d) of Regudat5-K is set forth in Part lll, Iltem 12 of this Amal Report on Form 10-K.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN®
Among Svnalloy Corpation, the Russell 2000 Index, and the NASDAQ Non Financial Index
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50 T T T T 1

12/09 12/10 1211 12/12 12/13 12/14

—f— Svnallov Corporation = g = Russcll 20 L) NASDALD Non-Financial

*$100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock on index, idahg reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Source: Russell Investment Group
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Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return Graph

12/09 12/10 12/11 12/12 12/13 12/14
Synalloy Corporation $ 100.0¢ $ 136.2: $ 118.3( $ 167.8¢ $ 183.0¢ $ 213.8¢
Russell 2000 100.0( 126.8¢ 121.5¢ 141.4: 196.3¢ 205.9¢
NASDAQ Non-Financial 100.0( 117.1¢ 119.0: 139.3¢ 196.0¢ 227.3¢

This graph and related information shall not bendeg to be “filed” with the Securities and Exchar@@mmission or “soliciting materialor
subject to Regulation 14A, or the liabilities ofcBen 18 of the 1934 Act, except to the extent @@mpany specifically requests that s
information be treated as soliciting material oeafically incorporates it by reference into arfdi under the Securities Act of 1933 or the 1

Act.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

Pursuant to the compensation arrangement with tdireaiscussed under Item 12 "Security OwnershifCeftain Beneficial Owners a
Management and Related Stockholder Matters" in Foisn 10K, on April 24, 2014, the Company issued an aggeg@h 7,088 shares
restricted stock to noamployee directors in lieu of $111,000 of their @alrcash retainer fees. Issuance of these shaesataegistered unc
the Securities Act of 1933 based on the exemptiowiged by Section 4(2) thereof because no pulffering was involved.

The Company also issued 7,434 shares of commoR 8102014 to management and key employees thaedgsirsuant to the 2005 St
Awards Plan. Issuance of these shares was notesgfisunder the Securities Act of 1933 based orexenption provided by Section 4

thereof because no public offering was involved.

Neither the Company, nor any affiliated purchassrdefined in Rule 1(-18(a)(3) of the 1934 Act) on behalf of the Compasyurchased ai
of the Company's securities during the fourth cgrast 2014.
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Item 6 Selected Financial Data

Selected Financial Data and Other Financial Inform&on
(Dollar amounts in thousands except for per shata)d

2014® 2013 2012 2011 2010
Operations ®
Net sales $ 199,50 $ 196,75 $ 166,16: 139,08! $ 111,19
Gross profit 32,92¢ 19,79¢ 19,73: 14,30¢ 7,01¢
Selling, general & administrative expense 16,58¢ 16,03« 12,40¢ 10,58 7,941
Operating income (loss) 16,34: 3,76¢ 7,32¢ 3,72¢ (927)
Net income (loss) - continuing operations 12,61¢ 2,89¢ 3,98¢ 2,48¢ (572
Net (loss) income - discontinued operations (7,157%) (1,13%) 252 3,31( 4,60¢
Net income 5,46: 1,761 4,23¢ 5,79 4,03«
Financial Position
Total assets 187,84¢ 163,26( 148,50° 98,91¢ 81,37t
Working capital 64,58( 74,98¢ 65,91¢ 56,34« 43,23:
Long-term debt, less current portion 27,25¢ 20,90¢ 37,59: 8,65( 21¢
Shareholders' equity 109,45: 106,09t 71,77¢ 68,61¢ 63,87¢
Financial Ratios
Current ratio 2.6:1 4.0:1 3.6:1 4.1:1 4.0:1
Gross profit to net salé’ 17% 10% 12% 10% 6%
Long-term debt to capital 20% 16% 34% 11% 0%
Return on average asséts 7% 2% 3% 3% 0%
Return on average equity 12% 3% 6% 4% 0%
Per Share Data (income/(loss) — diluted)
Net income (loss) - continuing operatidhs $ 148 $ 04z % 0.62 03¢ % (0.09
Net (loss) income - discontinued operatiéhs (0.82) (0.1¢) 0.04 0.52 0.7:
Net income 0.6% 0.2t 0.6¢€ 0.91 0.64
Dividends declared and paid 0.3C 0.2¢ 0.2t 0.2t 0.5C
Book value 12.57 12.21 11.2¢ 10.8¢ 10.1¢
Other Data
Depreciation and amortizatiéh $ 5191 % 4,67 % 2,962 2,22t % 2,28
Capital expenditure® 8,06¢ 5,64¢ 4,54; 3,16: 2,191
Employees at year end 464 67C 597 441 441
Shareholders of record at year end 57¢ 61¢ 66¢ 687 704
Average shares outstanding - diluted 8,71t 6,941 6,39/ 6,362 6,30¢
Stock Price
Price range of common stock
High $ 188 % 17.3¢  $ 14.9i 155 $ 12.2¢
Low 13.1¢ 12.5: 10.21 9.1¢ 7.47
Close 17.67 15.5: 13.4¢ 10.27 12.17

(a) 2014 represents a 53 week year.

(b) Information in the section or line has beerstaed to reflect continuing operations only.
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Item 7 Management's Discussion and Analysis of Fimezial Condition and Results of Operations
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiahdtion and Results of Operations discusses thep@oy's consolidated financ
statements, which have been prepared in accordaitbeaccounting principles generally accepted ie thnited States of America. T
preparation of these financial statements requiresagement to make estimates and assumptionsffibetttae reported amounts of assets
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assetd liabilities at the date of the financial stagmts and the reported amounts of revenue
expenses during the reporting period. On amoing basis, management evaluates its estimatefudgthents based on historical experie
and on various other factors that are believedetoelasonable under the circumstances, the reguwitisich form the basis for making judgme
about the carrying value of assets and liabilitiest are not readily apparent from other sourcesud@l results may differ from these estim
under different assumptions or conditions. Managenielieves the following critical accounting padis, among others, affect its m
significant judgments and estimates used in thpgsetion of the Company's consolidated financetieshents.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintained allowances for doubtful ant® of approximately $1,115,000 as of January0352 for estimated losses result
from the inability of its customers to make reqdiayments and for disputed claims and qualitydssiihe allowance is based upon a re
of outstanding receivables, historical collectiarformation and existing economic conditions. ThemPany performs periodic cre
evaluations of its customers' financial conditiord ayenerally does not require collateral. Recerslalre generally due within 30 to 60 d
Delinquent receivables are written off based onviddal credit evaluations and specific circumsesof the customer.

Inventory Reserves

The Company establishes a reserve for estimatenleitbsor unmarketable inventory in an amount etidhe difference between the cos
inventory and the estimated market value based @ssnmptions about future demand and current madkaditions. Based on histori
results, the Company also maintains an inventosgrie to provide for the amount of estimated inegntjuantity loss since the last phys
inventory. As of January 3, 2015 , the Company dggsroximately $4,866,008ccrued for the various inventory reserves. If alctnarke
conditions are less favorable than those estimageadanagement, additional inventory reserves magteired.

Environmental Reserves

As noted in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financialte&8hents included in Item 8 of this Form 10-K, @@mpany has accrued $576,089 o
January 3, 2015in environmental remediation costs which, in ngement's best estimate, are sufficient to satisfici@ated costs of knov
remediation requirements as explained in Note fpeBgitures related to costs currently accrued ataliscounted to their present values
are expected to be made over the next three toyfears. However, as a result of the evolving natirthe environmental regulations,
difficulty in estimating the extent and necessamediation of environmental contamination, andabailability and application of technoloy
the estimated costs for future environmental coamgié and remediation are subject to uncertaintidstds not possible to predict the amc
or timing of future costs of environmental mattesfsich may subsequently be determined. Changedamiation known to management o
applicable regulations may require the Companytord additional remediation reserves.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company continually reviews the recoverabitifythe carrying value of long-lived assets. Ldivgd assets are reviewed for impairrm
when events or changes in circumstances, alsaedféy as "triggering events”, indicate that theyéag value of a londived asset or group
assets (the "Assets") may no longer be recoverdbiiggering events include: a significant declimethe market price of the Assets
significant adverse change in the operating ugehgsical condition of the Assets; a significant@de change in legal factors or in the busi
climate impacting the Assets' value, including tatary issues such as environmental actions; tmergdion by the Assets of historical c
flow losses combined with projected future casiwflosses; or the expectation that the Assets wilkdld or disposed of significantly before
end of the useful life of the Assets. The Compaongctuded that there were no indications of impairtrequiring further testing during 1
year endedJanuary 3, 2015 .

If the Company concluded that, based on its revaéwurrent facts and circumstances, there werecatiins of impairment, testing of 1
applicable Assets would be performed. The recovigsabf the Assets to be held and used is teste@dmparing the carrying amount of
Assets at the date of the test to the sum of tlima&t®d future undiscounted cash flows expectedet@enerated by those Assets ove
remaining useful life of the Assets. In estimatihg future undiscounted cash flows, the Compang psejections of cash flows direc
associated with, and which are expected to arisedaect result of, the use and
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eventual disposition of the Assets. This approa&gjuires significant judgments including the Compspyojected net cash flows, which
derived using the most recent available estimatetfe reporting unit containing the Assets testeelveral key assumptions would incl
periods of operation, projections of product prgirproduction levels, product costs, market supghgl demand, and inflation. If it
determined that the carrying amount of the Assetsat recoverable, an impairment loss would beutaled equal to the excess of the cart
amount of the Assets over their fair value. Asstdssified as held for sale, if any, would be rélear at the lower of their carrying amoun
fair value less cost to sell. Assets to be dispasedher than by sale, if any, would be classifischeld and used until the Assets are dispos
use has ceased.

Business Combinations

Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisitimethod of accounting for business combinationadoordance with generally accef
accounting principles in the United States of AmrariUnder this method, the total considerationsfiemed to consummate the acquisitic
allocated to the identifiable tangible and intamgiassets acquired and liabilities assumed basddeinrespective fair values as of the clo
date of the acquisition. The acquisition methodiofounting requires extensive use of estimatesjuginents to allocate the considera
transferred to the identifiable tangible and infhtegassets, if any, acquired and liabilities assdm

Goodwill

The Company has goodwill of approximately $1,358,08corded as part of its 1996 acquisition of M@emting within the Special
Chemicals Segment, approximately $15,898,000 recbeds part of its 2012 acquisition of Palmer angragmately $5,997,000 recorded
part of its 2014 acquisition of Specialty, both gimg within the Metals Segment. Goodwill, whigpresents the excess of purchase price
fair value of net assets acquired, is tested fgainment at least on an annual basis. The initeg sf the goodwill impairment test involve
comparison of the fair value of the reporting unitvhich the goodwill is recorded, with its carrgimmount. If the reporting unit's fair va
exceeds its carrying value, no impairment lose@ognized and the second step, which is a caloaolati the impairment, is not perform
However, if the reporting unit's carrying value e&ds its fair value, an impairment charge equdhéodifference in the carrying value of
goodwill and the implied fair value of the goodwslrecorded. Implied fair value of goodwill is dathined in the same manner as the an
of goodwill recognized in a business combinatiohafTis, the fair value of the reporting unit isoatited to the assets and liabilities of
reporting unit as if it had been acquired in a bess combination. The excess of the fair valub®feporting unit over the amounts allocate
assets and liabilities is the implied fair valuegobdwill.

In making our determination of fair value of theoeting unit, we rely on the discounted cash flowtinod. This method uses projection
cash flows from the reporting unit. This approaeuires significant judgments including the Compsupyojected net cash flows, the weigl
average cost of capital ("WACC") used to discoum tash flows and terminal value assumptions. Wivel¢hese assumptions used in
testing from several sources. Many of these assangpare derived from our internal budgets, whichuld include existing sales data base
current product lines and assumed production levaenufacturing costs and product pricing. We Ieli¢ghat our internal forecasts

consistent with those that would be used by a piaidouyer in valuing our reporting units.

The WACC rate is based on an average of the cagiitatture, cost of capital and inherent businéss profiles of the Company. T
assumptions used in the valuation are interrelaiéd continuing degree of interrelationship of thessumptions is, in and of itsell
significant assumption. Because of the interretesidps among the assumptions, we do not belieweoitld be meaningful to provide
sensitivity analysis on any of the individual asgtions. However, one key assumption in our valuatitodel is the WACC. If the WAC
which is used to discount the projected cash flomesr,e higher, the measure of the fair value of ribe assets of the reporting unit wc
decrease. Conversely, if the WACC were lower, tleasare of the fair value of the net assets ofdperting unit would increase. Change
any of the Company's other estimates could alse hawaterial effect on the estimated future undisted cash flows expected to be genel
by the reporting unit's assets.

Based on the Company's goodwill impairment teghan fourth quarter of 2014, each reporting uniis Yalue exceeded its carrying va
therefore no further testing was required and ngainment loss was recognized.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash flows provided by continuing operating adigtduring 2014 and 2013 totaled $28,104,000 arfgd0$® respectively, an improvemen
cash flows of $28,067,000. Cash flows in 2014 wgemerated from net income from continuing operatitotaling $12,619,000 af
depreciation and amortization expense of $5,191d@Dthe one-time gain on the Palmer eauhliability of $3,476,000. Since the Comp.
acquired Specialty on November 21, 2014, cash fl@sslting from changes in operating assets amidlitias cannot be determined simply
subtracting 2014 balance sheet amounts from 20lL@saThe net value of all assets and liabilitieguired are shown in the "Acquisition
Specialty Pipe & Tube, Inc." line in the investiagtivities section of the Consolidated StatemehtSash Flows. Accordingly, these individ
acquired balances represent
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beginning balances for Specialty for cash flow pggs. Accounts payable favorably affected cashsflom continuing operations
$7,821,000 in 2014 as there were significant inmgnpurchases in the fourth quarter of 2014 inNtetals Segment which increased the -
yearend accounts payable balance combined with the @omexperiencing an expansion in the number ofattsopayable days outstandi
Accrued expenses generated $3,996,000 cash frotimgimiy operations resulting from increases inenagement incentive bonus, uncel
tax positions and current portion of the pensiability related to the closing of Bristol Fab. Theisicreases were partially offset by lo
customer advances at the end of 2014 when compatbd end of 2013.

Cash flows provided by continuing operating adatduring 2013 totaled $37,000 while cash flowsdus continuing operating activiti
during 2012 totaled $776,000, an increase in chshsfof $813,000. Cash flows in 2013 were generatech net income from continuil
operations totaling $2,898,000 after depreciatiod amortization expense of $4,672,000 and thetiome-bargain purchase gain on
purchase of CRI Tolling of $1,077,000, net of defdrincome taxes. Since the Company completeddsisition of CRI on August 26, 20:
cash flows resulting from changes in operating tasard liabilities cannot be determined simply bjptsacting 2013 balance sheet amo
from 2012 values. All acquired CRI balances repre®eginning balances for cash flow purposes. Glasts were adversely affected b
$2,490,000 increase in net inventories in 2013.s&utiially all of the increase occurred in the Niet8egment as special alloy invent
increased in support of the current special allagkipg. Operating cash flows were unfavorably aéddy lower accrued expenses at the
of 2013 compared to the end of 2012 of $2,316,88(Qrofit based incentives decreased $1,876,00&:tiey lower 2013 profits, the major
of the income and sales/use tax liability assodiatéh the Palmer acquisition was used in 2013 arctued interest decreased as the i
credit was paid off during the fourth quarter of.30

In 2014, the Company's current assets from comtgnoperations, which excludes assets and lialsilhield for sale, increased $14,252,000
current liabilities increased $17,429,000, from year ended 2013 amounts, which caused workindgatdmm continuing operations for 2C
to decrease by $3,177,000 to $64,580,000 from €163 2otal of $67,757,000. The current ratio for tawring operations for the year en
January 3, 2015, decreased to 2.6:1 from the 26aB8gnd ratio of 3.9:1.

On November 21, 2014the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agmtewith Davidson to purchase all of the issued antstandin
stock of Specialty. Established in 1964 with disition centers in Mineral Ridge, Ohio and Housfbexas, Specialty is a master distributc
seamless carbon pipe and tube, with a focus onyheall, large diameter products. The Company vighes Specialty acquisition as
excellent complement to the product offerings & ltetals Segment with similar end markets and sbteisi profit margins. Specialty's res
of operations since the acquisition date are redten the Company's consolidated statements aitipas, and the Specialty acquisition ac
approximately 30 employees at January 3, 2015.

The purchase price for the all-cash acquisition aggroximately $31,500,000 , subject to workingiea@adjustments postlosing. Davidso
has the potential to receive earn-out paymentougp tbtal of $5,000,000 if Specialty achieves ttrdesales revenue over a twear perio
following closing. The financial results for Spdtyaare reported as a part of the Company's M&atgment.

The Company also used cash during 2014 for invgsdictivities to fund capital expenditures of $8,88®. Included in this amount
approximately $3,953,000 for the planned CRI exmansFinancing activities during 2014 generated3$8,000 as a result of the additic
borrowings associated with the Specialty acquisipartially offset by a fourth quarter 2014 dividgmayment of $2,633,000.

In connection with the Palmer acquisition discusisedote 16 to the Consolidated Financial States@mtluded in Item 8 of this Form 10-
on August 21, 2012, the Company modified its Créditeement with its regional bank to increase thit lof the credit facility by $5,000,0(
to a maximum of $25,000,000, and extended the ritatete to August 21, 2015. On October 22, 20b8,Eompany modified this agreerr
to increase the limit by an additional $5,000,00@& tmaximum of $30,000,000. This increase wasfecefor one year and the maximum |
of credit reverted back to $25,000,000 on Octol2r2D13. None of the other provisions of the Crédjteement were changed as a rest
this modification. This Credit Agreement modifieatialso provided for a teyear term loan in the amount of $22,500,000 thatires equi
monthly payments of $187,500 plus interest. In gogfion with this term loan, to mitigate the vaiiép of the interest rate risk, the Comp:
entered into an interest rate swap contract (tl@ni€r swap") on August 21, 2012 with its currentlbarhe Palmer swap is for an ini
notional amount of $22,500,000 with a fixed intémede of 3.74 percent, and runs for ten yearsiriexpon August 21, 2022, which equate
the date of the term loan. The notional amounhefRalmer swap decreases as monthly principal patgraee made.

In connection with the CRI acquisition discussed\Nte 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statemertisided in Item 8 of this Form 1K; on
August 9, 2013, the Company modified the Credite®gnent to fund this transaction. The Credit Agregmeodification provided for a ne
tenyear term loan in the amount of $4,033,000, witmthly principal payments customized to accounttfier 20 year amortization of the r
estate assets combined with ge&r amortization of the equipment assets purchdeeconjunction with the new term loan, to mitigahe
variability of interest rate risk, the Company eatkinto an interest rate swap contract (the "GRI®) on September 3, 2013. The CRI swi
for an initial notional amount of $4,033,250 witlixed

20




interest rate of 4.83% and runs for ten years tgusti 19, 2023, which equates to the due date dktine loan. The notional amount of the (
swap decreases as monthly principal payments atde.ma

In connection with the Specialty acquisition on Ember 21, 2014 discussed in Note 16 to the CoraelidFinancial Statements include
Item 8 of this Form 1@, the Credit Agreement was again modified to iaseethe limit of the credit facility to $40,000,080d extend tt
maturity date to November 21, 2017. The Credit &gient modification provided for a new fiyear term loan of $10,000,000 that requ
equal monthly payments of $166,667 plus interesérest on the Credit Agreement is calculated ugiagOne Month LIBOR (as defined in
Credit Agreement), plus a pdefined spread, based on the Company's Total Fubddd to EBITDA ratio (as defined in the Cre
Agreement). Borrowings under the line of credit Bimd@ted to an amount equal to a borrowing baseuwation that includes eligible accou
receivable, inventories and other non-capital asset

Although the swap agreements obtained for the Ralmmel CRI acquisitions are expected to effectiveffset variable interest in t
borrowings, hedge accounting will not be utiliz8therefore, changes in its fair value are being né® in current assets or liabilities,
appropriate, with corresponding offsetting entte@esther income (expense).

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Company wasired to pledge all of its tangible and intangiptoperties. Covenants under the C
Agreement include maintaining a certain Total Fuh@bt to EBITDA ratio (as defined in the CreditrAgment), a minimum tangible
worth, and total liabilities to tangible net worttio. The Company will also be limited to a maximamount of capital expenditures per y
which is in line with the Company's currently prjed needs. At January 3, 2015 , the Company wesnipliance with all debt covenants.

Results of Operations
Comparison of 2014 to 2013 - Consolidated

For the fiscal year ending January 3, 2015, the @@y generated net earnings from continuing opmratof $12,619,000, or $1.45 per sh
on sales from continuing operations of $199,505,@0tnpared to net earnings from continuing openatiof $2,898,000, or $0.42 per share
sales from continuing operations of $196,751,00C¢hie prior year. The Company generated net earniraye continuing operations

$1,409,000, or $0.16 per share, on sales of $4&869n the fourth quarter of 2014, compared to loss from continuing operations
$1,097,000, or $0.13 loss per share, on sales ¢mrttinuing operations of $46,402,000 in the fouptiarter of 2013.

Consolidated gross profit from continuing operasiamcreased 66 percent to $32,929,000 in 2014, acedpto $19,798,000 in 2013, and,
percent of sales, increased to 17 percent of 2814 compared to ten percent of sales in 20@Bthe fourth quarter of 2014, consolide
gross profit from continuing operations was $8,200, an increase of 198 percent from the fourthtquaf 2013 of $2,770,000. Consolide
gross profit from continuing operations was 17 patof sales for the fourth quarter of 2014 andp&scent of sales for same period of 2
The increases in dollars and in percentage of sedes attributable to the Metals Segment as digcussthe Metals Segment Compariso
2014 to 2013 below. Consolidated selling, genenal administrative expense from continuing operatitor 2014 increased by $554,00(
$16,588,000 compared to $16,034,000 for 2013, amsl eight percent of sales for both 2014 and 20h8s@ costs increased $303,000 du
the fourth quarter of 2014 compared to the sammgeaf 2013 and was nine percent of sales for lobtie fourth quarters of 2014 and 2(
The dollar increase for both the year and fourtartpr of 2014 when compared to the same period0d8 resulted primarily from higt
incentive based bonuses and sales commissiony dfslet by lower travel, professional fees and dimation expense. In addition, 1
Company incurred $302,000 for one-time acquisitamsts associated with the Specialty acquisitior2@i4 and $264,000 of origne
acquisition costs associated with the CRI acquoisith 2013. These costs were $305,000 and $61@0bé fourth quarters of 2014 and 2(
respectively. All of these items will be discussedreater detail in the respective sections below.

Comparison of 2013 to 2012 - Consolidated

For the fiscal year ending December 28, 2013, thmany generated net earnings from continuing épesaof $2,898,000, or $0.42 |
share, on sales from continuing operations of KOO0, compared to net earnings from continuipgrations of $3,983,000, or $0.62
share, on sales from continuing operations of $IBBP00 in the prior year. The Company generatedtdoss from continuing operations
$1,097,000, or $0.13 loss per share, on sales éamtinuing operations of $46,402,000 in the fouytiarter of 2013, compared to net earn
from continuing operations of $868,000, or $0.1Aglw@re, on sales from continuing operations of #5000 in the fourth quarter of 2012.

Consolidated gross profit from continuing operasidar 2013 was $19,798,000 compared to $19,733/0@012, and, as a percent of s¢
decreased to ten percent of sales in 2013 comparweelve percent of sales in 2012. For the fogularter of 2013, consolidated gross p
from continuing operations was $2,770,000, or srcpnt of sales, compared to a profit from contigubperations of $5,224,000, or ele
percent of sales, for the fourth quarter of 2012 Tecreases in dollars and in
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percentage of sales were attributable to the MéBsagment as discussed in the Metals Segment Cosopadf 2013 to 2012 belo
Consolidated selling, general and administrativeeese for 2013 increased by $3,625,000 to $16,084@mpared to $12,409,000 for 2(
and was eight percent of sales for 2013 and 2042the fourth quarter, these costs increased by $08 to $4,177,000, or nine percen
sales, for 2013 compared to 3,443,000, or eighagperof sales, for 2012. Since Palmer was acquiirdate-August of 2012, only a portion
their selling, general and administrative expense® included in the prior year. This accounteddioproximately $2,081,000 of the incree
costs in 2013. The remainder of the increased dost2013 when compared to 2012 resulted from #eipt of the final installment ol
dumping penalty in 2012, increased sales commisstuigher legal costs associated with the illegahping case initiated in 2013 and hig
corporate travel and professional fees associatddtiae Palmer acquisition. These costs were phrisdfset by lower incentivédsased bont
expense.

Metals Segment —The following table summarizes operating resultsrfrcontinuing operations and backlogs for the ttyears indicate:
Reference should be made to Note 13 to the Cordetid-inancial Statements included in Item 8 of Borm 10-K.

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %

Net sales $ 134,30« 100.(% $ 140,23 100.(% $ 114,78t 100.(%
Cost of goods sold 112,48t 83.8% 130,16t 92.8% 103,29! 90.(%
Gross profit 21,81¢ 16.2% 10,067 7.2% 11,49: 10.(%
Selling, general and administrative expense 8,301 6.2% 8,80¢ 6.2% 5,83: 5.1%
Operating income $ 13,51: 10.1% $ 1,26: 0.9% $ 5,66( 4.9%
Year-end backlog - Storage tanks $ 12,22¢ $ 11,47 not availabl

Comparison of 2014 to 2013 — Metals Segment

The Metals Segment sales from continuing operatitetseased four percent for 2014 as compared t8 and sales for the fourth quarte
2014 totaled $32,212,000, an increase of two péroeer 2013 results. The following factors resultedhe decreased sales in 2014.
Bechtel nuclear pipe project was completed earthénfourth quarter of 2013 combined with a shdirifastorage tank sales in 2014, mainl
the fourth quarter due to severe winter weathéWest Texas which prevented the delivery and iretiath of several tank batteries. Also, tt
were fewer salt water disposal projects for ouragje tank facility in 2014. Gross profit from canting operations for 2014 increased
percent to $21,818,000, or 16 percent of salespaoed to 2013's yeand total of $10,067,000, or seven percent of s&lasthe fourth quart
of 2014, gross profit from continuing operationssvi#®,620,000, or 17 percent of sales, comparedogsgrofit from continuing operations
the fourth quarter of 2013 of $181,000, or one eet®f sales. The Segment experienced operatimgmiadrom continuing operations
$13,511,000 and $2,511,000 for the year and fayuidtrter of 2014, respectively, compared to opegaticome of $1,263,000 and an opere
loss of $1,885,000, respectively, for same perafd2013.

Operating income from continuing operations for #mtire year and fourth quarter of 2014 when comgbdo the same periods of 2013
impacted by the following six factors:

a) The Companyvide cost cutting initiatives implemented in Jarya014 had a favorable effect on profitability 2014 with thi
average cost per pound produced decreasing sevegnpe

b) Six weeks of Specialty's operating income was ihetlin the fourth quarter of 20:

c) As mentioned earlier, the severe winter weaihat/est Texas resulted in several lost shippingsdaspecially at yeand. Thi
weather also slowed drill site development, causigeral customers to delay their shipments.

d) As mentioned above, BRISMET's product mix changegdificantly in 2014. New sales pricing tools haakowed the sale
department to focus on profitable sales quotesendgkreasing emphasis on the lower margin business.

e) Sales and operating income for 2013 were signifigaffected by the low margin Bechtel nuclear prij which was complet
in 2013. The facility successfully converted thifbe to higher margin products in 2014.

f) As a result of fluctuations in nickel prices, then@pany experienced inventory losses of approxim&#®18,000 and $228,000
the year and fourth quarter of 2014, respectivebmpared to inventory losses of approximately $3,880 and $719,0C
respectively, for the same periods of 2013.

Selling, general and administrative expense frontinaing operations decreased $497,000, or sixgmétia 2014 when compared to 2013.
expense category was six percent of sales for petiods. The decrease resulted from higher legad fssociated with the illegal dumg
lawsuit in 2013, less travel and lower amortizatompense partially offset by higher performancesddsonus costs in 2014.
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On November 21, 2014, the Company entered intooekSPurchase Agreement with Davidson to purchasefdhe issued and outstand
stock of Specialty. Established in 1964 with disition centers in Mineral Ridge, Ohio and Housfbexas, Specialty is a master distributc
seamless carbon pipe and tube, with a focus onyhe@, large diameter products. The purchase pfizethe allcash acquisition wi
$31,500,000, subject to working capital adjustmerast-closing. Davidson has the potential to rezedarneut payments up to a total
$5,000,000 if Specialty achieves targeted salesma over a twgear period following closing. The purchase prioe the acquisition wi
funded through a combination of cash on hand, a teem loan with the Company's bank and an incréashe Company's current cre
facility. The financial results for Specialty aeported as a part of the Company's Metals Segment.

On August 29, 2014, the Company completed thecfaddl of the issued and outstanding membershigra@sts of its wholly owned subsidie
Ram+ab to a subsidiary of Primoris Services Corponatibthe transaction was valued at less than $1Gomjllvhich consideration includ
cash at closing, Synalloy's ability to receive ptitd future earn-out payment(s) and the retentbispecified Ranfab current assets. 1
Company realized a ortene charge in the third quarter of 2014 of $1,996, for costs associated with the closure plus4y $®0 charge
write off the Company's investment in Ram-Fab. Ehasarges, along with all non-recurring expensesaated with Ranf-ab are included
the respective consolidated financial statementisg®ntinued operations. Ram-Fab was reportedoastaf the Metals Segment.

On June 27, 2014, the Company completed the plaolosdre of Bristol Fab. Bristol Fab's collectivarpaining agreement with the Un
expired on February 15, 2014. After lengthy nedities with the Union, Bristol Fab was unable toclean agreement. Also, upon closur
the operation, the Company was legally obligatedayp a withdrawal liability to the Union's pensifumd of over $1.9 million. The Compa
realized a onéime charge in the second quarter of 2014 of $6(@&Bfor costs associated with the closure of BriBab. These costs, alc
with all nonyecurring expenses associated with Bristol Fab,irmteided in the respective consolidated finanstatements as discontint
operations.

Comparison of 2013 to 2012 — Metals Segment

Sales from continuing operations for 2013 were $3®,000, up 22 percent from last year's result$1df4,788,000. The Metals Segn
experienced operating income from continuing openatof $1,263,000 for 2013 compared to $5,660@0®012. Excluding Palmer's sg
results, sales from continuing operations for thetdls Segment for 2013 would have been five peroigter than the same period of 2(
Sales from continuing operations during the fougtiarter of 2013 totaled $31,514,000, a decreadeuwfpercent from $32,704,000 for
same quarter last year. The Metals Segment hacparating loss from continuing operations of $1,888, for the fourth quarter of 20
compared to operating income of $1,608,000 forfteth quarter of 2012. The Company purchased Hd0emt of the issued and outstan:
stock of Palmer on August 21, 2012. Excluding Pakrgales results, sales for the fourth quarteB2@duld have been three percent lower
the prior year. Shipments of carbon steel pipe @asal with the Bechtel nuclear project droppeahigicantly in the fourth quarter of 2013
the project was completed. Shipments of stainléssl pipe in the fourth quarter of 2013 continuedbe constrained as distributors
maintaining lean inventory levels going into 208pecial alloy inquiries, bookings and backlog remadistrong in the fourth quarter of 2!
and we have seen increased shipments in January.

Operating income from continuing operations, whigtreased $4,397,000 and $3,493,000 for the eywime and fourth quarter of 20.
respectively, when compared to the same perio@9b2, was impacted by the following factors:

a) Palmer was acquired August 21, 2012. Its fourthrtgunaand full year results were included in the 20etals Segment rest
while only 19 weeks of Palmer's results were inetlidn the prior year. Fourth quarter 2013 operatim@me was adverse
affected by a more prevalent holiday shutdown it30rhere were approximately $700,000 of finishaks that could not |
shipped to the customers' work sites in Decemb&B2UThe unit also incurred warranty repairs of agpnately $200,000 in tt
fourth quarter of 2013. Additionally, fourth quart2013 sales and profitability were affected byesslfavorable product mix
smaller fiberglass and steel tanks were produchd.facility was nearing emission limits for thediblass shop which resultec
the production of smaller, lower priced, and lessfitable tanks.

b) Associated with the acquisition of Palmer, an igthle asset of $9,000,000 was recorded for theooust base acquired by
Company. This asset is amortized on an accelebatsid which resulted in an amortization chargelgb$0,000 for the entire ye
and $382,000 for the fourth quarter of 2013 comgace$540,000 of amortization for both the entieayand fourth quarter
2012.

c) Pricing and margins at BRISMET during the firstaenimonths of the year were negatively impacted bgigm imports. Stainle
steel pipe imports from Malaysia, Vietnam and Témadl entered the country at significantly reduceidest This factor force
BRISMET to reduce prices accordingly to retain nearkhare. On May 16, 2013, BRISMET, along with savether domest
manufacturers of stainless steel pipe, filed ardantping petition with the U.S. Department of Comoge("Commerce") and t
U.S. International Trade Commission ("USITC") allegythat
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welded stainless steel pipe imported from Malaygiatham and Thailand was being dumped in the dr8t&ates market. On Ju
28, 2013, the USITC determined there was a reasoiratication that a U.S. industry was materiafijured by reason of impo
from these three countries. All six commissionefg¢he USITC hearing the petition voted in favor tbe petitioners in tt
affirmative.

On December 31, 2013, Commerce announced its afiven preliminary determinations. Commerce deteedithat welde
stainless pressure pipe from Malaysia, Thailand ¥mednam has been sold in the United States at édmpargins and w
instruct U.S. Customs and Border Protection to iregqeash deposits based on the preliminary ratesleded from the date of t
preliminary ruling forward. In the case of Malaydiaey also imposed the effective date of the prielary rates to be 90 days p!
to the publication of the determination in the Fati®eqgister. Price increases were implementedcebgral domestic producers
late August and early September of 2013.

d) Profits at BRISMET were negatively impacted for tbarth quarter of 2013 by significant third pagyntract services associa
with the Bechtel project, and an unfavorable saleswhich was heavily weighted toward less thanristh diameter pipe that
very low to negative gross margins. Labor costsevadso above targeted levels for the quarter aw@re slow to bring staffir
back to pre-Bechtel levels.

e) Relatively stable nickel prices during the lasff ladl2013 resulted in lower inventory losses in 20Bor 2013 and 2012, inventi
losses were approximately $3,103,000 and $4,645,685pectively. For the fourth quarter of 2013, entory losses we
approximately $581,000 compared to an inventorg tfsapproximately $1,150,000 in the fourth quaoe?2012.

f) Throughout the Metals Segment, production manpomes higher than optimal operating levels. In latec@mber and ea
January 2014, personnel reductions were implemextsass all three business units.

Selling, general and administrative expense fromtinaing operations increased $2,958,000, or 5tquerin 2013 when compared to 2(
This expense category was six percent of sale3@B8 compared to five percent of sales for 2012 ifcrease mainly resulted from
inclusion of Palmer expenses for the entire yea20df3 compared to a portion of 2012, receivingfihal installment of a dumping penalty
2012 and higher legal costs associated with thgalldumping case initiated in 2013 partially dffsg lower incentive-based bonus expense.

Specialty Chemicals Segment Fhe following tables summarize operating resultstie three years indicated. Reference should o rma
Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statemermisided in Item 8 of this Form -K.

2014 2013 2012
(Amounts in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %
Net sales $ 65,20! 100.(% $ 56,51¢ 100.(% $ 51,37« 100.(%
Cost of goods sold 54,08¢ 83.(% 46,78¢ 82.8% 43,13¢ 84.(%
Gross profit 11,11 17.(% 9,73z 17.2% 8,24( 16.(%
Selling, general and administrative expense 4,98: 7.€% 3,98¢ 7.1% 3,391 6.€%
Operating income $ 6,13( 9.4% $ 5,74: 10.1% $ 4,84: 9.4%

Comparison of 2014 to 2013 — Specialty Chemicalsd@eent

Sales for the Specialty Chemicals Segment incred$egercent for 2014, ending the year at $65,2@L 60mpared to $56,518,000
2013. Pounds shipped for the year were 25 perdghehthan the prior year. For the fourth quarteP@14, sales were $16,357,000, up
percent from 2013's fourth quarter sales of $14@BR Pounds shipped for the fourth quarter wemeptrcent higher than the same peric
the prior year. The fourth quarter and annual sale®ases resulted mainly from the addition of mestomers at both facilities, but especi
at CRI Tolling. Overall selling prices decreaseghgeipercent and four percent for the year and fogaarter of 2014 when compared to
same periods of the prior year due to lower cost maaterial that is reflected in the selling prig@sMC and generally lower average sel
prices at CRI Tolling resulting from a higher contation of customer supplied raw materials. Gymssit for the year was $11,112,000, ug
percent from the prior year amount of $9,732,008.apercent of sales, 2014 and 2013 gross profi Wweth 17 percent of sales. The fo
quarter showed gross profit of $2,627,000, or 16em of sales, and $2,588,000, or 17 percentle§stor 2014 and 2013, respectively. G
profit increased for the year and fourth quarteaassult of higher sales levels in 2014 plus tfedusion of CRI Tolling for the entire year
2014. Operating income for the year increased speecent from the prior year. Operating income20i4 was $6,130,000, or nine percer
sales, while 2013 recorded $5,743,000, or ten peafesales. The segment showed operating incorf& 368,000,
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or eight percent of sales, for the fourth quarfe2@l4. The fourth quarter of 2013 reported opegaincome of $1,277,000, or nine percer
sales.

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&993,000 or 25 percent in 2014 when compar@®18, and increased to eight percel
sales in 2014 compared to seven percent in 20Ir3thEdourth quarter, selling, general and admiatste expense was $1,269,000 in 201
decrease of $42,000 when compared to the samedpafr2013. The increase for the year was due tbdrigales commissions combined \
including CRI costs for the entire year of 2014 paned to four months of the prior year. These iasee costs for the year were partially o
by lower incentive based bonuses. The decreadbddourth quarter was entirely due to lower incenbased bonuses in 2014.

Comparison of 2013 to 2012 — Specialty Chemicalsd@eent

Specialty Chemicals Segment sales for the entieg pé 2013 were $56,518,000, up $5,144,000 or tnegnt from $51,374,000 for 20
Gross profit for 2013 for the Specialty Chemicatg®ent was $9,732,000, or 17 percent of sales, amdpo $8,240,000, or 16 percen
sales, for 2012, an increase of 18 percent. Théiaa Ashland defoamer sales which began in theltquarter of 2012 contributed to

increase in gross profit for the Segment. For therth quarter of 2013, Specialty Chemicals Segmesdles were $14,888,000, wt
represented a 14 percent increase from $13,087%@0the same quarter of 2012. Overall selling widecreased 16 percent in the fo
quarter when compared to 2012 due in part to afgignt increase in usage of a lower cost raw niaténat is reflected in the selling price
MC and generally lower average selling prices al T&ling. Gross profit for the fourth quarter o023 and 2012 was $2,588,000, ol
percent of sales, and $2,049,000, or 16 percergales, respectively, an increase of 26 percent. Gffing had a positive impact

profitability during its first quarter under Companwnership. The Specialty Chemicals Segment coasirto focus on changing the proc
mix to higher priced / higher margin products andtomolling operating and support costs. At CRI ing| streamlining processes and impro
production capabilities will be a major focus.

On August 26, 2013, CRI Tolling completed the pasa of substantially all of the assets and asswaddin operating liabilities of CF
Located in Fountain Inn, South Carolina, CRI Tdlimill continue CRI's business as that of a tollnofacturer that provides outs
manufacturing resources to global and regional ét@mompanies. The assets purchased from CRIded®quipment and certain other as
and approximately $387,000 worth of inventory acdaoaints receivables, net of assumed payables. ctaepurchase price was $1,100,(
The Company acquired the building and land wheré @ferates in a separate but related transactioAumust 9, 2013 for approximatt
$3,500,000. The Company viewed both the buildind eperating assets of CRI together as one busicagsble of providing a return
ownership by expanding the segment's productioaafp Accordingly, the acquisition meets the digim of a business and the transactic
structured in a way that meets the definition biainess combination under GAAP.

Due to severe financial difficulties CRI was expeading prior to our acquisition, the Company wake @b purchase the land, building i
equipment at below market value. As a result offdwerable purchase price, the Company recordeztgain purchase gain on this transac
in the third quarter of 2013 of $1,077,000, neteferred taxes. The Company funded the acquisitfid®RI through a new term loan with
Company's bank, plus an increase in its line aditre

Selling, general and administrative expense ine@&592,000 or 17 percent in 2013 when compar@d1@. These costs were seven pe
of sales for both 2013 and 2012. The increase wagalhigher sales commissions and incentive-blsedses in 2013.

Unallocated Income and Expense

Reference should be made to Note 13 to the CometidFinancial Statements, included in Item 8 of fform 10K, for the schedule th
includes these items.

Comparison of 2014 to 2013 — Corporate

Corporate expenses for 2014 were $3,292,000, opevoent of sales from continuing operations, caeghao $3,243,000, or two percen
sales from continuing operations for 2013. Thigeepnts an increase of $49,000 or two percent.eHigitentive based bonuses for 2014 \
partially offset by lower travel and shelf regisivas costs.

Acquisition costs for 2014 and 2013 relate to theuanulation of ondime expenses associated with the acquisition @cfty and CR
respectively.

Interest expense decreased to $1,092,000 for 26dvpared to $1,357,000 for 2013. The lower expeasels for 2014 resulted from f
Company paying off the outstanding balance ofiits bf credit in October 2013 with a portion of theceeds from the September 30, -
public stock offering. Also, the continued low irdet rate environment resulted in the fair valubath
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SWAP agreements to decrease during 2014, resduttirsgiditional expense of $426,000 in 2014. Thiegaty was $741,000 favorable
2013.

The actual second year EBITDA for Palmer fell bekme minimum target level defined in their SPA ardearneut was paid in 2014. For {
third year of the program, management does expeotd? to achieve the minimum EBITDA levels and fingt tier of earneut is expected
be paid out in 2015. Accordingly, a one-time falmbeaadjustment to the Palmer earn-out accrual waedenduring 2014 for $3,476,000.

Comparison of 2013 to 2012 — Corporate

Corporate expenses were $3,243,000, or two permesales from continuing operations and $3,165,080fwo percent of sales frc
continuing operations, for 2013 and 2012, respebtivAdditional costs were incurred in 2013 as@wmpany strengthened its IT support t
(wages and travel), improved its reporting softwhnectionality, incurred legal and travel costsamsated with its followen stock offering
recorded additional stock option compensation egpeand increased recurring professional fees agedciwith the Palmer and C
acquisitions. These increases were substantidigolby lower incentive-based bonus expense in 2013

Acquisition related costs during 2013 reflect tleewmulation of ondime expenses associated with the acquisition of. €Br 2012, thi
category reflects one-time costs associated withPalmer acquisition.

Interest expense 2013 was $1,357,000 comparedOb,#® for 2012, an increase of $756,000. Hightarast expense for the year rest
from the additional borrowings associated with fhechase of CRI in August 2013 and Palmer in Au@@sit?. Interest expense decre:
during the fourth quarter of 2013 as the Comparng p# the outstanding balance of the line of ctedi

Also, as mentioned in the Specialty Chemicals Sedgrdiscussion for 2013, the acquisition of CRI Heliin a gain on bargain purchast
$1,077,000, net of deferred income taxes.

Contractual Obligations and Other Commitments

As of January 3, 2015, the Company's contractu@atipns and other commitments were as follows:

(Amounts in thousands) Payment Obligations for the Year Ended
Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter
Obligations:
Revolving credit facility $ 88t % — — 3 88t % — 8 —  $ —
Term loans 30,90¢ 4,701 4,53¢ 4,53¢ 4,497 4,25¢ 8,381
Interest payments 4,061 96t 81€ 677 53¢ 404 661
Contingent consideration 7,50( 4,75( 2,75( — — — —
Operating leases 913 44¢ 241 182 26 15 —
Deferred compensatidh 358 51 51 51 21 21 15¢
Total $ 44610 $ 10,91¢ $ 8,39 $ 6,32¢ $ 508z $ 4,69¢ $ 9,20(

@ For a description of the deferred compensatiorgatitin, see Note 6 to the Consolidated Financatestents included in Item 8 of this
Form 10-K.

Current Conditions and Outlook

During 2014, Synalloy acquired a stable, profitatinpany and sold / closed two underperforming islidrses. Management believes th
changes leave the overall Company stronger fordujpowth and sustained profitability.

The Metals Segment's business continues to beyhagggendent on its customers' capital expenditiBpscial project and overall backloy
strong at BRISMET, with many large diameter andcgdealloy projects in the pipeline. Internatiomadjuiries, which are comprised mainly
special alloy products, are on the rise. Nicketgsi which result in stainless steel surchargeskgue during midvlay, with an increase
approximately 50% since the end of 2013. Since tiha¢, nickel prices have fallen significantly frotine high with nickel decreasing 1.
during the fourth quarter. For the entire year 614 nickel increased 6% and has remained relatiflatythrough February 6, 2015. If
Indonesian ban on ore exports remains in plac&ehjrices have room to increase from their curtemls. Our inventory gains and losses
determined by a number of factors including salesand the holding period of particular products. &consequence, there may not be a
correlation between the direction of stainlesslsteecharges and inventory profits or losses aamiqular point in time. Our experience
been that over the course of a business cycleydiagility has tended towards zero.
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We believe we are the largest and most capable stamproducer of nomommodity stainless steel pipe and an effectivedpeer o
commodity stainless steel pipe. Our market positéonains strong in the commodity pipe market andcar@inue to see strong order activit
special alloys. Gulf coast activity remains vigasdior chemical, petro-chem, fertilizer and plastieduser applications. Should oil pric
remain or fall below their current levels, managetrenticipates that sales for storage tanks anoboapipe will be affected beginning in
second quarter of 2015. Palmer and Specialty inted new product lines in 2014 which will help t@tigate any declining sales in exist
product lines.

The storage tank backlog was $12,229,000 at Jard,@2915 and $11,477,000 at December 28, 2013.

Specialty Chemicals Segment's sales and profitalsifiould continue to show improvement for therenyear of 2015 as CRI Tolling ramps
production to support the BioBased Technologiese@ment that was announced earlier this year. Btimubegan in midlanuary 2015 al
should ramp up quickly during the remainder offir& quarter of 2015. This production utilizes thew reaction area that the Company a
during 2014. In addition, both units aggressivelyrspe new business opportunities, evaluate prodtcing, increase growth to dire
customers and identify new sales opportunitiepfoduct offerings that have available productiopazdty. The Specialty Chemicals Segm
project pipeline is heavily weighted with oil andsgopportunities and since the Company is a relgtivew supplier to the oil and gas cherr
segment, management believes this area will iilvsstrong improvement in 2015, even with lowerpsites. Management expects opere
margins to hold steady at current levels.

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures albut Market Risks

The Company is exposed to market risks from adwveliaeges in interest rates. Changes in United SStaterest rates affect the interest ea
on the Company's cash and cash equivalents asawefiterest paid on its indebtedness. Except awibled below, the Company does
engage in speculative or leveraged transactionsgas it hold or issue financial instruments fadtng purposes. The Company is expos:
changes in interest rates primarily as a resutsdiorrowing activities used to maintain liquidand fund business operations.

Fair value of the Company's debt obligations, whipproximated the recorded value, consisted of:

At January 3, 2015
» $885,000 under a $40,000,0@¥olving line of credit expiring on November 2D1Z with a variable interest rate of 1.77 pert
» $17,250,000 under a term loan expiring August 2222@ith a variable interest rate of 2.42 perc

» An interest rate swap contract with a notional antaf $17,250,000 which fixes the term loan interage at 3.74 percent. The !
value of the interest rate swap contract was agt &asshe Company of $11,000.

* $3,654,000 under a term loan expiring August 1932@Rh a variable interest rate of 2.16 perc

» An interest rate swap contract with a notional anmiaf $3,654,000 which fixes the term loan interas¢ at 4.83 percent. The !
value of this interest rate swap contract waslhiliig to the Company of $215,000.

» $10,000,000 under a term loan expiring Novembe2P19 with a variable interest rate of 2.07 per

At December 28, 2013
» $19,500,000 under a term loan expiring August 2222@ith a variable interest rate of 2.41 perc

» An interest rate swap contract with a notional antaf $19,500,000 which fixes the term loan interage at 3.74 percent. The !
value of the interest rate swap contract was agt &asshe Company of $301,000.

* $3,939,000 under a term loan expiring August 1932@Rh a variable interest rate of 2.17 perc

» An interest rate swap contract with a notional anmiaf $3,939,000 which fixes the term loan intemagé at 4.83 percent. The
value of this interest rate swap contract wastaliig to the Company of $80,000.
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Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Company's consolidated financial statemenigted notes, report of management and report ohttependent registered public

accounting firm follow on subsequent pages of tafort.

Consolidated Balance Sheets

As of January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtfebants of $1,114,814 and $1,079,288 respectively

Inventories, net
Raw materials
Work-in-process
Finished goods
Total inventories
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Current assets held for sale
Total current assets

Cash value of life insurance
Property, plant and equipment, net
Goodwill

Intangible assets, net

Deferred charges, net and other non-current assets

Assets held for sale

Total assets

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of environmental reserves
Current liabilities held for sale
Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, less current portion
Long-term environmental reserves
Long-term deferred compensation
Long-term contingent consideration
Deferred income taxes

Long-term pension liability from the closure of 80l Fab

Shareholders' equity

Common stock, par value $1 per share - authori2¢g0D,000 shares; issued 10,300,000 shares

Capital in excess of par value
Retained earnings

| e,ec cnct nf commann stack in treaciiny: 1 KRO RAAR1AART 2 200 chares recnectiv

2014 2013
26,62: 1,773,74
29,229,92 29,923,48
38,405,58 16,557,35
7,128,60. 16,041,14
22,140,48 18,897,42
67,674,67 51,495,91
2,921,65. 3,776,64
5,460,34. 4,091,48!
— 8,550,07!
105,313,21 99,611,35
2,046,51. 2,007,41!
39,937,46 32,665,28
23,250,20 17,252,67
17,001,52 6,930,001
300,30¢ 575,54t
— 4,218,09!
187,849,23 163,260,37
21,388,29 11,440,57
14,684,68 9,182,36!
4,533,90: 2,533,90:
126,00( 147,501
— 1,318,871
40,732,89 24,623,22
27,255,44 20,904,70
450,00( 478,50(
209,50( 219,79«
2,596,511 3,362,03.
6,438,141 7,573,99!
713,18: —
10,300,00 10,300,00
34,054,37 33,657,71
79,167,32 76,337,59
123,521,69 120,295,31
14.068.14 14197 .19



Total shareholders' equity 109,453,55 106,098,11

Commitments and contingencies — See Note 11

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 187,849,23 § 163,260,37

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisients.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years ended January 3, 2015 , December 28, 201Baceimber 29, 2012

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expense
Operating income
Other (income) and expense
Interest expense
Acquisition related costs
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
Palmer earn-out adjustment
Gain on bargain purchase, net of taxes
Other, net
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net income from continuing operations

Net (loss) income from discontinued operations, neif tax

Net income

Net income per common share from continuing openati
Basic

Diluted

Net (loss) income per diluted common share fromati§inued operations:

Basic
Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.

2014 2013 2012

$ 199,504,62 196,751,17 $ 166,162,14
166,575,14 176,953,03 146,429,58
32,929,48 19,798,13 19,732,56
16,588,68 16,034,42 12,408,58
16,340,79 3,763,71 7,323,981

1,091,69. 1,357,32: 600,89:

301,71 264,18t 880,58:

425 54: (740,83)) 113,64t

(3,476,19) _ _

— (1,077,33) —
(6,742 (147,68) (148,02

18,004,78 4,108,04: 5,876,88.

5,386,001 1,210,001 1,894,00

12,618,78 2,898,04: 3,982,88.
(7,156,52) (1,137,48) 252,02t

$ 5,462,26: 1,760,56. $ 4,234,91.
$ 1.45 04z $ 0.62
$ 1.45 04z $ 0.62
$ (0.82) (0.1 $ 0.0
$ (0.82) (0.1 $ 0.0¢
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

Capital in Excess

of Cost of Common
Common Stock Par Value Retained Earning Stock in Treasury Total
Balance at December 31, 2011 $ 8,000,000 $ 1,153,88' $ 74,198,15 $ (14,733,13) $ 68,618,90
Net income — — 4,234,91. — 4,234,91:
Payment of dividends, $0.25 per share — — (1,596,30) — (1,596,30)
Issuance of 19,089 shares of common stock from i
treasury — (113,07) — 167,99( 54,91¢
Stock options exercised for 11,800 shares, net — 20,04 — 103,84« 123,88¢
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 337,75( — — 337,75(
Balance at December 29, 2012 8,000,001 1,398,61. 76,836,76 (14,461,30) 71,774,06.
Net income — — 1,760,56. — 1,760,56
Payment of dividends, $0.26 per share — — (2,259,72) — (2,259,72)
Issuance of 17,572 shares of common stock from the
treasury — (33,54H — 154,74 121,19¢
Stock options exercised for 13,495 shares, net — 28,66( — 109,36¢ 138,02¢
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 331,36: — — 331,36
Issuance of 2,300,000 shares of common stock 2,300,001 31,932,62 — — 34,232,62
Balance at December 28, 2013 10,300,00 33,657,71 76,337,59 (14,197,19) 106,098,11
Net income — — 5,462,26. — 5,462,26.
Payment of dividends, $0.30 per share — — (2,632,53) — (2,632,53)
Issuance of 14,522 shares of common stock from
the treasury — (8,34)) — 127,88: 119,54(
Stock options exercised for 7,980 shares, net — 40,84« — 1,173 42,017
Employee stock option and grant compensation — 364,15 — — 364,15
Balance at January 3, 2015 $ 10,300,000 $ 34,054,37 % 79,167,32 $ (14,068,14) $ 109,453,55

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended January 3, 2015 , December 28, 201Baceimber 29, 2012

Operating activities
Net income
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, neapf
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigea by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation expense
Amortization expense
Deferred income taxes
Bargain gain on acquisition of CRI, net of taxes
Palmer earn-out adjustment
Provision for (reduction of) losses on accounteirable
Provision for losses on inventories
Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and equigmen
Cash value of life insurance
Change in fair value of interest rate swap
Environmental reserves
Issuance of treasury stock for director fees
Employee stock option and grant compensation
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other assets and liabilities, net
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued income taxes
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operatingctivities
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operatg activities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of Palmer
Cash received from Palmer acquisition
Acquisition of CRI
Acquisition of Specialty
Cash received from Specialty acquisition
Proceeds from life insurance settlement
Net cash used in continuing investing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued investy activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Net borrowings from (payments on) line of credit
Borrowings from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Payments on pension liability from the closure aE®l Fab
Proceeds from notes receivable
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Proceeds from exercised stock options
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by financing activities

2014 2013 2012
5462,26.  $ 1,76056. $  4,234,91
7,156,52. 1,137,48. (252,02
3,724,75 3,074,36! 2,394,29.
1,466,39! 1,597,57: 567,69

796,91( (1,325,78) 164,77
— (1,077,33) —
(3,476,19) — —
72,10( (229,23() 105,91
2,548,191 169,81( 463,82
26,80( 8,044 (107,970
(39,099 (161,53 (190,990
425 54 (740,83;) 113,64¢
(50,000) (14,000 —
110,50 127,98 99,99
364,15 331,36 337,75(
3,448, 70! 642,12 (894,38)
(3,298,98) (2,659,94) (2,615,21)
(1,164,29) (303,959 (1,661,04)
7,820,95 879,63 (3,971,87)
3,995,53. (2,316,26) 1,189,80.
(1,287,00) (863,495 (754,71)
28,103,77 36,58¢ (775,610
785,24 (5,578,38) 2,410,47.
28,889,02 (5,541,79) 1,634,86
(8,065,99) (5,648,29)) (4,542,15)
8,00( 136,29 148,501

— — (27,895,20)

_ — 1,389,05.

— (4,527,76) —
(31,490,43) — —
12,96( — —

— 703,33: 734,201

(39,535,46) (9,336,42) (30,165,59)
3,589,06. (115,47) (192,229

(35,946,40) (9,451,89) (30,357,82)

884,63 (18,060,89) 9,410,46
10,000,00 4,033,25! 22,500,00
(2,533,90) (2,401,10) (759,96)

(449,95 — —
— — 20,00

— 34,232,62 —

42,01; 138,02¢ 123,88t
(2,632,53) (2,259,72) (1,596,30)
5,310,25I 15,682,17 29,698,08




(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,747,12) 688,48: 975,12:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 1,773,74. 1,085,26. 110,13t

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 26,620 $ 1,773,74.  $ 1,085,26

See accompanying notes to consolidated financssients.

31




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Description of Business

Synalloy Corporation (the "Company"), a Delawarepooation, was incorporated in 1958 as the success@ chemical manufacturi
business founded in 1945. Its charter is perpefla. name was changed on July 31, 1967 from Blankidtder Industries, Inc. On June
1988, the state of incorporation was changed framtts Carolina to Delaware. The Company's executifiees are located at 775 Spal
Boulevard, Suite 102, Spartanburg, South Carol#202 and 4301 Dominion Boulevard, Suite 130, GldarA Virginia 23060.

The Company's business is divided into segments, the Metals Segment and the Specialty iCalsn$egment. The Metals Segment ope
as BRISMET, Bristol Fab, RafRab, Palmer and Specialty. BRISMET manufactures,distol Fab fabricates piping systems from i
and carbon steel and other alloys, Raaf- fabricates piping systems from chrome, stesnkesd carbon steel and other alloys, Pe
manufactures liquid storage solutions and separaguipment and Specialty is a master distribufosemmless carbon pipe and tube.
Specialty Chemicals Segment operates as Manufast@gemicals and CRI Tolling and produces speciatigmicals. Bristol Fab and Ram:-
Fab were sold or closed during 2014. See Note 17.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tmoants of the Company and its subsidiaries, allvbich are wholly owned. The Met
Segment is comprised of three wholly-owned subsiia Synalloy Metals, Inc. which owns 100 percehBristol Metals, LLC, located
Bristol, Tennessee; Palmer of Texas Tanks, Incatka in Andrews, Texas and Specialty Pipe & Tuhe, located in Mineral Ridge, Ohio &
Houston, Texas. The Specialty Chemicals Segment consists of twollytawned subsidiaries: Manufacturers Soap and CherGioadpan
which owns 100 percemf Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC, located in ClemelaTennessee and CRI Tolling, LLC, located in Raiminn
South Carolina. All significant intercompany tracsans have been eliminated.

Accounting Period

The Company's fiscal year is the 52 or 53 weekogeending the Saturday nearest to December 3lalRisar 2014 ended alanuary 3, 201
with the year having 53 weeks. Fiscal year 2013=dmuh December 28, 2013 and fiscal year 2012 endddecember 29, 2012each ye:
having 52 weeks.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmewith a maturity of three months or less when pasgd to be cash equivalents.
Company maintains cash balances at financial urigtits with strong credit ratings.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable from the sale of products eo®rmded at net realizable value and the Compangrgly grants credit to customers or
unsecured basis. Substantially all of the Compaagtounts receivable are due from companies lodhtedighout the United States. -
Company provides an allowance for doubtful collesi and for disputed claims and quality issues. dlfoevance is based upon a reviev
outstanding receivables, historical collection mfiation and existing economic conditions. The Comypaerforms periodic credit evaluatic
of its customers' financial condition and generalbes not require collateral. Receivables are gdlgedue within 30 to 6@ays. Delinquel
receivables are written off based on individuablirevaluations and specific circumstances of tngtamer.

Included in the stock purchase agreement (the "$BfAPalmer, the sellers guaranteed the colledtalaf the acquired accounts receivable.
the SPA, at 120 days after the acquisition dategllamvance for doubtful accounts was establishedafioopen, preacquisition receivables
$821,000, with an offsetting increase in the amount duenfithe sellers during the year ended December 2B2.28ubsequent collections
these accounts by the Company are reimbursed tethegs.

Included in the SPA of Specialty, the sellers gnagad the collectability of the acquired accoueteivable. Per the SPA, at 120 dajter the
acquisition date, any uncollected accounts recévaibl be remitted to the Company.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or eai&ost is determined by the first-in, it ("FIFO") method. The Company writes dowr
inventory for estimated obsolescence or unmarketalvientory equal to the difference between the cbs
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inventory and the estimated market value based agsomptions about future demand and current madketitions. Based upon histori
results, the Company also maintains an inventosgrie to provide for the amount of estimated inegnguantity loss since the last phys
inventory. As of January 3, 2015 and December 2832, inventories have been reduced by $4,866,000%2,217,00Q respectively, fc
obsolescence, market and physical inventory reserve

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cagird2iation is provided on the straidime method over the estimated useful life of theeds
Land improvements and buildings are depreciated avange of ten to 40 yearand machinery, fixtures and equipment are degtediover
range of three to 20 years . The costs of softiegases are amortized over five years using tteegsttline method. The Company continui
reviews the recoverability of the carrying valueloifg-lived assets. The Company also reviews loreg assets for impairment whene
events or changes in circumstances indicate thgingramount of such assets may not be recoverdBlen the future undiscounted c
flows of the operation to which the assets relat@at exceed the carrying value of the asset, ¢beta are written down to fair value.

Business Combinations

Acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisitioethod of accounting for business combinationadoordance with GAAP. Under t
method, the total consideration transferred to somsate the acquisition is allocated to the ideaitifé tangible and intangible assets acq!
and liabilities assumed based on their respectirevialues as of the closing date of the acquisitibhe acquisition method of accoun
requires extensive use of estimates and judgmerdfidcate the consideration transferred to thatifiable tangible and intangible asset:
any, acquired and liabilities assumed.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Deferred Charges

Goodwill, arising from the excess of purchase padeer fair value of net assets of businesses asdjuis not amortized but is reviewed annt
in the fourth quarter for impairment. Intangibleses represent the fair value of intellectual, pbygsical assets resulting from a busil
acquisition. Deferred charges represent other gilda assets such as debt service costs. Intang#slets are amortized over their estirr
useful lives using an accelerated method or agtrdine method. Deferred charges are amortized owar #stimated useful lives using
straight-line method. Deferred charges are amatt@mesr a period ranging from 3 to ¥8ars and intangible assets are amortized overied
ranging from 10 to 15 years. The weighted averagertization period for the customer relationshipspproximately twelvgears. Deferre
charges and intangible assets totaled $20,961,860$8,407,000at January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, respsctihccumulate
amortization of deferred charges and intangibleetasas of January 3, 2015 and December 28, 20a%do%$3,670,000 and $2,203,000
respectively. Estimated amortization expense ferrbxt five fiscal years based on existing defealeairges and intangible assets is: 2015
$2,335,000 , 2016 - $2,171,000 , 2017 - $2,032,02018 - $1,868,000 ; 2019 - $1,740,000 ; and #ftee - $7,145,000 The Compan
recorded amortization expense of $1,466,000 , 8108® and $568,000 for 2014, 2013 and 2012, reispdct

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from product sales is recognized at the tmnership of goods transfers to the customertla@earnings process is complete, w
is typically on the date the inventory is shippedite customer.

Shipping Costs

Shipping costs of approximately $3,775,000 , $4,80Q and $3,445,000 in 2014 , 2013 and 20dpectively, are recorded in cost of gc
sold.

Research and Development Expenses

The Company incurred research and development sgpehapproximately $531,000 , $558,000 and $612jA02014 , 2013 and 2012
respectively.

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

Earnings per share of common stock are computegddbais the weighted average number of shares odistaduring each period. See N
12.

Fair Value Disclosures

The Company makes estimates of fair value in adbogirfor certain transactions, in testing and meaguimpairment, and in providii
disclosures of fair value in its consolidated fio@h instruments. The Company determines the falues of its financial instruments
disclosure purposes by maximizing the use of olad#evinputs and minimizing the use of unobservaipets
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when measuring fair value. Fair value disclosumsaksets and liabilities are grouped in threel$evEne levels prioritize the inputs usec
measure the fair value of the assets or liabilifldgese levels are:

Level 1- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities.

Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices that are obsesvablassets and liabilities, either directly adinectly. These inputs include quo
prices for similar assets or liabilities in actirearkets or quoted prices for identical or similasets or liabilities in markets that are
active.

Level 3- Unobservable inputs that are supported by littl@@ market activity for assets or liabilities aindludes certain pricing mode
discounted cash flow methodologies and similarriegpkes.

Estimates of fair value using levels 2 and 3 mapite judgments as to the timing and amount of ¢lsirs, discount rates, and other fac
requiring significant judgment, and the outcomesymary widely depending on the selection of thessumptions. The Company's r
significant fair value estimates relate to purchaseounting adjustments which included the measeménof contingent consideratis
estimating the fair value of the reporting unitst@sting goodwill for impairment, estimating tharfaalue of the interest rate swaps,
providing disclosures of the fair values of finadnstruments.

As of January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, thgicg amount for cash and cash equivalents, adsow@teivable, accounts payable
borrowings under the Company's line of credit adhtloan, which are based on variable interessyaigproximates their fair value.

The Company does not currently have any Level dnfimal assets or liabilities. The Company hasethuevel 2 financial assets and liabilit
Cash value of life insurance had a fair value gb82,000 and $2,007,000 at January 3, 2015 andnblere28, 2013 respectively. The fe
value of the life insurance policies was determibgdthe underwriting insurance company's valuatiosdels and represents the guarar
value the Company would receive upon surrendehedd policies. Changes in the policies' fair valaee recorded in noodrrent assets wi
corresponding offsetting entries to selling, geharal administrative expense. Also, the fair vadfieche Palmer swap was an asse$di,00(
and $301,000 at January 3, 2015 and December 28, B&spectively. The fair value of the CRI swas\adiability of $215,000 and $80,080
January 3, 201%and December 28, 2013, respectively. The intewrst swaps were priced using discounted cash flolniques which a
corroborated by using ndminding market prices. Changes in the swaps' falineswere recorded in current assets or liabiligssappropriat
with corresponding offsetting entries to other im&o(expense). Significant inputs to the discourtesh flow model include projected fut
cash flows based on projected one-month LIB&DE the average margin for companies with similadit ratings and similar maturities. Th
are classified as Level 2 as they are not actitralyed and are valued using pricing models thabbservable market inputs.

The contingent consideration payments, discussédbie 16, are classified as Level 3. The amourtheftotal earrout liability to the prio
owners of Palmer was determined using managemeest estimate of Palmer's EBITDA for the three ryearneut period which wi
determine the amount of the ultimate payment tanlele. The amount of the total eamt liability due to the prior owner of Specialtyas
determined using management's best estimate oigfyecEBITDA for the two year earn out period which will determine the amanfrthe
ultimate payment to be made. Factors such as volooneases, selling price increases and inflatierevused to develop a base projection.
Company believes additional costs will be requitedmprove employee turnover, safety, internal oalst etc. These estimated costs \
deducted in order to determine projected EBITDAe Bompany's current cost of borrowing was useceterthine the present value of th
expected payments. Each quarter-end, the Comparyataates their assumptions and adjustments teestimated present value of
expected payments to be made, if required. Dutieghree months ended June 28, 2014, the Compueieyves the Palmer eaiout reserve fc
the second and third year payments and determimee@8BTIDA threshold target of $5,825,084 the period from August 22, 2013 to Auc
21, 2014 ("Year 2") would not be attained, and efane, the earn-out payment of $2,500,000Year 2 was not made to the former Pa
shareholders. As a result, the Company adjusteédhsout liability to the present value of the Compargusrent estimates by recognizin
gain of approximately $3,476,0Qluring the second quarter. The Company does natotXpalmer to meet the EBITDA threshold targe
$6,825,000 during the final twelve month earn-cerigd; however, it should reach the $5,825,000sthotd for year three.
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The following table presents a summary of changdair value of the Company's Level 3 liabilitie®asured on a recurring basis for 2014
2013:

Level 3 Inputs

Balance at December 29, 2012 $ 8,208,83

Interest expense charged during the year 153,20(
Payment to Palmer sellers (2,500,001
Balance at December 28, 2013 5,862,03.
Present value of contingent consideration liab#isgociated with the Specialty acquisition 4,773,62
Interest expense charged during the year 96,93
Change in fair value of contingent consideratiaility associated with the Palmer acquisition (3,476,19)
Balance at January 3, 2015 $ 7,256,38

There were no transfers of assets or liabilitietsvben Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 in the yearseehdanuary 3, 2015 or December 28, 2
There have also been no changes in the fair vafthadologies used by the Company during the yaatedeJanuary 3, 2015 or Decembel
2013.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial stetets in conformity with GAAP requires managementtake estimates and assumpti
primarily for testing goodwill for impairment, deteining proper perioagnd balances for certain employee benefit accrestimating fai
value of identifiable assets acquired and lialeitiassumed as a result of business acquisitiondoanestablishing reserves on accol
receivable, inventories and environmental issues, affect the amounts reported in the consolidéiteahcial statements and accompan
notes. Actual results could differ from those esties.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to significant concentrations of credik kensist principally of cash deposits, tr
accounts receivable and cash surrender valueeoingfurance. The cash surrender value of life arse is the contractual amount on poli
maintained with one insurance company. The Compgmeriorms a periodic evaluation of the relative d@rathnding of this company as
relates to the insurance industry.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedonform to the current year presentation in tbeompanying consolidated financ
statements. These reclassifications had no matdfedt on previously reported results of operationshareholders' equity.

Recent accounting pronouncements

In April 2014, the Financial Accounting StandardsaBd ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards UpdateS(U") 2014-08,"Presentation ¢
Financial Statements (Topic 205) and Property, Blamd Equipment (Topic 360): Reporting Discontishu@perations and Disclosurs o
Disposals of Components of an Entil, which changes the criteria for when the dispaxfah component entity may be presente
discontinued operations. The standard requiresthieatisposal be considered a strategic shift (agdhe disposal of a major geographical .
a major line of business, a major equity methocedtment, or other major part of an entity) whichl Wwave a major effect on a report
entity's operating and financial results in ordebé presented as discontinued operations. Disptisal do qualify for discontinued operati
presentation will require expanded disclosure. AZ1408 is effective for disposals which occur duringhaal periods beginning on or ai
December 15, 2014. The Company did not elect tiy ediopt the provisions of this ASU.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-O®evenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 6Q6)thich changes the criteria

recognizing revenue. The standard requires aryentitecognize revenue to depict the transfer ofipsed goods or services to customers

amount that reflects the consideration to whichehtity expects to be entitled in exchange for ¢hgsods or services. The standard requi
five-step process for recognizing revenue includingtifieng the contract with the customer, identifyitige performance obligations in

contract, determining the transaction price, alimgathe transaction price to the performance abians in the contract, and recogni:
revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a perdioga obligation. ASU 201@9 is effective for annual reporting periods begignafte
December 15, 2016. The Company is currently eviagdhe impact that ASU 2014-09 will have on itsisolidated financial statements.
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Subsequent Events

Management has evaluated subsequent events thifoeiglate of filing this Form 10-K.

Note 2 Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment consist of the foihmy

2014 2013
Land $ 1,742,21: % 652,21.
Land improvements 714,39¢ 662,52:
Buildings 21,371,59 18,586,30
Machinery, fixtures and equipment 56,651,19 50,239,40
Construction-in-progress 5,494,16! 5,014,34:

85,973,56 75,154,79
Less accumulated depreciation 46,036,10 42,489,51
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 3993746 $ 32,665,28

The Company recorded depreciation expense frommong operations of $3,725,000 , $3,074,000 , $394,000 for 2014, 2013 and 2012
respectively.

Note 3 Long-term Debt

2014 2013
$ 40,000,000 Revolving line of credit, due Novembgr 2017 $ 884,63 $ —
$10,000,000 Term loan, due November 21, 2019 10,000,00 —
$22,500,000 Term loan, due August 21, 2022 17,250,00 19,500,00
$4,033,250 Mortgage, due August 19, 2023 3,654,71. 3,938,61

31,789,35 23,438,61
Less current portion 4,533,901 2,533,90:
Long-term debt, less current portion $ 27,255,444  $ 20,904,70

On June 30, 2010 , the Company entered into a CAgdeéement with a regional bank to provide a $20,000line of credit that was to exp
on June 30, 2013 . This agreement was amendedeblyatik on August 19, 2011 to extend the maturitg déthe Credit Agreement tyne
additional year to June 30, 2014 . In connectiotihwhie Palmer acquisition discussed in Note 16Aogust 21, 2012 the Company modifie
the Credit Agreement to increase the limit of thedit facility by $5,000,000 to a maximum of $25)0000, and extended the maturity dat:
August 21, 2015 . On October 22, 2012 , the Compaoglified this agreement to increase the limit hyadditional $5,000,00th a maximur
of $30,000,000 . This increase was in effect fog paar and the maximum line of credit reverted kack25,000,000 on October 22, 2013
connection with the Specialty acquisition discussedote 16, on November 21, 2014, the Company fiemtthe Credit Agreement to incre.
the limit of the credit facility by $15,000,000 éomaximum of $40,000,000 , and extended the muptdate to November 21, 2017The Tots
Funded Debt to EBITDA ratio (as defined in the Grédyreement), tangible net worth floor (as definadhe Credit Agreement), and Tc
Liabilities to Tangible Net Worth ratio (as definadthe Credit Agreement) were changed as a refuhis modification. None of the ott
provisions of the Credit Agreement were changed eessult of this modification. Interest on the Gréyreement is calculated using the (
Month LIBOR (as defined in the Credit Agreementlspa predefined spread, based on the Company's Total Fubdbtto EBITDA ratio (s
defined in the Credit Agreement). Borrowings unttex line of credit are limited to an amount equalat borrowing base calculation t
includes eligible accounts receivable, inventoard other non-capital assets.

In connection with the acquisition of Specialtysaissed in Note 16, the Credit Agreement modificatin November 21, 2014 also provi
for a five -year term loan, expiring November 2019, in the amount of $10,000,000 that requiresakbmonthly payments of $166,66plus
interest, calculated using the One Month LIBORda8ned in the Credit Agreement), plus a pefined spread, based on the Company's
Funded Debt to EBITDA ratio (as defined in the Grédjreement). The interest rate was 2.07 percedaauary 3, 2015.
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The Credit Agreement modification on August 21, 2@lso provided for a ten -year term loan in the@ant of $22,500,00€hat requires equ
monthly payments of $187,500 plus interest. Theregt rate was 2.42 percettlanuary 3, 2015. In conjunction with this teoan, to mitigat
the variability of the interest rate risk, the Canp entered into an interest rate swap contraet"@almer swap") on August 21, 20&&h its
current bank. The Palmer swap was for an initidlomal amount of $22,500,000 with a fixed intereste of 3.74 percent , and a termtef
years, expiring orAugust 21, 2022 which is consistent with the maturity of the teloan. The notional amount of the interest ratep
decreases as monthly principal payments are made.

In connection with acquisition of CRI, discussedNiote 16, on August 9, 2013 the Company amendddrédit Agreement for a new teyeal
term loan in the amount of $4,033,250 , with mopthlincipal payments customized to account for2Beyear amortization of the real est
assets combined with a 5 -year amortization ofdfjgipment assets purchased. The interest rate vi@sp2rceniat January 3, 2015.
conjunction with this term loan, to mitigate theriahility of interest rate risk, the Company enteieto the CRI swap on September 3, 2013
The CRI swap was for an initial notional amount$df033,250 with a fixed interest rate of 4.83 pet@nd runs for ten years faigust 19
2023, which equates to the due date of the term lohr.rbtional amount of the interest rate swap dseseas monthly principal payments
made.

Although both swap agreements are expected toteffdc offset variable interest in the borrowind®edge accounting will not be utiliz¢
Therefore, changes in their fair value are recotideclrrent assets or liabilities, as appropriatiéh corresponding offsetting entries to of
income (expense). The Company recorded an $11 £ and a $301,0@Bset for the fair value of the Palmer swap aso@idry 3, 2015 al
December 28, 2013, respectively. As of January0252and December 28, 2013, the Company recordedbidity of $215,000 and $80,000
respectively, for the fair value of the CRI swapridg 2012, a portion of the initial change in faalue on the CRI swap was deemed t
attributable to a cost of underwriting the termnazbtained for the CRI acquisition; therefore $00,0f the total change in fair value v
classified as an acquisition cost, and the remaiadeother income (expense). In future periods,ctienge in fair value will be charged
credited to other income or expense.

Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Company e@sired to pledge all of its tangible and intangiptoperties, including the acquired as
of Specialty, Palmer and CRI. Covenants under trediCAgreement include maintaining a certain Tdtahded Debt to EBITDA ratio (
defined in the Credit Agreement), a minimum tangibkt worth, and total liabilities to tangible webrth ratio. The Company will also
limited to a maximum amount of capital expenditupes year, which is in line with the Company's euatly projected needs. Atanuary :
2015, the Company was in compliance with all delvienants.

The line of credit interest rates were 1.77 per¢ehil6 percent, and 2.21 percent at January1® 20ecember 28, 2013 , abd&cember 2!
2012, respectively. Additionally, the Companyesguired to pay a fee equal to 0.125 pereenthe average daily unused amount of the lii
credit on a quarterly basis. As of January 3, 201% amount available for borrowing under the lafecredit was $40,000,006f which
$884,637 was borrowed, leaving $39,115,363 of aldity. Average line of credit borrowings outstémgi during fiscal 2014 , 2013 arad12
were $2,735,000 , $19,860,000 and $11,045,000 witlghted average interest rates of 1.35 percen?4 percent and 1.82 percent
respectively. The average borrowings for 2014 adti32vere determined based on the period the Comipathyan outstanding balance on
line of credit. During 2013, the line of credit wesmpletely paid in October 2013 and the Company i@ borrowings on the line of cre
until December 2014.

The Company also had omehicle loan with a bank that was acquired withdbquisition of Palmer (Note 16) and was paid ihduring 2013
Monthly installments of $2,039 including princigald interest were due on the loan, expiring A@il2015 . The interest rate on the vehicle
loan was fixed at 0.90 percent . The vehicle loas secured by the vehicle.

Scheduled maturities of total long-term debt olilayzs are as follows: 2015 - $4,534,000 ; 2016,5%4,000 ; 2017 - $4,534,000 ; 2018 -
$4,497,000 ; 2019 - $4,258,000 ; and thereaft&;54¥,000 .

The Company made interest payments on all crediiitfas of $930,000 in 2014 , $1,202,000 in 2018 492,000 in 2012 .
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Note 4 Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

2014 2013
Salaries, wages and commissions $ 2,814,27' $ 1,224,85
Current portion of contingent consideration 4,659,87. 2,500,001
Facility closing reserves 1,570,39! —
Uncertain tax positions 1,504,14i —
Advances from customers 1,027,12: 1,617,29:
Insurance 859,15! 1,229,44
Current portion of pension liability from the claswf Bristol Fab 780,59! —
Taxes, other than income taxes 470,45t 795,01!
Benefit plans 212,35: 530,60
Interest 56,92: 31,01t
Professional fees 194,06! 302,30
Interest rate swap liability 215,18t 80,49¢
Current portion of deferred compensation 51,00( 51,00(
Other accrued items 269,13¢ 820,34(
Total accrued expenses $ 14,684,68 $ 9,182,36'

Note 5 Environmental Compliance Costs

At January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013 , the @aynpad accrued $576,000 and $626,06€spectively, for remediation costs whict
management's best estimate, is sufficient to gagisficipated costs of known remediation requiretsi@s outlined below. Expenditures rel:
to costs currently accrued are not discountedad ffresent values and are expected to be madelw@ext three to foyrears. As a result
the evolving nature of the environmental regulatiahe difficulty in estimating the extent and rely@f environmental contamination, and
availability and application of technology, theiestted costs for future environmental compliance samediation are subject to uncertair
and it is not possible to predict the amount oirigrof future costs of environmental matters whicly subsequently be determined.

Prior to 1987, the Company utilized certain produatits chemical facilities that are currentlyssidied as hazardous materials. Testing o
groundwater in the areas of the former wastewagatrent impoundments at these facilities discldeedoresence of certain contaminant
addition, several solid waste management units (V&4") at the plant sites have been identified. 398, the Company completed a Resol
Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA") Facility é&stigation at its Spartanburg, SC plant site, aaseth on the results, complete
Corrective Measures Study in 2000 . A Correctiveadblges Plan specifying remediation procedures feeblermed was submitted in 2080c¢
the Company received regulatory approval. In pyiears, remediation projects were completed to cigaall 14SWMUs on the Spartanbt
plant site at a cost of approximately $968,000 .@utober 2, 2009 the Company entered into an Asset Purchase Agnmeieand sold tt
Spartanburg facilities. As part of the Agreemehé purchaser agreed to assume any and all futidentified environmental liabilities at t
site and pay all future annual monitoring and répgrcosts required by the RCRA permit coveringshie. The Company has completed a
the RCRA-Permit required cleanup projects.

At the former Augusta, GA plant site, the Compampreitted a Baseline Risk Assessment and Corredileasures Plan for regulatc
approval. A Closure and Post-Closure Care Plan sudnitted and approved in 20@dr the closure of the surface impoundment (fol
regulated unit). The Company completed and cedtifiesure of the surface impoundment during 20D8ring 2005, the Company complet
a preliminary analysis of remedial alternativegliminate direct contact with surface soils basedhe Baseline Risk Assessment. In 201He
Company identified a concentration of soil contaation. With the approval of the Georgia DepartmaniNatural Resources, Environmel
Protection Division ("EPD"), the affected soil wasmoved and the section of the property was bae#filvith clean fill material plus selec
chemicals to clean any impurities left behind. Blaispon the soil remediation performed, the Comddeg a SiteWide Corrective Action Ple
with the EPD in December 2014 terminate the RCRA Permit. During 2014, the EMXed the surface impoundment regulated unit sime
Company met post-closure clean-up goals and thep@oyrenewed the Corrective Action Permit, whiotiudes a sitevide corrective actic
plan, long-term monitoring and institutional co¢toThe Company has accrued $501,000 and $551{00énaary 3, 2015 aridecember 2!
2013, respectively, for estimated future remedral cleanup costs. As part of the Asset Purchaseefigent for
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the Spartanburg facility, the purchaser also agtegshy for all future annual monitoring and repagtcosts at the Augusta facility requirec
the EPD.

The Company has identified and evaluated 8M8MUs at its plant in Bristol, Tennessee that réacaesidual groundwater contamination.
Interim Corrective Measures Plan to address tha einea of contamination identified was submittedrégulatory approval and was apprc
in March 2005 . The Company had $75,000 accruelhmtiary 3, 2015 and December 28, 201 provide for estimated future remedial
cleanup costs.

The Company has been designated, along with others, potentially responsible party under the Celmgmsive Environmental Respol
Compensation, and Liability Act, or comparable eststatutes, at two waste disposal sites. Notifioatifor these twsites were received by 1
Company in November 2007 and February 200the site represented by the November 2007 natifin was settled during 2013. 1
Company was not named in the final settlement aasl mot required to make any payments. It is impésdo determine the ultimate cc
related to the remaining site due to several factoch as the unknown possible magnitude of passdoitamination, the unknown timing
extent of the corrective actions which may be remfjiand the determination of the Company's lighiiti proportion to the other parties. At
present time, the Company does not have suffigrdotmation to form an opinion as to whether it teag/ liability, or the amount of su
liability, if any. However, it is reasonably posisitthat some liability exists.

The Company was also named as one of many potgnésponsible parties in a Superfund Site broumhthe United States Environmer
Protection Agency. Notification for this site wasceived on September 13, 2010 . The Company ceahlifor a speciale minimisparty
settlement at this site and upon payment of appratély $2,000 in 2013, was released from furthesizteration.

The Company does not anticipate any insurance egi@s/to offset the environmental remediation castas incurred. Due to the uncerta
regarding court and regulatory decisions, and ptesduture legislation or rulings regarding the omment, many insurers will not co
environmental impairment risks, particularly in tobemical industry. Hence, the Company has beebl@rta obtain this coverage at
affordable price.

Note 6 Deferred Compensation

The Company has deferred compensation agreemetht€eviain former officers providing for payments the longer of ten yeams life from
age 65 . The present value of such vested futummeats, $261,000 at January 3, 2015 and $271,0D@@mber 28, 2013 , has been accruec
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Note 7 Stock Options, Stock Grants and New Stockdses

A summary of activity in the Company's stock optans is as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Exercise Options Term Value of Options
Price Outstanding (in years) Options Available
At December 31, 2011 $ 11.2¢ 120,80( 8.0 $ 6,44¢ 250,00(
Granted February 9, 2012 $ 11.3¢ 36,74( (36,740
Granted August 21, 2012 $ 12.7: 75,00( (75,000
Exercised $ 10.5( (11,800
Expired $ — — —
At December 29, 2012 $ 11.82 220,74 8.4 $ 367,93 138,26(
Granted February 7, 2013 $ 13.7( 40,59 (40,59
Exercised $ 10.6¢ (15,24))
Expired $ 12.7( (83,35)) 83,35
At December 28, 2013 $ 11.9¢ 162,73t 7.5 $ 582,89: 181,01°
Granted February 20, 2014 $ 14.7¢ 13,79( (23,790
Exercised $ 11.2¢ (17,079
Expired $ 13.7¢ (2,157 2,157
At January 3, 2015 $ 12.2¢ 157,29! 6.9 852,81l 169,38:
Exercisable options $ 11.7¢ 56,781 6.4 $ 337,46
Grant Date Fail
Options expected to vest: Value
At December 29, 2012 $ 11.97 191,74 8.9 $ 6.4C
Granted February 7, 2013 $ 13.7( 40,59 $ 6.3(
Vested $ 11.4¢ (27,34
Forfeited unvested options 12.71 (82,847)
At December 28, 2013 $ 12.1¢ 122,14! 7.8 $ 7.1¢
Granted February 20, 2014 $ 14.7¢ 13,79( $ 6.7C
Vested $ 11.9¢ (33,709
Forfeited unvested options $ 13.7( (1,72
At January 3, 2015 $ 12.5¢ 100,50t 7.2 $ 6.7¢€

The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions outstanding at January 3, 2015 :

Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable Stock Options
Weighted Average
Remaining
Range of Exercise Contractual Life in Weighted Average
Prices Shares Exercise Price Years Shares Exercise Price
$ 11.5¢ 82,34: % 11.5¢ 6.05 42,34; $ 11.5¢
$ 11.3¢ 27,99¢ % 11.3¢ 7.09 8,91z $ 11.3¢
$ 13.7( 33,167 $ 13.7( 8.09 553: $ 13.7(
$ 14.7¢ 13,79C $ 14.7¢ 9.13 —
157,29! 56,781

The 2011 Plan is an incentive stock option plaardfore there are no income tax consequences tGdhgany when an option is grante:
exercised. On February 9, 2012 , the Company giaspgons to purchase 36,740 shares of its comnoak sit an
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exercise price of $11.35 to participants in the2@1lan and an additional 75,000 options were gdaate August 21, 201® the President
Palmer in connection with his employment agreemettt the Company at an exercise price of $12.7he fair value of the option grants w
$5.03 and $5.44 , respectively. The fair valuehef grants were estimated using the Black-Schol@srepricing model based on a rislee
interest rate of 2.04 percent and 1.80 percenspeetively, an expected volatility of 0.53 and 0,5&spectively, with both grants using
expected life of seven years and a dividend yiélel b0 percent .

On February 7, 2013, the Company granted optioqmitohase 40,594 shares of its common stock akertise price of $13.7per share 1
participants in the 2011 Plan. The fair value @ tock option grant was $6.30 . The Black-Schateslel for this grant was based on a risk
free interest rate of 2.00 percent , an expecfeafiseven years, an expected volatility of 0.68 a dividend yield of 1.80 percent .

On February 20, 2014, the Company granted optioqmutchase 13,790 shares of its common stock akartise price of $14.76er share 1
participants in the 2011 Plan. The stock options weist in 20 percenihcrements annually on a cumulative basis, begqoime year after tl
date of the grant. In order for the options to vés employee must be in the continuous employroéthhe Company since the date of
grant. Any portion of the grant that has not vestdtibe forfeited upon termination of employmeiithe Company may terminate any por
of the grant that has not vested upon an employaiise to comply with all conditions of the awaod the 2011 Plan. Shares represel
grants that have not yet vested will be held ir@sdy the Company. An employee will not be enditte any voting rights with respect to :
shares not yet vested, and the shares are notdrable. The per share weighted-average fair vafubis stock option grant was $6.70 he
Black-Scholes model for this grant was based aslafree interest rate of 2.00 percent , an expklite of severyears, an expected volatil
of 0.52 and a dividend yield of 1.80 percent .

In 2014 , 2013 and 2012, options for 17,074 , 1b,@4d 11,80Ghares were exercised by employees and directo@nfaggregate exerc
price of $192,000 , $163,000 and $124,000 , resmdygt The proceeds were generated from cash redesv $42,000 and repurchase9gd9/
shares from employees and directors totaling $TE0i® 2014 , from cash received of $138,000 andnamse of 1,758hares from employe
and directors totaling $25,000 in 2013 and fromhaaseived of $124,000 in 2012. At the 2014 , 2848 2012%espective year ends, option:
purchase 56,787 , 40,591 and 29,000 shares witghtezl average exercise prices of $11.73 , $11.26$40.84, respectively, were ful
exercisable. Compensation cost charged againsiiedmefore taxes for the options was approximat28g1$00 for 2014 , $249,000 fan1:
and $228,000 for 2012 . As of January 3, 2015 rethveas $459,00@f unrecognized compensation cost related to uadestock optior
granted under the Company's stock option plans.Wigighted average period over which the stock optimmpensation cost is expected t
recognized is 2.32 years.

The Company has a 2005 Stock Awards Plan in effieganuary 3, 2015 . A summary of plan activityZ0d.2 , 2013 and 2014 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Shares Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2011 43,57: $ 11.3¢
Vested (11,099 $ 12.6(
Forfeited —

Outstanding at December 29, 2012 32,477 % 10.9¢
Vested (8,160 $ 11.0¢
Forfeited (5,060 10.2(

Outstanding at December 28, 2013 19,25 $ 11.1¢
Granted October 16, 2014 31,08 $ 15.6¢
Granted November 21, 2014 23,66f $ 15.8¢
Vested (7,439 $ 10.6(
Forfeited (260) $ 13.3¢

Outstanding at January 3, 2015 66,40! g 15.0C

The Compensation & Longerm Incentive Committee of the Board of Directofghe Company approves stock grants under the @owp
2005 Stock Awards Plan to certain management erepkopf the Company. On October 16, 2014, 31,08@shaith a market price §15.6¢
per share, were granted under the Plan to the ekifutive officer of the Company. On November 2114, as a result of the acquisitior
Specialty, 23,665 shares, at a market price ofgglper share, were granted under the
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Plan to certain management employees of SpeciHty.stock awards vest in 20 percamrements annually on a cumulative basis, begg
one yearafter the date of grant from shares held in trgasuth the Company. In order for the awards to vés employee must be in
continuous employment of the Company since the ofatiee award. Any portion of an award that haswestted is forfeited upon terminatior
employment. The Company may terminate any portfdh@award that has not vested upon an emplofaise to comply with all conditior
of the award or the 2005 Stock Awards Plan. An ey is not entitled to any voting rights with respto any shares not yet vested, an
shares are not transferable.

Compensation expense on the grants issued is chaggenst earnings equally before forfeituresnif,aover a period of 60 montfiiom the
dates of the grants, with the offset recorded irar8holders’ Equity. Compensation cost charged agantome for the awards w
approximately $103,000 , $66,000 net of income gare $0.01 per share for 2014 , $82,000 , $52r@®f income taxes, or $0.@&r shar
for 2013 and $110,000 , $70,000 net of income tarest0.01 per share, for 2012 . As of January®,52, there was $902,008 total
unrecognized compensation cost related to unvesttel grants under the 2005 Stock Awards Plan.Wéighted average period over wr
the stock grant compensation cost is expected tedmgnized is 4.55 years.

Each year, the Company allows each non-employesetdir to elect up to 100%f their annual retainer in restricted stock. Thaenber o
restricted shares issued is determined by the geeoé the high and low common stock price on the pidor to the Annual Meeting

Shareholders or the date prior to the appointnetitd Board for those individuals that are appaimtéd-term. On April 24, 2014 anfpril 25,
2013 , non-employee directors received an aggregfafe088 and 9,41%hares, respectively, of restricted stock in li€total retainer fees

$111,000 and $128,0Q0espectively. The shares granted to the direamraot registered under the Securities Act of3183d are subject
forfeiture in whole or in part upon the occurrenéeertain events.

On September 30, 2013, the Company closed on agraritten public offering of 2,000,000 shares &f édommon stock at a price $15.7¢
per share. The underwriters also exercised thdiompo purchase and close upon an additional Wsbares of common stock at a pric
$15.75 per share. The Company received net procaftds underwriting discounts and estimated exgensf approximately $34,233,000he
Company used the net proceeds from the offeringuwest approximately $3,500,000 new equipment for the CRI Tolling facility, angec
$18,061,000 to pay off the outstanding balanceherlihe of credit.

Note 8 Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effe€teemporary differences between the carrying am®uifitassets and liabilities for financ
reporting purposes and the amounts used for indam@urposes. Significant components of the Comigaahgferred tax liabilities and as:
are as follows at the respective year ends:

(Amounts in thousands) 2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:
Inventory valuation reserves 303 794
Allowance for doubtful accounts 85 10C
Inventory capitalization 1,50¢ 3,08¢
Environmental reserves 20€ 224
Interest rate swap 41 12¢
Back charge accrual 23 203
Deferred compensation 93 97
Accrued bonus 73¢ —
Facility closing reserves 56¢ —
State net operating loss carryforwards 20€ 142
Other 37C 25¢
Total deferred tax assets 4,13¢ 5,03(
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax over book depreciation and amortization 6,80¢ 8,021
Prepaid expenses 82t 74¢
Other 26 57
Total deferred tax liabilities 7,65¢ 8,821
Net deferred tax liabilities (851) $ (3,79))
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Significant components of the provision for incotages from continuing operations are as follows:

(Amounts in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federal $ 3,93 % 219 $ 1,49
State 65€ 344 23€
Total current 4,58¢ 2,53¢ 1,72¢
Deferred:
Federal 964 (1,119 25(
State (167) (219 (85)
Total deferred 797 (1,32¢) 16t
Total $ 538t $ 1,21C $ 1,89/

The reconciliation of income tax computed at theSUfederal statutory tax rates to income tax egpest

2014 2013 2012

(Amounts in thousands) Amount % Amount % Amount %

Tax at U.S. statutory rates $ 6,30z 35(% $ 1,397 34C(% $ 1,99¢ 34.C%
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 324 1.8% 74 1.6% 10€ 1.€%
Palmer earn-out adjustment (1,217 (6.89% — — % — — %
Bargain gain on CRI acquisition — — % (36€) (8.9% — — %
Manufacturing exemption (45¢) (2.5)% (13¢) (3.9% (180) (3.)%
Stock issuance costs — — % 101 2E% — — %
Stock option compensation 91 0.E% 85 21% 38 0.€%
Uncertain tax positions 13¢ 0.€% — — % — — %
Other, net 20t 1.1% 57 1.4% (68) (1.1)%
Total $ 5,38¢ 29.€% $ 1,21( 29.5% $ 1,894 32.2%

Income tax payments of approximately $2,091,00@,445,000 and $1,991,000 were made in 2014 , 20t32812, respectively. Tr
Company had state net operating loss carryforwardBe end of fiscal years 2014 and 2013 of apprately $50,774,000 and $45,503,000
respectively. These losses will expire betweenydsas of 2017 and 2034. A valuation allowance heenlset up against $45,965,0ffGhes:
state net operating loss carryforwards because itot more likely than not that the losses will fealized in the foreseeable future.
valuation allowance for the net operating lossyfarwards was $1,570,000 at January 3, 2015, aease of $178,000 from the prior year.

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to fdd&ral income tax as well as income tax in rplétstate jurisdictions. The federal sta
of limitations is closed for tax years prior to 20The Company's 2012 and 2013 federal incomeetaxirs are currently being examined by
Internal Revenue Service.
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Provided below is a roll forward of the Companyigertain tax positions.

Unrecognized Interest and
(Amounts in thousands) Tax Benefit Penalties Total

Balance at December 29, 2012 — — —
Increases related to prior year tax positions — — —
Decreases related to prior year tax positions — — —
Increases related to current year tax position — — —
Settlements during period — — —
Lapse of statute of limitations — — —

Balance at December 28, 2013 —
Increases related to prior year tax positions 1,431 73 1,504
Decreases related to prior year tax positions — — —
Increases related to current year tax position — — —
Settlements during period — — —
Lapse of statute of limitations — — —

Balance at January 3, 2015 1,431 73 1,50¢

As of January 3, 2015, the Company's liability darecognized tax benefits was $1,504,000e Company's continuing practice is to reco¢
interest and/or penalties related to income taxtermtin the provision for income taxes. The Comphay no accruals for uncertain
positions including interest and penalties at thé ef 2013. Interest and penalties increased incamexpense by $73,000r the year ende
January 3, 2015. The Company expects a decre&ie5if4,000 for unrecognized tax benefits over #w twelve months.

Note 9 Benefit Plans and Collective Bargaining Agements

The Company has a 401(k) Employee Stock Ownerskip Rhe "401(k)/ESOP Plan") covering all nonion employees. Employees n
contribute to the 401(k)/ESOP Plan up to 100 pdroémheir salary with a maximum of $17,500 for 201Under the Economic Growth &
Tax Relief Reconciliation Act, employees who are &9 or older may contribute an additional $5,560y®ar for a maximum of $23,006r
2014. Contributions by the employees are invested i@ onmore funds at the direction of the employemydver, employee contributic
cannot be invested in Company stock. Contributiopghe Company are made in cash and then usedebyGh(k)/ESOP Plan Trustee
purchase Company stock. The Company contributdsebalf of each eligible participant a matching citmition equal to a percentage whic
determined each year by the Board of Directors. Fir4 , 2013 and 2012 the maximum was four percdrte matching contribution
allocated after each payroll. Matching contribusiarf approximately $521,000 , $550,000 and $390y0&& made for 2014 , 2013 and 2Q12
respectively. The Company may also make a discratjo contribution, which if made, would be distibd to all eligible participan
regardless of whether they contribute to the 40E&PP Plan. No discretionary contributions were entdthe 401(k)/ESOP Plan in 2014
2013 or 2012 . The Company also contributes torusmonsored defined contribution retirement planst@autions relating to these ple
were approximately $2,329,000 , $882,000 and $189for 2014 , 2013 and 2012espectively. As discussed in Note 17, upon ckosy
Bristol Fab, the Company was legally obligated 4y p withdrawal liability to the Union's pensiomélof over $1.9 million This withdrawe
liability is included in the employer contributida the union-sponsored defined contribution retgatrplan for 2014.

The Company has threellective bargaining agreements at its Bristohfiessee and Mineral Ridge, Ohio facility. The nurmdfeemployees «
the Company represented by these unions, locatdieaBristol, Tennessee and Mineral Ridge, Ohidlifes, is 162 , or 35 percemf the
Company's total employees. They are representetivbylocals affiliated with the United Steelworkeasd onelocal affiliated with th
Teamsters. The Company considers relationships igithnion employees to be satisfactory. Collectiagaining contracts for the Uni
Steelworkers will expire in June 2017 and July 20M® Company has given notice to the Teamstetsthlea contract will not be renews
There were two employees represented by this union.
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Note 10 Leases

The Company leases a warehouse facility in Dal®pporgia, property for a manufacturing facility inrd@ge, Texas, office space
Spartanburg, South Carolina and Glen Allen, Virgjrproperty for a storage yard in Mineral Ridgejdddnd various manufacturing and ofi
equipment at each of its locations, all under gregdeases. The amount of future minimum leasemmts under these operating leases ¢
follows: 2015 - $449,000 ; 2016 - $241,000 ; 201182,000 ; 2018 - $26,000 ; and 2019 - $15,0B@nt expense related to operating le
was $903,000 , $1,043,000 and $470,000 in 20143 2bid 2012 respectively. The Company does not have any $ethset are classified
capital leases for any of the periods presentelarconsolidated financial statements.

Note 11 Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is from time-tiime subject to various claims, other possible llegdions for product liability and other damagead othe
matters arising out of the normal conduct of thenfany's business. The Metals Segment recorded ebgiense from continuing operation:
$115,000 and $298,000 for 2014 and 2013, respégtifar specific customers' product claims. Bignificant claims expenses were incu
during 2012. These claim expenses exclude normelyrring warranty charges. Any legal costs assediatith commitments or contingenc
are expensed as incurred.

In November 2012, after almost twelu®nths of collection efforts, the Specialty Cherfscdegment filed suit against a former custome
past due invoices totaling $134,000hat former customer, in turn, filed a varietyaafunterclaims against the Specialty Chemicals ®ex
and alleged $3,000,000 in damages. The Compargdsétis case during 2013 with no cash outlay.

In November 2013, a Metals Segment customer filédagjainst Bristol Metals, LLC in Louisiana staurt alleging damages from breacl!
warranty, among other claims. The plainsftlaim for damages does not state a dollar amdinet.Company filed a counterclaim against
customer for $135,000f past due invoices and successfully removed #se ¢o the United States District Court for the digdDistrict o
Louisiana, where the case is currently pending.

In January 2014, a Metals Segment customer filé#dagainst Palmer and another unrelated defendaitkas state court alleging breac
warranty, among other claims. The plainsftlaim for damages does not state a dollar amadinig. matter arises out of products manufact
and sold by Palmer prior to the Compangitquisition of Palmer. As such, the sellers dfneaare contractually bound in the SPA to indey
the Company for any and all costs, including aggeifees, which may arise out of this matter. The dasmirrently pending in Texas st
court.

In September 2014, a Metals Segment customerdilédagainst Synalloy Fabrication, LLC (discontidwaperation) and its surety in the Uni
States District Court for the District of Marylaf@altimore Division) alleging breach of contractang other claims. The plaintiff's claim
damages is approximately $4,000,000his matter arises from a disagreement over tlopes of a pipe fabrication project and whethe
enforceable contract exists between both partiess. dase is currently pending in federal court iariMand. The estimated costs associated
this claim are included in the facility closing eese explained in the next paragraph.

As discussed in Note 17, the Company closed ortsadnanufacturing facilities during 2014. A closingeesge was established at that time
projected costs which may be incurred as a restiitese closures. Approximately $1,570,000 remairaccrued expenses at January 3, 2015

Other than the environmental contingencies discuss&lote 5 and the matters discussed in this Ndtananagement is not currently awar
any other asserted or unasserted matters whick bawie a significant effect on the financial coiaditor results of operations of the Company
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Note 12 Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings per share:

2014 2013 2012
Numerator:
Net income from continuing operations $ 12,618,78 $ 2,898,04i $ 3,982,88
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations,afieax $ (7,156,52) $ (1,137,48) $ 252,02¢
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighteslage shares 8,702,09 6,941,79 6,341,85!
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options and stock grants 13,00¢ 5,61( 52,48t
Denominator for diluted earnings per share - weidhgverage shares 8,715,10: 6,947,40. 6,394,34.
Earnings per share from continuing operations
Basic $ 14t ¢ 04z $ 0.6%
Diluted $ 14t ¢ 04z $ 0.62
Loss (earnings) per share from discontinued opmrati
Basic $ (0.829) $ (0.1¢) $ 0.04
Diluted $ (0.82) % (0.16) % 0.0¢

The diluted earnings per share calculations excthdeeffect of potentially dilutive shares when thelusion of those shares in the calculs
would have an anti-dilutive effect. The Company haeighted average shares of common stock of 4693014 , 161,084 in 2018nc
231,200 in 2012 , which were not included in tHetdd earnings per share calculation as their effeas anti-dilutive.

Note 13 Industry Segments

The Company operates in twincipal industry segments: metals and specidiignicals. The Company identifies such segmentsdbar
products and services. The Metals Segment cordiS§gnalloy Metals, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiavizich owns 100 percenf BRISMET
Palmer and Specialty, both wholbyvned subsidiaries of the Company. BRISMET manufast pipe from stainless steel and other al
Palmer produces fiberglass and steel storage tankisSpecialty is a master distributor of seamtasbon pipe and tube. The Metal Segm
products, many of which are custom-produced toviddial orders and required for corrosive and haginity processes, are used principally
the chemical, petrochemical, pulp and paper, mingogver generation (including nuclear), water arastewater treatment, liquid natural
brewery, food processing, petroleum, pharmaceutiwal other industries. Products include pipe, g®rtanks and a variety of otl
components. The Specialty Chemicals Segment censfsiManufacturers Soap and Chemical Company, dlywbwned subsidiary of tt
Company which owns 100 percesit MC, and CRI Tolling, LLC, a wholly owned subsady of the Company. The Specialty Chemi
Segment manufactures a wide variety of specialgnibals for the carpet, chemical, paper, metalgjngi agricultural, fiber, paint, textil
automotive, petroleum, cosmetics, mattress, fur@jtianitorial and other industries.

Segment operating income is the segment's tot@niey less operating expenses, excluding intergsnse and income taxes. ldentifit
assets, all of which are located in the Unitede3tadire those assets used in operations by eatlesed he Metals Segment's identifiable a:
include goodwill of $21,895,000 and $15,898,00@@14 and 2013 respectively, and the Specialty Chemicals Segmédentifiable asse
include goodwill of $1,355,000 in 2014 and 2013®n€alized data processing and accounting expemsealocated to the tweegments bas
upon estimates of their percentage of usage. Wahd corporate expenses include environmentalnmiecof $13,000 for 2014nc
environmental charges of $17,000 and $46,000 fat32&nd 2012, respectively. Corporate assets consist pringipafl cash, certa
investments, and equipment.

One customer accounted for ten percent of the Bl&agment's revenues in 2013. There were no cugarm@esenting more thaen percer
of the Metals Segment's revenues in2014 and 20IBe. Specialty Chemicals Segment has doenestic customer that accounted
approximately 31 percent of revenues for 2014 withifferent domestic customer representing 40 etk
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revenues for 2013, and 28 percent of revenues 112 20he change in customers resulted from two ofttinee product lines which use
products being sold to another company in early420lhe Specialty Chemicals Segment successfullgimed the acquiring compan
business. This new customer is a large global compand the purchases by this customer are defreed two different business units t
operate autonomously from each other. Even so, ¢bsthis customer's revenues would have a matadakerse effect on the Speci:
Chemicals Segment and the Company.

In order to establish stronger business relatigpsstthe Metals Segment uses only a few raw matgujgbliers. Seven suppliers furnish ab®2it
percent of total dollar purchases of raw materialth one supplier furnishing 42 perceriiowever, the Company does not believe that ths
of this supplier would have a materially adverdeafon the Company as raw materials are readdylabvle from a number of different sourc
and the Company anticipates no difficulties iniflifg its requirements. For the Specialty Chenscdegment, most raw materials are gene
available from numerous independent suppliers &odia49 percent of total purchases are from itseightsuppliers. While some raw mate
needs are met by a sole supplier or only a fewlgmpthe Company anticipates no difficulties utfifling its raw material requirements.
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Segment Information:

All values are for continuing operations only.

(Amounts in thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Net sales
Metals Segment $ 134,30« $ 140,23. % 114,78t
Specialty Chemicals Segment 65,20 56,51¢ 51,37«
$ 199,50! $ 196,75. $ 166,16:
Operating income
Metals Segment $ 1351, % 1,26 $ 5,66(
Specialty Chemicals Segment 6,13( 5,74: 4,84:
19,64 7,00¢ 10,50
Less unallocated corporate expenses 3,292 3,24: 3,16
Operating income 16,34¢ 3,76: 7,33¢
Acquisition related costs 30z 264 881
Interest expense 1,092 1,357 601
Change in fair value of interest rate swap 42¢€ (747) 114
Palmer earn-out adjustment (3,476 — —
Gain on bargain purchase, net of taxes — (1,077) —
Other income, net — (14¢) (13%)
Income before income taxes $ 18,00t $ 4,10¢ $ 5,87

Identifiable assets

Metals Segment $ 145,55¢ $ 111,95:
Specialty Chemicals Segment 32,50¢ 28,04
Corporate 9,781 10,49¢
Assets held for sale — 12,76¢
$ 187,84¢ % 163,26(
Depreciation and amortization
Metals Segment $ 4,07¢ % 3,80¢ % 2,33¢
Specialty Chemicals Segment 974 65¢ 43¢
Corporate 13¢ 204 18¢
$ 5191 $ 4,672 $ 2,96
Capital expenditures
Metals Segment $ 3,12: $ 4,19/ $ 3,35
Specialty Chemicals Segment 4,91z 1,397 1,06¢
Corporate 30 57 125
$ 8,06¢ $ 564¢ $ 4,54;
Geographic sales
United States $ 191,03: $ 189,44° $ 156,79!
Elsewhere 8,47: 7,304 9,36
$ 199,50 $ 196,75. $ 166,16:
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Note 14 Quarterly Results (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of quarterly continuiogerations for 2014 and 2013 :

Second
(Amounts in thousands except for per share data) First Quarter Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarte
2014
Net sales from continuing operations $ 49,79¢ $ 52,68t $ 48,45. $ 48,56¢
Gross profit from continuing operations 7,60: 8,957 8,12 8,24
Net income from continuing operations 2,25( 5,78: 3,171 1,40¢
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, ndbgf (473 (5,389 (1,899 59¢
Net income 1,77¢ 40C 1,27¢ 2,001
Per common share from continuing operations
Basic 0.2¢€ 0.6€ 0.3¢€ 0.1¢€
Diluted 0.2¢ 0.6€ 0.3¢€ 0.1¢€
Per common share from discontinued operations
Basic (0.0%) (0.62) (0.22) 0.07
Diluted (0.0%) (0.62) (0.22) 0.07
2013
Net sales from continuing operations $ 50,65: $ 50,48 $ 4921: $ 46,40:
Gross profit from continuing operations 6,111 5,751 5,16¢ 2,77
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 1,22¢ 1,28t 1,481 (1,097%)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, naagf 23¢€ 62€ (19 (1,987)
Net income 1,46t 1,91z 1,461 (3,079
Per common share from continuing operations
Basic 0.1¢ 0.2C 0.2: (0.13)
Diluted 0.1¢ 0.2C 0.2t (0.13)
Per common share from discontinued operations
Basic 0.04 0.1C 0.0C (0.23)
Diluted 0.04 0.1C 0.0C (0.23)

Note 15 Interest Rate Swaps

As discussed in Note 3, as a result of the CRI ia@ttqan and in conjunction with the term loan olid in August 2013, to mitigate -
variability of the interest rate risk, the Compamtered into the CRI swap on August 9, 2013 wilcitrrent bank. The CRI swap has an ir
notional amount of $4,033,000 with a fixed intereste of 4.83 percent and a term of terars that expires on August 19, 2023. Alsc
discussed in Note 3, as a result of the Palmerisitign and in conjunction with the term loan obid in August 2012 to mitigate 1
variability of the interest rate risk, the Compamtered into the Palmer swap on August 21, 2012 its current bank. The Palmer swap ha
initial notional amount of $22,500,000 with a fixederest rate of 3.74 percent , and a term ofytars that expires on August 21, 202the
notional amounts of both interest rate swaps deeraa monthly principal payments are made.

Although the swaps are expected to effectively atffgariable interest in the borrowing, hedge actiognwill not be utilized. Therefor
changes in their fair value are recorded in curassets or liabilities, as appropriate, with cqrogsling offsetting entries to other expense.
Company recorded a liability of $215,000 and $80,f20 the fair value of the CRI swap as of
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January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, respectiVely Company recorded an asset of $11,000 and G8BDfbr the fair value of the Palrr
swap at January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013 aagly.

Note 16 Acquisitions

Acquisition of Specialty Pipe & Tube, Inc.

On November 21, 2014the Company entered into a stock purchase agrgewith Davidson to purchase all of the issued auotstandin
stock of Specialty. Established in 1964 with disition centers in Mineral Ridge, Ohio and Housfbexas, Specialty is a master distributc
seamless carbon pipe and tube, with a focus onyheall, large diameter products. The Company vighes Specialty acquisition as
excellent complement to the product offerings & Retals segment with similar end markets and stesi profit margins. Specialty's res
of operations since the acquisition date are redten the Company's consolidated statements aitipas, and the Specialty acquisition ac
approximately 30 employees at January 3, 2015.

The purchase price for the all-cash acquisition aggroximately $31,500,000 , subject to workingieaadjustments postlosing. Davidso
has the potential to receive earn-out paymentoup tbtal of $5,000,000 if Specialty achieves terdesales revenue over a twear perio
following closing. At the end of each year (basedttie acquisition date) for the next two yearsSpkcialty's revenues for the year is gre
than $27,000,000 for the year, the seller of Syityaidll be paid the product of the amount of reuerduring the year in excess of $27,000,00(
as a percentage of $2,000,000 , multiplied by $2(BW , not to exceed $2,500,000 . No emuhpayment will be paid for any year wh
revenue is less than or equal to $27,000,000helfcmulative revenue for the earn-out periodsestgr than $58,000,00@he Company wi
make an additional earn-out payment so that ttaé toimulative earmut payments equals the product of the amount wiutative revenue fi
all earn-out periods in excess of $54,000,0005 psrcentage of $4,000,000 , multiplied by $5,000,0not to exceed a total cumulative earr
out payment of $5,000,000 . The Company is culyeiotiecasting earn-out payments totaling $5,000,08bich was discounted to a pres
value of $4,774,000 using our incremental borrowiate of three percent . The various assumptioms mnojections used in the eaond
projections were reviewed at January 3, 2015 witkadditional adjustments required. Any future clentp the projected eaout payments i

a result of our quarterly review of the forecastedenues would be reflected as an adjustment toregr in that period. The financial results
Specialty are reported as a part of the Compangtslsl Segment.

The purchase price for the acquisition was fundedugh a combination of cash on hand, a new team leith the Company's bank anc
increase to the Company's current credit facilibjoh is discussed in Note 3.

A summary of sources and uses of proceeds fordtpeisition of Specialty is as follows:

Sources of funds:

Cash on hand $ 21,490,43
Proceeds of term loan 10,000,00
Total sources of funds $ 31,490,43

Uses of funds:

Acquisition of Specialty's common stock $ 27,496,00
Cash paid to escrow agent for potential futurenc&aito be settled within 18 months 3,248,501
Cash paid for a portion of the seller's investniamrtker fee 745,93
Total uses of funds $ 31,490,43
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The total purchase price was allocated to Spetdattyt tangible and identifiable assets based @in fhir values as of November 21, 2014n
intangible asset representing the fair value ofciily's customer base acquired by the Companyvahsed at $11,457,000which is bein
amortized by the straight-line method over a \i€ar period. The excess of the consideration teasresi over the fair value of the net tang
and identifiable assets and intangible assetsfiected as goodwill. All of the goodwill was alldea to the Metals Segment. Since
Company treated the acquisition of Specialty asgset purchase, goodwill will be deductible for paxposes. The current allocation of
total consideration paid to the fair value of tlssets acquired and liabilities assumed is as faliow

Purchase accounting

As recorded by and fair value As recorded by
Specialty adjustments Synalloy

Cash $ 12,96( $ — 3 12,96(
Accounts receivable, net 2,827,25. — 2,827,25
Inventories, net 17,041,66 (1,516,88) 15,524,77
Fixed assets 3,018,41 (67,929 2,950,49:
Goodwill — 5,993,70! 5,993,70!
Intangible asset - customer base — 11,457,00 11,457,00
Contingent consideration — (4,773,62) (4,773,62)
Other liabilities assumed (2,502,12) — (2,502,12)
$ 20,398,16 % 11,092,27 $ 31,490,43

The purchase accounting and fair value adjustmfentixed assets reduced the book value of the gntgpand buildings to their estimated
value as of the acquisition date. Contingent carsitibn is the present value of the projected eatrpayments to Davidson.

The amount of Specialty's revenues andtpreearnings included in the consolidated statesnefibperations for the year ended Janua
2015 was $2,524,000 for revenues and $493,000réstgx earnings. The following unaudited gooma information is provided to preser
summary of the combined results of the Company&aijpns with Specialty as if the acquisition hatwred on December 30, 2012. -
unaudited prderma financial information is for information purpes only and is not necessarily indicative of whatresults would have be
had the acquisition been completed on the dateatelil above.

Pro-Forma (Unaudited)

2014 2013
Pro-forma revenues from continuing operations $ 228,647,000 $ 224,570,00
Pro-forma net income from continuing operations 8,928,001 6,459,00!
Earnings per share from continuing operations:
Basic $ 1.8 $ 0.9:
Diluted $ 18t $ 0.9z

The pro-forma calculation excludes non-recurringusition costs of $302,00@hich were incurred by the Company during 2014. st
expenditures included $92,000r professional audit fees associated with theitamfdSpecialty's historical financial statemerasquisitior
testing and intangible assets identification anthation, $83,000 of legal fees, $65,00D0success based fees to a mergers and acqL
consultant and $62,000f travel costs. Specialty's historical financiasults were adjusted for both years to eliminatanigible ass
amortization and management fees charged by tbe giner. Prdorma net income was reduced for both years fomtheunt of amortizatic
on Specialty's current customer list intangible andestimated amount of interest expense associatiedhe fiveyear term loan and earn
liability.

Acquisition of Color Resources, LLC

In August 2013, the Company completed the purcludissibstantially all of the assets of CRI and tHel €acility. CRI Tolling, a Sout
Carolina limited liability company and wholly-ownesdbsidiary of the Company, will continue CRBusiness as that of a toll manufacturer
provides outside manufacturing resources to glahdlregional chemical companies. On August 9, 2@yalloy purchased the CRI Faci
for a total purchase price of $3,450,000 . On Au@és 2013, the Company purchased certain assets and assamanh operating liabilities
CRI through CRI Tolling for a total purchase prige$1,100,000. The assets purchased from CRI included accoewctsivable, inventor
certain other assets, and equipment, net of asspagables. The Company used the acquisition of &Rl the CRI Facility to expand
production capacity from MC's Cleveland, Tennessee
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facility to further penetrate existing markets,veall as develop new ones, including those in thergnindustry. CRI Tolling operates a
division of the Companyg Specialty Chemicals Segment, which includes Mi@& Tompany viewed both the building and operatsapts ¢
CRI together as one business, capable of providimgturn to ownership by expanding the segmentdyation capacity. Accordingly, t
acquisition meets the definition of a business #mredtransaction is structured in a way it that mebé definition of a business combina
under in accordance with FASB Accounting Stand&uddification 805Business Combinations

The purchase price for the acquisition of CRI am&l €RI Facility was funded through a new term l@ath the Companys bank which i
discussed in Note 3 along with an increase in v @any’s line of credit.

A summary of sources and uses of proceeds fordipaisition of CRI and the CRI Facility is as follew

Sources of funds:

Proceeds from term loan $ 4,033,251
Proceeds from line of credit 516,75(
Total sources of funds $ 4,550,001

Uses of funds:

Acquisition of CRI Facility $ 3,450,001
Acquisition of certain CRI assets, net of assuniegailities 1,100,001
Amount received by Company for pro-rated propeaties at close $ (22,000
Total uses of funds $ 4,528,001

The total consideration transferred was allocate@RI's net tangible and identifiable assets based dnfdie value as of August 26, 201
The allocation of the total consideration to thie ¥alue of the assets acquired and liabilitiesiassd as of August 26, 2013 is as follows:

Purchase accounting

Purchased CRI and fair value As recorded by

As recorded by CRI Facility adjustments Synalloy
Accounts receivable, net $ 623,53¢ $ — % — 3 623,53
Inventories, net 232,77: — — 232,77:
Prepaid expenses 11,69¢ — — 11,69¢
Building and land — 3,450,001 650,00( 4,100,001
Equipment, net 614,99¢ — 1,028,08: 1,643,08!
Accounts payable (365,89)) — — (365,899
Accrued liabilities (17,105 — — (17,109
Deferred tax liability — — (600,75() (600,75()
$ 1,100,000 $ 3,450,000 $ 1,077,33. $ 5,627,33

52




Due to severe financial difficulties CRI was expeding prior to the acquisition, the Company wale ab purchase the land, building i
equipment at below market value. Therefore, theallv&ir value of the assets acquired by the Camypaxceeded the amount paid. Upor
determination that the Company was going to recmi gain related to the bargain purchase of CRItha CRI Facility, the Compa
reassessed its assumptions and measurement dfigddatassets acquired and liabilities assumedamtluded that the preliminary valuat
procedures and resulting measures were appropbageto the bargain purchase accounting rulesgediore gain, net of taxes, was recogni
during year ended December 28, 2013 as follows:

Fair value of net assets acquired $ 5,627,33
Total consideration paid (4,550,00)
Bargain purchase gain, net of taxes $ 1,077,33

The amount of CRI's revenues and pa&-earnings included in the Consolidated StatesnehiOperations for the year ended Decembe
2013 was $1,824,000 for revenues and $144,000réstap earnings. The following unaudited pro formaomfation is provided to preser
summary of the combined results of the Compamygerations with CRI as if the acquisition hadusged on January 1, 2012. The unautc
pro forma financial information is for informatiolngurposes only and is not necessarily indicatifvevioat the results would have been hac
acquisition been completed on the date indicatedab

Pro Forma (Unaudited)

2013 2012
Pro forma revenues $ 223,969,00 $ 204,850,00
Pro forma net income 1,230,00! 3,599,001
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 0.1¢ $ 0.57
Diluted $ 0.1¢ $ 0.5¢

The pro-forma calculation excludes non-recurringjuasition costs of $255,000 during 2013. These edjares included $113,00fbr
professional audit fees associated with the add@Ri's historical financial statements and theuafibn of assets acquired, $70,0etated t
bank fees associated with the swap agreement, 858f0legal fees and other various charges of ®10,0hese expenses were all recorde
the corporate level and are included as a seplamatéem in the consolidated statements of opendsti

Acquisition of Palmer of Texas

On August 21, 2012the Company completed the purchase of all obiitstanding shares of capital stock of Palmer. Baisia manufactur
of liquid storage solutions and separation equignfen the petroleum, municipal water, wastewatdrernical and food industries. 1
Company viewed the Palmer acquisition as an exgelemplement to the Metals Segment as both corapasgrvice many of the sa
markets and the Company has the ability to drivienBaefficiencies in purchasing and operationsnfeals results of operations since
acquisition date are reflected in the Company'ssclidated statements of operations, and the Patroguisition added approximatehBC
employees at December 29, 2012. Effective Janugrg@13, Lee-Var, Inc. changed its name to Palmh&egas Tanks, Inc.

The purchase price for the acquisition was $25@ X5, The adjustment for working capital increatiesl purchase price to $26,951,200
addition, the amount of maintenance expenditures tve 18 month period following closing and the final co$taoproduction expansi
capital project currently underway could also resunlpurchase price adjustments. Currently, the @amy does not expect to realize
material purchase price adjustments from theseitemos. The sellers of Palmer will also have thditghio receive earmsut payments rangi
from $2,500,000 to $10,500,000 if the business acitieves targeted levels of Adjusted EBITDA, andel in the SPA, over a threeal
period following closing; and the Company will hate ability to claw-back portions of the purch@siee over a twoyear period followin
closing if Adjusted EBITDA falls below baseline klg. Palmer had recorded liabilities of approxitat®l.2 million related to certa
contingencies for which the former Palmer sharedisichave agreed to indemnify the Company. Accolgirtpe Company has carried o
these liabilities in its consolidated financialtstaents and has recorded an asset of approxing&itetymillionin prepaid expenses reflecting
indemnification against these potential paymentstiny 2013, several of the identified contingentmis were resolved and the amour
prepaid expenses for these indemnified contingsragereased to $336,000 at the end of 2013.
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At the end of each year (based on the acquisitaie)dor the thregears after the acquisition, if Palmer's Adjustdal DA for the year i
below $5,825,000 , there will not be an earn-outl par that year. If Adjusted EBITDA for the yeas greater than $5,825,0@01t less tha
$6,825,000 , the sellers of Palmer will be paid5$R,000 for that year. If Adjusted EBITDA exceed8R5,000 for the year, the eavnt
would be $3,500,000 . At the conclusion of the ¢hwgear earn-out period, in the event that the dative Adjusted EBITDA for the earaul
period is more than $17,475,000 , the sellers &MPawill receive an additional eaout payment, if any, as follows. In the event ttre
cumulative Adjusted EBITDA for the earn-out periedgreater than $17,475,000 but less than $20,805,8dhe Company will make
additional earn-out payment so that the total catwé earn-out payments for the three -year eatnpeuiod equals $7,500,000If the
cumulative Adjusted EBITDA exceeds $20,475,000e, @ompany will make an additional earn-out paynsenthat the total cumulative earn:
out payments for the three -year period equals58D0000 . At acquisition, the Company forecasteath-eat payments totaling $8,500,000
which was discounted to a present value of $8,TERGsing its incremental borrowing rate of two petc. The first year earodt of
$2,500,000 (before the downward adjustment fornmaiécation claims) was paid in 2013, leaving ameaut liability balance of $6,000,0G0
the end of 2013. As discussed in Note 1, duringthinee months ended June 28, 2014, the Compangwetlithe Palmer eaout reserve fc
the second and third year payments and determieeEBTIDA threshold target of $5,825,0f20 Year 2 would not be attained, and there
the earn-out payment of $2,500,000 Year 2 was not made to the former Palmer sliddehs. As a result, the Company recognized a of
approximately $3,476,000 for adjusting the eamtiability to the present value of the Compargsrent estimates. The Company does
expect Palmer to meet the EBITDA threshold tarde®6825,000 during the final twelve month eawrt- period; however, it should reach
$5,825,000 threshold for year three. Any futurenges to the projected eaomt payments as a result of our quarterly revieviooécaste
Adjusted EBITDA would be reflected as an adjustntergarnings in that period.

The purchase price for the Palmer acquisition wasléd through an increase in the Company's cucrenit facility and a new term loan w
the Company's bank which is discussed in Note 3.

The total purchase price was allocated to Palmet'sangible and identifiable assets based on #stimated fair values as of August 21, 2012
An intangible asset representing the fair valu®alimer's customer base acquired by the Companyalaed at $9,000,000which is bein
amortized over a 15/ear period using an accelerated amortization ntethbe excess of the consideration transferred thefair value of th
net tangible and identifiable assets and intangiskeets is reflected as goodwill. The Company besieghe amount of goodwill resulting fri
the purchase price allocation is attributable te workforce of the acquired business (which is eliible for separate recognition as
identifiable asset) and the expected synergistiefiks of being able to leverage Palmer's expertigie the Company's existing manufactui
processes. All of the goodwill was allocated to Metals Segment. Since the Company purchased duk sff Palmer, goodwill is n
deductible for tax purposes. The allocation of tiital consideration paid to the fair value of tissets acquired and liabilities assumed wi
follows:

Purchase accounting

As recorded by and fair value As recorded by
Palmer adjustments Synalloy
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,389,05. $ — 1,389,05.
Accounts receivable, net 4,969,03! — 4,969,03!
Inventories, net 5,678,36! — 5,678,36:
Prepaid expenses 75,80« 1,536,00! 1,611,80.
Net fixed assets 4,799,69: 2,691,37! 7,491,06;
Goodwill — 15,897,94 15,897,94
Intangible asset - customer base — 9,000,001 9,000,00!
Contingent consideration — (8,152,03) (8,152,03)
Other liabilities assumed (6,833,31) (3,156,71) (9,990,02)
$ 10,078,63 $ 17,816,57 $ 27,895,20

The purchase accounting and fair value adjustmanpifepaid expenses represents the indemnificgiomided by the sellers of Palmer
certain liabilities assumed at acquisition, as rioeatd earlier in this note, plus the Controllegention bonus. The adjustment for net f
assets increased the book value of the properaintmnd equipment to their estimated fair valueofaghe acquisition date. Conting
consideration is the present value of projectech-eat payments to the prior owners of Palmer. Theonitgj of the adjustments to ott
liabilities assumed represents current and defen@ame taxes inherent with the acquisition.

The amount of Palmer's revenues andtpreearnings included in the consolidated statesnehbperations for the year ended Decembe
2012 was $12,619,000 for revenues and $977,000réstax earnings. The following unaudited pro forma
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information is provided to present a summary ofdbmbined results of the Company's operations Rélmer as if the acquisition had occu
on January 2, 2011The unaudited pro forma financial informatiorfds information purposes only and is not necesgéaniflicative of what th
results would have been had the acquisition bempt=ied on the date indicated above.

Pro Forma (Unaudited)

2012 2011
Pro forma revenues $ 220,955,000 $ 202,689,00
Pro forma net income 5,537,00! 6,478,00!
Earnings per share:
Basic $ 087 $ 1.0z
Diluted 0.87 1.0Z

The pro-forma calculation excludes non-recurringjugsition costs of $881,000 during 2012. These edjiares included $355,00fr
professional audit fees associated with due ditgepreparation and audit of historical financialtements and intangible asset identifice
and valuation, $337,000 related to bank fees astmmtivith the swap agreement, $93,000 of legal &5 0000f travel costs and other varic
charges of $71,000 These expenses were all recorded at the corptaeté and are included as a separate line iterthénconsolidate
statements of operations.

Note 17 Dispositions and Closures

On August 29, 2014, the Company completed theafaddl of the issued and outstanding membershigrasts of its wholly owned subsidi
Ram-Fab to a subsidiary of Primoris Services Capan ("Primoris”). The transaction was valued essl than $10 million whick
consideration included cash at closing, Synallapidity to receive potential future earn-out payiighand the retention of specified R&ak
current assets. The Company realized a one-timgehn the third quarter of 2014 of $1,996,3060 costs associated with the closure pl
$947,000 charge to write-off the Company's investne Ram-Fab. These charges, along with all newréng expenses associated with Ran
Fab are included in the respective consolidateainfiral statements as discontinued operations. oh@p of RamFab's assets and liabilit
which were sold to Primoris have been presentedraggly as assets and liabilities held for salehenCompany's 2013 consolidated bal;
sheet. Ram-Fab was reported as a part of the Matgiment.

On June 27, 2014, the Company completed the plaolosdre of Bristol Fab. Bristol Fab's collectivarpaining agreement with the Un
expired on February 15, 2014. Also, upon closur¢hef operation, the Company was legally obligateghdy a withdrawal liability to tt
Union's pension fund of over $1.9 million . The Gmany realized a one-time charge in the second guaft2014 of $6,988,00fbr cost:
associated with the closure of Bristol Fab. Thes&ts; along with all nonecurring expenses associated with Bristol Fab,redieded in th
respective consolidated financial statements aodiswued operations. Bristol Fab was reported arbof the Metals Segment.

The Company's results from discontinued operattwasummarized below:

2014 2013 2012
Net sales $ 21,963,07 $ 23,998,37 $ 31,496,73
(Loss) income before income taxes $ (10,963,52) $ (1,949,48) $ 464,02
(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (3,807,00) (812,000 212,00(
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations $ (7,156,52) $ (1,137,48) $ 252,02
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Assets and liabilities of discontinued operatioresevcomprised of the following at December 28, 2013

December 28,

2013
Assets
Cash $ 3,02(
Accounts receivable, net 4,165,87!
Inventories, net 4,360,89.
Prepaid expenses 20,28¢
Current assets held for sale 8,550,07
Property, plant and equipment, net 3,218,09!
Goodwill 1,000,001
Assets held for sale 4,218,09!
Total assets held for sale $ 12,768,17
Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 989,71
Advances from customers 209,21:
Accrued expenses 119,94
Current liabilities held for sale $ 1,318,871

Note 18 Payment of Dividends

On November 13, 2014 , the Company's Board of Birecvoted to pay an annual dividend of $0.30 pares which was paid dbecember ¢
2014 to holders of record on November 24, 2014aftotal of $2,633,000 . In 2013 , the Company @afD.26 cash dividend ddecember !
2013 for a total of $2,260,000 and in 2012 , thenBany paid a $0.25 cash dividend on December 11®, #iF a total payment of $1,596,000 .
The Board presently plans to review at the endathedfiscal year the financial performance and ehpieeded to support future growtt
determine the amount of cash dividend, if any, Whscappropriate.

Note 19 Subsequent Events

On February 10, 2015 , the Compensation & Ldegm Incentive Committee of the Company's Boardwokctors approved stock opti
grants under the 2011 Plan. Options for a tota@2)531 shares, with an exercise price of $1p&xishare, were granted under the 2011 PI
certain management employees of the Company. Dok sptions will vest in 20 perceiricrements annually on a cumulative basis, begg
one year after the date of grant. In order fordhons to vest, the employee must be in the cantis employment of the Company since
date of the grant. Any portion of the grant thas hat vested will be forfeited upon terminationesfiployment. The Company may termir
any portion of the grant that has not vested upomrraployee's failure to comply with all conditioakthe award or the 2011 Plan. Shi
representing grants that have not yet vested wilhéld in escrow by the Company. An employee vatl Ipe entitled to any voting rights w
respect to any shares not yet vested, and thesshegenot transferable. The per share weightentage fair value of this stock option grant
$6.39 . The Black-Scholes model for this grant based on a risk-free interest rate of two percantexpected life of sevemars, an expect
volatility of 0.46 and a dividend yield of 2.00 pent . Compensation expense totaling $208,@00be recorded against earnings equally
the following 60 months from the date of grant wthie offset recorded in Shareholders' Equity.
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Management's Annual Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for piregahe Company's annual consolidated financiakestants and for establishing :
maintaining adequate internal control over finahm@orting for the Company. Management has evatu#tte effectiveness of the Compa
internal control over financial reporting as of dary 3, 2015 based on criteria establishebhiarnal Control —Integrated Framework (199
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatadrtke Treadway Commission ("COSO"). As permitbgdguidance provided by the si
of the SEC, the scope of management's assessmiaté¢rofal control over financial reporting as ofdary 3, 2015 has excluded the opera
of Specialty from its assessment of internal cdstaver financial reporting as of January 3, 20i&cause Specialty was acquired by
Company in November 2014. Specialty constitute@4lof consolidated net sales for the year endedaigr8) 2015, and 20.5% of consolide
total assets as of January 3, 2015.

Based on the deficiency identified during this esgilon and set forth below, management has condltise we did not maintain effecti
internal control over financial reporting as of dary 3, 2015.

All internal control systems, no matter how welkimed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, etrerse systems determined to be effes
can provide only reasonable assurance with regpefthancial statement preparation and presenta#iodeficiency in internal control ov
financial reporting exists when the design or openaof a control does not allow management or eygés, in the normal course
performing their assigned functions, to preventi@ect misstatements on a timely basis. A materkness is a deficiency, or a combine
of deficiencies, in internal control over financiaporting, such that there is a reasonable pdisgitihat a material misstatement of
company's annual or interim financial statementbneit be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

In its evaluation, management concluded that, agaoiary 3, 2015, there was a material weaknesaiirinternal control over financ
reporting related to the accounting for businessiliinations. We did not maintain effective intermantrols pertaining to accounting
business combinations sufficient to provide reabtmassurance that an appropriate review was coeduaf the business combinat
accounting. Our analysis indicated the issued dafeaed financial statements are not materiallystaited.

The material weakness was identified by managemeianuary 2015 relating to the accounting forabeuisition of Specialty that was clo:
on November 21, 2014. The material weakness begadoivember 2014 and continued through the compiedbthe accounting for tl
business combination which was finalized in Feby28r15. Management is taking steps to remediasentlaiterial weakness as detailed in
9A. Notwithstanding this material weakness, we haedormed additional analysis and other procedirenable management to conclude
our consolidated financial statements includechia 2014 Form 10k fairly present, in all material respects, ourdfircial condition and resu
of operations as of and for the year ended Jarja2915.

The effectiveness of the Company's internal comtvelr financial reporting as of January 3, 2015, beeen audited by its independent regis
public accounting firm, as stated in its reporfuged in this Form 10-K on page 59.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Synalloy Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Synalloy Corporation and subsidigthes “Company”)as of January 3, 2015 ¢
December 28, 2013, and the related consolidatednséamts of operations, shareholders’ equity and fasvs for each of the years in the thress
period ended January 3, 2015. The Companmyanagement is responsible for these consolidimi@acial statements. Our responsibility is to egxra
opinion on these consolidated financial statemeased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBoUnited States). Those standards re
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtnassurance about whether the financial statsnaea free of material misstatement. An ¢
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgahe amounts and disclosures in the finansialements. An audit also includes assessir
accounting principles used and significant estismatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfinancial statement presentation. We bel
that our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all mategspects, the financial position of the Compasyi
January 3, 2015 and December 28, 2013, and thtedetansolidated statements of operations, shatetsdequity and cash flows for each of the y
in the threeyear period ended January 3, 2015, in conformity\accounting principles generally accepted inWinéed States of America. Also,
our opinion, the related financial statement schedisted in ltem 15(a)2, when considered in relatio the basic consolidated financial staten
taken as a whole, presents fairly in all mateeapects the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@dnited States), the Compansyinterna
control over financial reporting as of January 81%, based on criteria establishedriternal Control-Integrated Framework (1998sued by th
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread®ommission (COSO), and our report dated Margl2QI5, expressed an adverse opinio
the effectiveness of the Company's internal cortvelr financial reporting. Our report on internahtrol over financial reporting refers to the féta
we excluded from the scope of our audit of inte@itrol over financial reporting at Specialty P§elube, which was acquired by the Compan
November 2014

/s/ Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 17, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Synalloy Corporation

We have audited Synalloy Corporation and subsisa(the “Company”jnternal control over financial reporting as of dary 3, 2015, based
criteria established irnternal Control-Integrated Framework (19923sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohghe Treadws
Commission (COSO). The Compasymanagement is responsible for maintaining effectnternal control over financial reporting and fits
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cowwel financial reporting, included in the accomyag Managemen$ Annual Report on Interr
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsipilg to express an opinion on the Companipternal control over financial reporting basedau!
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversight @ nited States). Those standards ret
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabnassurance about whether effective internarabover financial reporting was maintained ir
material respects. Our audit of internal contradrofinancial reporting included obtaining an untemsling of internal control over financial repod;
assessing the risk that a material weakness exgiststesting and evaluating the design and operatifectiveness of internal control based or
assessed risk. Our audit also included performuma ©ther procedures as we considered necessdng icircumstances. We believe that our ¢
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A companys internal control over financial reporting is aogess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregahe reliability of financit
reporting and the preparation of financial statetmdor external purposes in accordance with gelyeaaicepted accounting principles. A company’
internal control over financial reporting includé®se policies and procedures that (1) pertaitn@ontaintenance of records that, in reasonablel
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions aigpositions of the assets of the company; (2) ipeveasonable assurance that transactior
recorded as necessary to permit preparation ohdinhstatements in accordance with generally aedepccounting principles, and that receipts
expenditures of the company are being made onpcoordance with authorizations of management arettirs of the company; and (3) proy
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidethction of unauthorized acquisition, use, opaiition of the compang’assets that could hav
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohover financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Also, projections of any evatun
of effectiveness to futurperiods are subject to the risk that controls magome inadequate because of changes in conditioribat the degree
compliance with the policies or procedures may rimiate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or boration of deficiencies, in internal control ovfarancial reporting, such that there is a reasa
possibility that a material misstatement of the @any’s annual or interim financial statements will netgrevented or detected on a timely basis
following material weakness has been identified metlded in managemestassessment: the internal controls around thediabreporting proce
related to business combinations were inadequdiie. Material weakness was considered in determithiaghature, timing, and extent of audit t
applied in our audit of the consolidated finansi@tements as of and for the year ended Janu&Q13, and this report does not affect our repaea
March 17, 2015, on those consolidated financiaestents.

In our opinion, because of the effect of the matexieakness described above on the achievemehe aftfjectives of the control criteria, the Comg.
has not maintained effective internal control ofieancial reporting as of January 3, 2015, basedraaria established imternal Controlintegratec
Framework (1992issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission (COSO).

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@ynited States), the balance sheets an
related statements of operations, shareholdgysity and cash flows of the Company, and our ftegaied March 17, 2015, expressed an unqus
opinion.

As described in Management’s Annual Report on trete€ontrol over Financial Reporting, the Companylanagement has excluded Specialty Pi
Tube (“SPT”),from its assessment of internal controls over fai@nreporting as of January 3, 2015, because S&3 agquired by the Company

November 2014. We have also excluded SPT from dopes of our audit of internal control over finariciaporting. SPT constituted 1.1%
consolidated net sales for the year ended Jany&@1%, and 20.5% of consolidated total asset$ daruary 3, 2015.

/sl Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 17, 2015
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Item 9 Changes in and Disagreements with Accountaston Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on the evaluation required by 17 C.F.R. 8&e@#0.13a-15(b) or 240.18b(b) of the Company's disclosure controls and guaces (e
defined in 17 C.F.R. Sections 240.13a-15(e) and1B415(e)), the Company's chief executive officer ahigicfinancial officer concluded tr
such controls and procedures, as of the end opdhied covered by this annual report, were notoéiffe because of the deficiency in
internal control over financial reporting discussedlanagement's Report on Internal Control oveaRtial Reporting, presented above.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control ovigrancial Reporting is set forth at the conclusanthe Company's consolida
statements set forth in Item 8 of this FormKLOFhe scope of the Company's efforts to complyhwuiite Section 404 Rules with respect to fi
year 2014 included all of the Company's operatmther than the operations associated with the Noeer®1, 2014 acquisition of Specialty
accordance with the SEC's published guidance, Bectinie Company acquired these operations durinfiste year, the Company excluc
these operations from its efforts to comply witlct®s 404 Rules with respect to fiscal year 201de Tompany is currently evaluating .
documenting the internal controls over financiglaeing at Specialty and will include them in thiternal control testing in 2015.

The Attestation Report of the Company's independegistered public accounting firm on the Compangternal control over financi
reporting is included in the Report of IndependRegistered Public Accounting Firm set forth in 1t8rof this Form 10-K.

Material Weakness in Internal Control Over Finarddrgeporting

The Company did not maintain adequate internalrotsbver the financial reporting process relateiusiness combinations. As a result o
limited personnel in the Company's finance and aetiog group, the Company:

a. had minimal review of assumptions used and csiahs reached by third party valuation expertsl isehe acquisition process; and
b. was not able to review acquisition accountirtjnesgtes and pro forma information of companies @eguor to be acquired, including
opening balance sheet of the acquired company.

The aggregate of these internal control deficienoésulted in a material weakness.

Remediation of Material Weakne

The Company is committed to remediating the cordediciency that constituted the above materialkmeas by implementing changes to
Company's internal control over financial reportiddanagement is responsible for implementing charaged improvements in the inter
control over financial reporting and for remedigtihe control deficiency that gave rise to the makeveakness.

The Company is in the process of formalizing thdicpes, procedures and key internal controls fompding, analyzing, and reporti
acquisition activity and accounting elections. T®bempany will use external accounting resourcesetgew the purchase price allocal
prepared by the finance and accounting group oCibrapany prior to recording any acquisition tratisac The Company will also impleme
procedures to adequately review preliminary actjaisiaccounting estimates and pro forma informatiddncompanies acquired or to
acquired, utilizing third parties, whenever needédring the acquisition process. Review by appaipriinternal finance and accoun
personnel will be completed including reports frerternal thirdparty valuation experts and input from the thirdtiea, as deemed approprii
when obtained. The preceding actions are expeoted implemented no later than the time the fir@lrstatement close process begins fo
first quarter of 2015. In addition, by the end bé tsecond quarter of 2015, the Company expectsidoadditional accounting resource:
ensure segregation of duties and will also usereateaccounting resources to obtain proper segmyaintil the additional accounti
resources are hired. However, the Company hasampleted all of the corrective processes, procedanel related evaluation or remedia
that we believe are necessary. As the Companyraggito evaluate and work to remediate the codgfitiencies that gave rise to the mats
weakness, the Company may determine to take additineasures to address the control deficiency.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogin

There were no changes in the Company's interndtaloover financial reporting during the last fiscparter that have materially affected
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the @@my's internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B Other Information

Not applicable

PART IlI

Item 10 Directors, Executive Officers and CorporateéGovernance

The information set forth under the captions "Psgd -Election of Directors," "Executive Officers," afiection 16(a) Beneficial Owners|
Reporting Compliance" in the Company's definitiveqy statement to be used in connection with itedal Meeting of Shareholder to be t
May 13, 2015 (the "Proxy Statement") is incorpadldterein by reference.

Code of Ethics. The Company's Board of Directors &@dopted a Code of Ethics that applies to the @Gowyip Chief Executive Officer, Ch
Financial Officer and corporate and divisional colérs. The Code of Ethics is available on the @any's website
www.synalloy.com Any amendment to, or waiver from, this Code dii&s will be posted on the Company's website.

Audit Committee. The Company has a separately datg standing Audit Committee of the Board of Bioes established in accordance \
Section 3(a)(58)(A) of the Securities Exchange #ct934. The members of the Audit Committee arehany A. Callander, Henry L. Guy a
James W. Terry.

Audit Committee Financial Expert. The Company's iBloaf Directors has determined that the Company dtdgast one "audit commit
financial expert," as that term is defined by 1t467(d)(5) of Regulation 8-promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Cosiorisservin
on its Audit Committee. Mr. Anthony A. Callander etg the terms of the definition and is independastindependence is defined for a
committee members in the rules of the NASDAQ Glddalrket. Pursuant to the terms of Item 407(d) oflRation SK, a person who
determined to be an "audit committee financial eXp&ill not be deemed an expert for any purpose assult of being designated or identi
as an "audit committee financial expert" pursuanttém 407(d), and such designation or identifatdoes not impose on such person
duties, obligations or liability that are greatbian the duties, obligations or liability imposed such person as a member of the A
Committee and Board of Directors in the absencgioh designation or identification. Further, theigeation or identification of a person as
"audit committee financial expert" pursuant to 1td0v(d) does not affect the duties, obligationdiaiility of any other member of the Au
Committee or Board of Directors.

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information set forth under the captions "Boafd Directors and Committees CGompensation Committee Interlocks and Ins
Participation,” "Director Compensation,” "Discugsiof Executive Compensation” and "Compensation Citteen Report" in the Pro:
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Omers and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information set forth under the captions "Béaialf Owners of More Than Five Percent of the ComymCommon Stock" and "Security
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managgfnia the Proxy Statement is incorporated by rerfee.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information. The followiafple sets forth aggregated information as of dan8, 2015 about all of the Company's

equity compensation plans.

Number of
securities
remaining
Number of available for future
securities to be issuance under
issued upon equity
exercise of Weighted average compensation
outstanding exercise price of plans (excluding
options, warrants  outstanding options securities reflected
and rights warrants and rights  in column (a)) @
Plan Category (a) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by securitgédrs 157,29 $ 12.2¢ 346,12(
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechntglers — — —
Total 157,29 ¢ 12.2¢ 346,12(

(1) Represents shares remaining available for issuamaer the 2005 Stock Awards Plan and the 2011

Non-employee directors are paid an annual retainedbf0P0, and each director has the opportunityeoteb receive 100% of the retaine
restricted stock. For 2014, nemployee directors received an aggregate of $10190@he annual retainer in restricted stock. Thenber o
restricted shares is determined by the averagkeohigh and low sale price of the Company's statkhe day prior to the Annual Meeting
Shareholders. For 2014, four nemployee directors each received an aggregaté88 Bhares. Issuance of the shares granted tardutou:
is not registered under the Securities Act of 1888 the shares are subject to forfeiture in wheléngart upon the occurrence of cer

events. The above table does not reflect thesesligsued to non-employee directors.
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Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactins

The information set forth under the captions "Boafdirectors and Committees — Related Party Tretimas" and "-Director Independenc
in the Proxy Statement is incorporated thereindfgrence.

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information set forth under the captions "Iretegent Registered Public Accounting Firnrees Paid to Independent Registered P
Accounting Firm" and "— Audit Committee Pre-Approva Audit and Permissible NoAudit Services of Independent Registered Pi

Accounting Firm" in the Proxy Statement is incomed herein by reference.

63




PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents are filed as a part of teigort
1. Financial Statements: The following consolidatedficial statements of Synalloy Corporation arevidet! in Part Il, Item !
Consolidated Balance Sheets at January 3, 201Baceimber 28, 2013
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeraded January 3, 2015, December 28, 2013, andhibere29, 2012
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equitthfayears ended January 3, 2015, December 28, a6d3Pecember 29, 2012
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeaded January 3, 2015, December 28, 2013, anchibere?9, 2012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statements Schedules: The following clidated financial statements schedule of SynalloypGration is included in Ite

15:

Schedule Il - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts fbe years ended January 3, 2015, December 28, a6d3Iecember 29, 2012

All other schedules for which provision is made inapplicable accounting regulations of the Securiied Exchange Commissi
are not required under the related instructiorsrerinapplicable, and therefore have been omitted.

3. Listing of Exhibits
See "Exhibit Index"

Schedule Il Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Column A Column B Column C Column D Column E
Balance at Charged to
Beginning of (Reduction of) Balance at End of

Description Period Cost and Expenses  Deductions Period
Year ended January 3, 2015
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,079,000 $ 667,000 $ (632,000 $ 1,114,00i
Year ended December 28, 2013
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,313,000 $ (192,000 $ (42,000 $ 1,079,00i
Year ended December 29, 2012
Deducted from asset account:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 1,203,000 $ 928,000 $ 818,00( $ 1,313,00!

Charged to cost and expenses for 2012 is compoised

(1) the amount due from Palmer's prior owners @1$800 for the amount of pre-acquisition receivalietstanding at 120 days after
acquisition which were indemnified by the selleseg Note 1); and

(2) $107,000 charged against earnings.

Charged to cost and expenses for 2014 include®xzippately $76,000 for the beginning balance inatlewance for doubtful accounts for

Specialty Pipe & Tube, Inc. as a result of the &itjon on November 21, 2014.

Deductions represent uncollected accounts andtdraldinces written off against reserve, net of vedes.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

SYNALLOY CORPORATION

By /s/ Craig C. Bram March 17. 2015
Craig C. Bram Date
Chief Executive Officer
By /s/ Richard D. Sieradzki
Richard D. Sieradzki March 17, 2015
Chief Financial Officer and Date

Principal Accounting Officer

Registrant

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the daieated.

By /s/ Murray H. Wright
Murray H. Wright
Chairman of the Board

By /s/ Anthony A. Callander
Anthony A. Callander
Director

By /s/ Amy J. Michtich
Amy J. Michtich
Director

By /s/ James W. Terry, Jr.
James W. Terry, Jr.
Director

By /s/ Henry L. Guy
Henry L. Guy
Director

By /s/ Craig C. Bram
Craig C. Bram

Chief Executive Officer and Director
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Index to Exhibits

Exhibit No.
from

Item 601 of
Regulation S-K

Description

1.1
3.1

3.2

4.1
10.1

10.z

10.c

10.4

10.5
10.€

10.7

10.¢
10.¢

10.1(

10.11

10.1z

10.1:

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.15

10.1¢

Underwriting Agreement dated September 24, 20k&yrporated by reference to Registrant's Form 8d€l fseptember
24,2013

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registrastamended, incorporated by reference to Registiform 8-K filed
August 13, 2007

Bylaws of Registrant, as amended, incorporatecefgrence to Registrant's Form 10-Q for the periated March 31,
2001 (the "first quarter 2001 Form 10-Q")

Form of Common Stock Certificate, incorporated &fgrence to the first quarter 2001 Form 10-Q

Synalloy Corporation 1998 Long-Term Incentive St&t&n, incorporated by reference to the first qera001 Form 10-

Synalloy Corporation 2005 Stock Awards Plan, incogbed by reference to the Proxy Statement foR€85 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders

Amendment 1 to the Synalloy Corporation 2005 Staelards Plan incorporated by reference to Regisgddrm 10-K
for the year ended December 29, 2007

Amendment 2 to the Synalloy Corporation 2005 Staalards Plan

2011 Long-Term Incentive Stock Option Plan, incogted by reference to Registrant's Proxy Statefioerthe 2011
Annual Meeting of Shareholders

2012 Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Plamgrporated by reference to Registrant's Form 10+KHe year
ended December 29, 2012

2013 Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Plargrporated by reference to Registrant's Form 10+KHe year
ended December 28, 2013

2014 Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Plan

Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, IduBsidiary and the United Steelworkers of Ameriocadl 4586,
dated January 31, 2010, incorporated by referan&egistrant's Form 10-K for the year ended Janliap11
Agreement between Registrant's Specialty Pipe &Tuix. subsidiary and the United Steel, Paperramdstry, Rubber,
Manufacturing, Energy, Allied Industrial and Ser/M/orkers International Union Local 4564-07, dalely 1, 2014
Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, IduBsidiary and the United Association of Journeyagh
Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipe Fitting Induysif the United States and Canada Local Union338, dated
February 16, 2009, incorporated by reference tadRegt's Form 10-K for the year ended Januan01,12

Agreement between Registrant's Bristol Metals, IduBsidiary and the Teamsters Local Union No. 548&diMarch 5,
2010, incorporated by reference to Registrant'snFB-K for the year ended January 1, 2011

Loan Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2010, bet®Registrant and Branch Banking and Trust (“BB&TT)¢orporated
by reference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yesrated January 1, 2011

First Amendment to First Amended and Restated lAgneement, dated August 21, 2012, between Regtsirah
Branch Banking and Trust (“BB&T"), incorporated bgference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yeaeenDecember
29, 2012

First Amendment to First Amended and Restated lAgneement, dated October 22, 2012, between Regisiral
Branch Banking and Trust (“BB&T"), incorporated bgference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yealeenDecember
29, 2012

Second Amendment to First Amended and Restated Agagement, dated August 9, 2013, between Regisdrath
Branch Banking and Trust ("BB&T"), incorporated t@ference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yeaedrDecember
28, 2013.

Third Amendment to First Amended and Restated LAgreement, dated January 2, 2014, between Redisinah
Branch Banking and Trust ("BB&T"), incorporated t@ference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yeaedrDecember
28, 2013

Fourth Amendment to First Amended and Restated lAaarement, dated as of November 21, 2014, betRegistrant
and Branch Banking and Trust ("BB&T), incorporatsdreference to Registrant's Form 8-K filed on Nober 25, 2014

66




10.1¢

10.2(

10.21

10.22

10.2¢
10.2¢

10.2¢

21

23

31.1

31.2

32
101.INS?
101.SCH:
101.CAL*
101.LAB*
101.PRE
101.DEF

*

Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2011, betRegistrant and Craig C. Bram, incorporated bgregice to
Registrant's Form 10-K for the year ended Janua?p11

Amended Employment Agreement dated January 24, 2#t®&een Registrant and Craig C. Bram, incorpdrbte
reference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yeaieenDecember 31, 2011

Amended Employment Agreement dated January 24,,2&t®&een Registrant and Craig C. Bram, incorpdrbte
reference to Registrant's Form 10-K for the yealeenDecember 29, 2012

Amended Employment Agreement dated June 1, 201&¢ke Registrant and Craig C. Bram, incorporateceiigrence
to Registrant's Form 8-K for the filed June 28,201

Amended Employment Agreement dated May 1, 2014ydwn Registrant and Craig C. Bram

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of August 12, 20nong Jimmie Dean Lee, James Varner, Stev€iBtate and
Synalloy Corporation, incorporated by referenc®eémistrant's Form 8-K filed on August 24, 2012

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Novemb&(4, between The Davidson Corporation and Synalloy
Corporation, incorporated by reference to Regissdform 8-K filed on November 25, 2014

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP, independagistered public accounting firm for Registrant
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications of ChiekEutive Officer
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of the Chi@iancial Officer
Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

In accordance with Regulation S-T, the XBRL-relaitgdrmation in Exhibit 101 to this Annual Report Eorm 10-K
shall be deemed "furnished" and not "filed."
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Exhibit 10.4

Second Amendment to the 2005 Stock Awards Plan

Effective November 13, 2014

The undersigned, being all of the directors of SggaCorporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Cangtion”) do hereby consent
and adopt the following Second Amendment to thes2B@ck Awards Plan (the “Plands set forth in the resolutions adopted at the Nibes
13, 2014 Board of Directors’ meeting.

RESOLVED, That the Board of Directors hereby ameahdsPlan in the following respects:

A.

C.

Section 6.B of the Plan is deleted in its entiatg replaced as follow

Cancellation of Unvested Stock Awards on Termimatid Employment Any portion of a stock award that has not ve
prior to the termination of an employseémployment with the Company as the result ofeetent (minimum age of 6.
death or disability, shall become 100% vested; retlse, any portion of a stock award that has natea prior to th
termination of an employee's employment with then@any for any other reason, shall be automaticzdiycelled. In th
event of death, the employee’s estate would redbwéalance of the shares.

Section 6.B of the Plan shall be amended to shkatie1t00% of the total number of unvested shareddweest in the event
(i) and (i) to read as follows:

Sale or Merger Notwithstanding the vesting schedule set fortiSéttion 6.A above, 100% of the total number ofaste:
shares will vest in the event that there is eiffijethe acquisition of more than fifty percent (5p% the outstanding votit
securities of the Company or a subsidiary or dirisof the Company in which the employee is emplofeadculated on
fully diluted basis) by any person during any cangive 12month period of time; or (ii) the sale of more tH#ty percen
(50%) in value of the assets of the Company ovgrcansecutive 12-month period of time.

ReaffirmationThe Plan shall remain otherwise in full force affé& and unchange



Exhibit 10.8

SYNALLOY CORPORATION
2014 ShortTerm Cash Incentive and Options Plan

Purpose This Short-Term Cash Incentive and Options Ptae (Incentive Plan”)is intended to provide key executive employee
Synalloy Corporation (the “Companyiyhich term shall include Synalloy Corporation amay eof its affiliates or subsidiaries) 1
opportunity to participate in the Compasyprofitability, future prosperity and growth. Tharpose of the Incentive Plan is to provide <
and longterm incentive for gain through outstanding sentwéhe Company and its shareholders, and to ass#tracting and retainil
executives of ability and initiative.

Administration. The Incentive Plan shall be administered by tleen@anys Compensation & Long Term Incentive Committee
“Committee”). The same restrictions set forth ie tBompany’s 2011 Long-Term Incentive Stock OptitenRthe “Stock Option Plai,’
previously approved by the CompasyBoard of Directors and shareholders, applicabl€dmmittee members shall also apply undel
Incentive Plan. To the extent this Incentive Plifeds from or is inconsistent with the Stock OptiBlan, the terms and provisions of
Stock Option Plan shall govern. The Committee dhalle complete authority and discretion to interpheprovisions of this Incentive Pl
consistent with law and the Stock Option Plan, respribe the form of instruments evidencing thelstptions that may be granted ur
this Incentive Plan and pursuant to the Stock @pRtan, to adopt, amend, and rescind general agciadpules and regulations for
administration, and to make all other determinatioecessary or advisable for the administratioth@fincentive Plan. No member of
Committee shall be liable for any action or deterattion in respect thereto, if made in good faitig ahall be entitled to indemnification
the Company with respect to all matters arisingnfriois service on the Committee to the fullest ext#lowable under the Compasy’
charter documents and applicable law.

Eligibility . Any salaried employee of the Company who in tldgment of the Committee occupies a managementigogi which his @
her efforts contribute to the profit and growthtieé Company may be eligible to participate in theehtive Plan. The named participant
this Incentive Plan shall be recommended by thesidiv Presidents and the CEO, and approved by timendittee. The key metric usec
measure management performance in a particulasidivor the Company as a whole, as the case mag b&djusted EBITDA” definec
as operating income before interest, change invialine of interest rate swap, income taxes, degtieci and amortization, excludi
inventory profits and losses, acquisition costs aosts associated with raising capitalfie Adjusted EBITDA target ranges descti
herein are derived from the Company’s annual budgetoved by the ComparsyBoard of Directors and are exclusive of and datec
prior to allocation of the cash and stock optiogeintives payable to all executives participatinghie Incentive Plan. Exhibit Ao this
Incentive Plan, as may be amended from time to bsnéhe Committee, sets forth the annual AdjustBiiTBA target range and nam
participants’ assigned percentage of the cash tae#t sption incentives. The Committee, upon recomuia¢ion from the Company'CEO
shall have the discretion to determine to what rexté any, persons employed on a pé@mie or consulting basis will be eligible
participate in the Incentive Plan.

Cash Incentive Poal At the beginning of the year, for each divisiongluding Corporate, the division Presidents wilkmtify the
executives whom they recommend to participate ichedivision’s cash incentive pool with input from the CEO, ahd CEO wil
recommend the executives who will participate ia @orporate divisio' cash incentive pool. Additionally, each recomnezhgarticipar
will be allocated a percentage of the divismwash incentive pool. The recommended allocatiaiishe completed at the beginning
each year by the division Presidents, with inpud aeview from the CEO. The CEO will prepare theoramended allocation for t
Corporate division. These recommendations will bensitted to the Committee no later than two weetisrgo the February Board
Director's meeting. The Committee will review and approweead or reject the recommendations of the divi§logsidents and the CE
The CEQ's incentive calculation will be handled aeely from the Corporate division and will be epyed by the Committee.

A. Adjusted EBITDA Allocations At the beginning of each year, the Company’s BazrDirectors will approve the upcoming year’
budget that shall include the Adjusted EBITDA tdrgenge for each division and for the Company ashale (each, a Targe
Range”). The applicable Target Range for each idiwjsas approved by the Board of Directors, isfegh on _Exhibit Aattache
hereto. Each division cash incentive pool shallatgudesignated percentage of Adjusted EBITDA aateby that division, or in ti
case of the Corporate division, achieved by the Qamyg as a whole. Upon the division Presidents aB@'€ recommendation, t
Committee will establish the percentage of AdjusERITDA that will comprise the cash incentive pdot each division and tl
Company as a whole (each, an “Incentive Pool P&agefy). The applicable Incentive Pool Percentages for eadhion are set fori
below. Each Target Range will include four leveithveorresponding Incentive Pool Percentages: €ip® Targetro cash incentiv
(i) Below Target with cash incentive; (iii) On Tg&t; and, (iv) Above Target. Wherever Adjusted BB falls (Below Target wit
cash incentive, On Target, or Above Target), theeittive Pool Percentage for that applicable TaRgetge will apply to all dollars
profit beginning with the first dollar, computeding the applicable Incentive Pool Percentage. N&hdacentive will be paid
Adjusted EBITDA falls below the lowest threshold) @elow Target-no cash incentive).
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B. Cash Incentive Pool Percentages (excludingnitorg adjustmentsYSee Exhibit A attached hereto for complete det

Below Target/ Below Target

No Cash w/ Cash
Division Incentive Incentive On Target Above Target
K. Pennington - Metals Segment —% 0.50% 1.00% 1.40%
BRISMET & Synalloy Fab —% 1.25% 2.50% 3.50%
Palmer of Texas —% 1.75% 3.50% 5.00%
MCC —% 2.25% 4.50% 6.50%
CRI Tolling —% 2.25% 4.50% 6.50%
Corporate —% 0.75% 1.50% 2.00%
CEO —% 0.625% 1.25% 1.75%

C. Downward Adjustments to the Cash Incentive P&ach division President, upon approval by the CEA3 the authority to reduce
individual executive’s cash incentive bonus for eni@l underperformance against personal goals.

i. For every lost time accident during the year, thshcincentive pool for that division will be reddcky 5%; however, tt
Committee will be the final arbiter of whether Idshe claims rise to the level of penalty impositiden (10) percent of t
CEO'’s cash incentive is tied to achieving two avde lost-time accidents across the entire Company.

ii. An inventory turn target will be establishedr feach division, where applicable, and will be feeth on_Exhibit A. Thes:
inventory turn targets will be established by tHeGCand division Presidents and approved by the Gteenf the inventor
turns come in less than the target, the applicdivision’s cash incentive pool shall be reduced.B%b.

iii. Fifteen percent of the CEQ’s cash incentias, determined by the Committee, and 25% of the €R@sh incentive,
determined by the CEO, is tied to achieving certaigets based on the cash flow budget. The tavg#isgespect to the ca
flow budget are as follows (assuming the Comparys @adividend to shareholders in December 2014ingt$2.39 million
or $0.27 per share): (i) total capital expenditure2014 will equal $7.81 million or less ($4.3 hah for CRI and the Coc
Vessel shop, and $3.51 million in ngrnewth related cap ex), (ii) cash flow from opevas in 2014 will equal $12.28 millis
or more, (iii) cash on the balance sheet at theagr2D14 will equal $1.32 million or more, and (itgtal debt (total debt
term debt plus the line of credit) at the end of2Will equal $20.91 million or less. The Commiti@ed the CEO, acting
their discretion, shall use these targets as aegtodjudge the CEQ’s and the CEOlevel of success in achieving
Companys cash flow goals and shall award all, some portiomone of the cash incentive tied to cash flownagemer
based on the Company’s success in achieving thegets.

D. Inventory Profits or Losses The Adjusted EBITDA calculations shall excludeyanventory profits or losses applicable to
BRISMET division as set forth in this section. Asljed EBITDA calculations for the BRISMET divisiorilWbe reduced on a dollar-
for-dollar basis by the amount of inventory profitstiiat division, and the appropriate Target Rang¢ lvél selected based on s
reduced Adjusted EBITDA calculation. Likewise, Agjad EBITDA calculations for the BRISMET divisionillbe increased on
dollar-for-dollar basis by the amount of inventory lossesat tivision. The Committee will determine the eatrTarget Range befc
inventory losses are added back to the Adjusted’ BBIcalculation and the correct Target Range afteentory losses are added b
to the Adjusted EBITDA calculation. Under no circstances shall any applicable executive move mae tme Target Range a
result of this inventory loss add back. For examiilehe CEO is in the Below Target Range befoneeirtory losses are added b
and in the Above Target Range after inventory Issse added back, the CEO shall be permitted tcempvone Target Range o
into the On Target Range. The CEO shall not be peranin this example to move up two Target Rarigesthe Above Target Rang

5. Stock Options (Londerm Incentives) To the extent stock options are available underStock Option Plan previously approved by
shareholders, stock options of Company stock wiligsued as provided herein. All terms, conditiand
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restrictions set forth in the Stock Option Planlishaply to any and all stock options issued punsu@ this Incentive Plan. Thc
executives eligible to receive bonus payments ftbencash incentive pool under this Incentive PltotiSoptions are eligible to rece
stock options. Stock options will be issued in otlipse years where On Target or Above Target AefUEIBITDA is achieved in
particular division, or Company as a whole, depegdipon the position of a particular executive. $tiack options will be issued wh
Adjusted EBITDA is Below Target.

6. Stock Options ScheduleStock options shall be granted based on the sitddsklow. The percentages set forth below reptes
percentage of each particular executive’s baseys@la., base salary exclusive of bonuses) foryier under consideration.

Position Below Target On Target Above Target
CEO —% 25.00% 37.50%
CFO —% 20.00% 30.00%
DIV PRES —% 20.00% 30.00%
SEC/HR —% 15.00% 22.50%
Others —% 10.00% 15.00%

7. Mid-Year Acquisition AdjustmentsThe Company, from time to time, may acquire aeothusiness or operating division nyidar, whicl
acquisition will not be budgeted or accounted fortie Target Ranges that are established at thimrheg of the fiscal year. Upt
consultation with the CEO and division Presidetits, Committee shall amend the applicable TargegBaito account for any and all mid-
year acquisitions. Specifically, the Committee wipildate the applicable Target Ranges to accourth®opr-forma Adjusted EBITD;
expected from each acquisition for the remaindethefcurrent calendar year. The Company’s pradsite allocate unbudgeted otige
expenses associated with a mid-year acquisitiothéoCorporate division only. In determining theuattyearend Adjusted EBITD;
calculation for the Corporate division and the CERe Committee will add back the otiexe costs associated with each acquis
incurred during the year in question but not praslg budgeted. The amount of otiee expenses to be added back will be approwvi
the Committee and will include only those expertbas were incurred as a direct result of completimg acquisition. In the event th
one-time expenses extend from one calendar yehetoext, the accrued omtieie expenses associated with the acquisition feash ye:
will be added back to the applicable year's AdjddEBITDA calculations for the Corporate divisiondatie CEO.

8. General ProvisionsNeither the adoption of this Incentive Plan rteraperation, nor any document describing or rafgro this Incentiv
Plan, or any part thereof, shall confer upon anplegee any right to continue in the employ of thav@any or any subsidiary, or shal
any way affect the right and power of the Compantietminate the employment of any employee at ang tvith or without assigning
reason therefor to the same extent as the Compaght hrave done if this Incentive Plan had not badopted. In light of the importance
promoting long-term relationships and a ldlegmn commitment to the ongoing success of the Compa order to receive any payment
stock options under this Plan, an employee mustrhployed by the Company on the last day of theiegqiple fiscal year; provide
however, that if termination of employment occussaaresult of death, disability (unable to work 1@ consecutive months), or retirerr
(with a minimum of 5 years of employment with then@pany), payment of the cash bonus and/or the gfamitions will be determined
otherwise provided in this Incentive Plan but shmdl prorated to reflect that portion of the pri@ay in which the employee was
employee of the Company. Eligible employees muse lentered into a confidentiality and noompetition agreement in a form accept
to the CEO of the Company in order to receive amyeffits under this Incentive Plan. Payments untderlhcentive Plan will be made
or about March 15th of the year following the Comga fiscal year end. This Incentive Plan shall beegogd by the laws of the state
South Carolina.

Duration and Amendment of the Incentive Plddnless previously terminated by the Committee, lticentive Plan shall be effective for
fiscal year specified in the Incentive Plan. Thardttee may alter, amend, or terminate this Insenklan, including any exhibits attacl
hereto, at any time. Any stock options grantedrpgoche termination of this Incentive Plan shalinain valid thereafter in accordance with t
terms and the Stock Option Plan.




Exhibit 10.10

SPECIALTY PIPE & TUBE, INC.

7/22/2014

FergusonSpecialty Union Employment/Benefits Contract

Proposal 620-14
Terms of Agreement: 3 years, beginning July 1, 28id expiring June 30, 2017

Wages:

July 1, 2014: increase by :
July 1, 2015: increase by :
= July 1, 2016: increase by :

Medical: Employee percentage contribution towarehgum of comprehensive health insurance:
= July 1, 2014 : increase by 1.I
= July 1, 2015: increase by .!
= July 1, 2016: increase by .!

The Company agrees that if, during the life of tigseement, it sellégasestransfers or assigns the operations covered bytrsement the
Company shall obligate the purchaser, lessee far@esor assignee to provide substantially equintaleages and benefits while assuming all
the remainder of the obligations of the Agreemaentil its expiration date.

All other terms and conditions remain unchanged.

Steve Baroff David Jett




Contract Proposal # 5 from Specialty Pipe & Tube

1) Term -From July 1, 2010 to June 30, 2
2) Wages
« Effective 7/01/2010 Wage increase by 2
- Effective 7/01/2011 Wage increase by 2
- Effective 7/01/2012 Wage increase by 1
3) Pension 401(k)€ompany's 7% contribution remains fixed for thertef the agreeme
4) Medical Benefits - Each employee will contribatpercentage of their total benefits premium adiogrto the following schedule
+ Effective 7/01/2010 16.5
» Effective 7/01/2011 17.¢
« Effective 7/01/2012 18.C
Amounts to be deducted from Wieekly pay and adjusted whenever the premiums &dige grandfather clause from the previ
contract remains in effect).
Any new full time employee hired after July 1, 204l contribute 25% of the benefits plan.
5) Sick days - 2 days per year f or each emplogess¢ specifically for sick days, doctor visitsgdassociated health related issues.
Not to be considered vacation days. If not usetiéncurrent year, maximum of 2 days can be caoiex to the following year.

6) Work Rules - Operators can be asked to operattijphe saws in temporary emergency situationsedsrdhined by the Foreman.

Steven J. Baroff

Specialty Pipe & Tube
800-366-7473 330-505-8262
Fax 330-505-8260




AGREEMENT BETWEEN

SPECIALTY PIPE AND TIJBE, INC.

AND

UNITED STEEL, PAPER AND FORESTRY, RUBBER, MANUFACIRING, ENERGY, ALLIED INDUSTRIAL AND SERVICE

WORKERS INTERNATIONAL UNION

ON BEHALF OF LOCAL UNION 4564-07

EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2007 THROUGH

JUNE 30, 2010
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AGREEMENT

This Agreement dated July 1, 2007, by and betwaqeatidlty Pipe and Tube, Inc., 300 Union StreetOPBox 515, Mineral Ohio, or ar
successor (hereinafter Referred to as the "Confipaayd the United Steelworkers (USW) (hereinaftferred to as the Union), Square
Center, 950 Youngstown Warren Road, Suite A, Nildsip 44446.

ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE

The purpose of the Company and the Union in erddnto this Labor Agreement is to set forth thejreement on rates of pay, hours of v
and other conditions of employment so as to promaderly and peaceful relations with the employ¢eschieve uninterrupted operation
the plant and to a chi e v e the highest levehmbleyment performance consistent with safety, goealth and sustained effort.

ARTICLE Il

RECOGNITION

A. The Company recognizes the Union as certified leyNational Labor Relations Board as the exclusmgéining agel
for all production and maintenance employees, oialg truck drivers, operators and laborers empldygdhe Company for the purpose:
collective bargaining with respect to hourly rabépay, wages, hours of work and other conditiohnsnoployment .

B. The Company shall not negotiate nor make collediasgaining agreements for any of its employedhaerBargaining Un
covered hereby unless it be through a duly-autkedriepresentative of the Union.

C. The Company agrees that it will not sponsor or mianfinancially or otherwise, any group or labogamization for th
purpose of undermining the Union; nor will it infiere, restrain, coerce, or discriminate against @nigs employees in connection with tt
membership in the Union.

ARTICLE Il
UNION SHOP

UNION MEMBERSHIP
A. It shall be a condition of employment that all gnreisemployees of the Company covered by this Ages¢nwho ar
members of the Union on the effective date of thggeement, shall remain members of the Union indgstanding as a condition
employment. All present employees who are not mesmbéthe Union and all employees who are hirece&iger shall become and rerr
members in good standing of the Union by signiregahthorized card for dues deduction as a condii@mployment.
B. When the Company needs additional employees, thep@oy shall give the Union equal opportunity wilhogher source
to provide suitable applicants, but the Companyi stwd be required to hire those referred by theddn
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ARTICLE IV

CHECK-OFF

A. The Company shall check off monthly dues, assestsmamd initiation fees, each as designated by therdationz
Treasurer of the Union, as membership dues in thierlon the basis of individually-signed voluntaheck-off authorization cards.

B. Deductions shall commence with respect to duethismonth in which the Company receives such aighibon card or i
which such card becomes effective, whichever irlddues for a given month shall be deducted froenfirst pay closed and calculated in
succeeding month.

C. In the cases of earnings insufficient to cover dtida of dues, the dues shall be deducted frooméx¢ pay in which the
are sufficient earnings, or a double deductionldi®imade from the first pay of the following monghovided however, the accumulatior
dues shall be limited to two (2) months.

D. Monthly dues for each month shall be based 8f6tland no more than B2 times the average hourly earnings durin
appropriate referenced period payable in the momivhich said dues apply.

E. All deductions shall be promptly remitted to theer national Treasurer of the Union, United SteelwoskafrAmerica, Fiv
Gateway Center, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, 15222.

F. The Union shall indemnify and save the Company hesmagainst any and all claims, demands, suitghmr forms c
liability that shall arise out of or by reason afian taken or not taken by the Company for theppse of complying with any of the provisit
of this Article.

ARTICLE V

NON-DISCRIMINATION
A. It shall be the continuing policy of the Companylahe Union that the provisions of this Agreemédrdlisbe applied to ¢
employees without regard to race, color, religiotesed, national origin, sex or age. The represeetabf the Union and the Company in
steps of the Grievance Procedure and in all deslimgween the parties shall comply with this priovis
B. A joint committee on civil rights shall be edlished at the Company, and this committee shalltraemutuallyagreeabl

times. The Union members shall be certified toGoenpany by the Union, and the Company members bhalkrtified to the Union.

ARTICLE VI

MANAGEMENT
A. The Company retains the exclusive right and respiitg to manage the business and plants and ttectlithe workin
forces. The Company, in the exercise of its rigbltsll observe the provisions of this agreement.
B. The rights and responsibility to manage the busirasl plants and to direct the working forces idelthe right to hir
suspend or discharge for proper cause, or trarefier the right to relieve employees from duty bseaaf lack of work or for other legitims

reasons.




ARTICLE VII

RESPONSIBILITIES of the PARTIES
A. In addition to the responsibilities that maygrevided elsewhere in this agreement, the follovghgll be observed:
1. There shall be no strikes, work stoppages, int¢éisopr impeding of work. No officer or represemtas of the
Union shall authorize, instigate, aid or condong surch activities.

No employee shall participate in any such actigitie

2. There shall be no discrimination, restraint@ercion against any employee because of membadrsttip Union.
3. There shall be no interference with the right ofptayiees to become members or continue membershiipe
Union.
B. The applicable procedures of the agreement bedibllowed for the settlement of all complaint&lgrievances.
C. The right of the Company to discipline an emplof@eviolation of this agreement shall be limitedthe failure of suc

employee to discharge his responsibilities as apl@ee and may not in any way be based upon thadabf such employee to discharge
responsibilities as a representative or officethaf Union. The Union has the exclusive right tcciibne its officers and representatives.
Company has the exclusive fight to discipline fficers and representatives.

D. There shall be no lock-outs.

ARTICLE VIII

ADJUSTMENT of GRIEVANCES and ARBITRATION

A. Should any differences arise between the Compadyranemployee as to the meaning and applicatidheoprovisions ¢
this Agreement, or should any dispute arise witfard to any established rate or new rates, orréatio establish a job description or rate, !
difference or dispute shall be resolved as hermmiged, unless otherwise agreed to in writing.

B. The Company has the right to bring in withnesses aiecexcluded from the Bargaining Unit by the NLBBany step in tt
grievance procedure. The Union has the right tagoim witnesses who are included in the Bargainimit by the NLRB at any step in t
grievance procedure. However, no Company employeleded in the Bargaining Unit by the NLRB shall floeced to testify verbally or
writing against his principles.

C. The following is the grievance procedure:

Step 1 -The employee shall take up his grievance immelgiatith his supervisor, with the grievance Chaigmer and/c
grievance committeeperson (S) in an attempt téessdime promptly.

If a grievance is denied in Step 1 and if the gaieme Chairperson, grievance committeeperson (®rrdetes tha.t
constitutes a grievance, it shall be appealedép 3t To be considered in Step 2 of the grievamceeglure, a grievance m
be filed in writing with the supervisor within fiv®) days after its denial in Step 1. It shall lagedl and signed by employee
(s), Chairperson or grievance committeepersons).\Wiitten grievance shall include such informatéon facts as may be
aid to the Company and Union in arriving at a falgmpt and informed decision.

Step 2 -Within ten (10) days of the receipt of such app@ameeting shall be held between the Company s

representatives and the representatives of thenhtienal Union, certified to the Company in wrdin
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as the Step 2 representative, the grievance Chsinp@nd a member of the grievance committee.

Minutes of the Step 2 meeting shall be preparethbyCompany's designated representative, who dbkdler two (2) copie
thereof to the International Union representativthiw ten (10) days after such meeting. Such missteall conform to tt

following general outline:

(a) Dates and place of meeting

(b) Name and position of those present and thoserdab

(c) Identifying number and description of each gaiece discussed

(d) Brief statement of Union's position

(e) Brief statement of Company's position

) Summary of the discussion

(9) Decision reached by the Company

(h) Statement by the Union as to whether the datisias accepted or rejected

The International Union representative shall signhsminutes, provided that if he or she should gisa with the accuracy of st
minutes, he or she shall set forth and sign hikasrreasons for such disagreement, and the minexespt for such disagreement, shal

regarded as agreed to.
D. Arbitration.

In the event a. grievance is not settled in acawdavith Article VIII - Adjustment of Grievances and Arbitration, the miaghall b
appealed within ten (10) days to an impartial aalbitr to be appointed by mutual agreement of thrégsahereto. If the parties cannot agre
an arbitrator within ten (10) calendar days after appeal, either party may request the Americdnitration Association, 17900 Jefferson F
Road, Middleburg Heights, Ohio 44130; Attentioniblinal Administrator, to designate an arbitratdre Trbitrator designated shall set the

for the hearing at a neutral, mutually-agreed tifrtee decision of the arbitrator shall be final.
The expense and fees incidental to the servicdgeddrbitrator shall be paid equally by the Compang the Union.

The arbitrator shall only have jurisdiction andraarity to interpret or determine compliance witle throvisions of this agreem
insofar as shall be necessary to the determinafiGuch grievance appealed to the arbitrator, latarbitrator shall not have the authorit

alter, in any way, the provisions of this Agreement
Arbitration awards may be retroactive to, but neydnd, the date of occurrence.
The arbitrator shall render his or her decisiorhimithirty (30) calendar days of the hearing.

E. |If this Agreement is violated by the occumerof a lockeut, strike, work stoppage or interruption or imipgdof work, nc
grievance shall be discussed or processed by timep&uwy while such violation continues, and undercimoumstances shall any grieva

concerning employees engaged in the violation beudised or processed while such violation continues

F. The grievance Chairperson, committee membkedl be allowed time off without loss of pay tdead meetings other th
grievance meetings with the Company representatiesn such meetings are held during the regulakiwgrhours. Time spent at st
meetings shall be noted on the employee's time ¢#dn request duly made and subject to its estaddi rules, the Company shall grar
reasonable times to the International represemtdtivcharge of any grievance process in Step hefgrievance procedure, access tc

Company for the purpose of investigating such guiee.




G. Failure of the Company to reply to a grievaat any Step within the time limits shall be tegbby the Union as an unsatisfac

settlement of the grievance from which it shalladingly proceed to the next step or arbitration.

ARTICLE IX
EXPEDITED ARBITRATION

Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agresm the following expedited arbitration is herehgiopted. The expedit
arbitration procedure is designed to provide proamat efficient handling of routine grievances.

1. Where grievances concerning written reprimandsuspsnsions of five (5) days or less are to beratbid, they shall t
arbitrated in the Expedited Arbitration Procedunéegs appropriate representatives of the partieseabat such a grievance should be arbit
in the regular arbitration procedure; provided, boer, that where grievances concerning any dis@phvolving concerted activity or multig
grievances arising from the same event are toltirated, they shall be arbitrated in the regul@\gnce procedure.

2. Where grievances concerning suspension of morefiai(s) days are to be arbitrated they shall titeated in the regul
arbitration procedure.

3. Notwithstanding the foregoing, appropriate reprégives of the parties may agree that grievancesaroing suspensio
of more than five (5) days discharge may be areittin the Expedited Arbitration Procedure.

4, The Expedited Arbitration Procedure shall belenpented at the Company with due regards to thewaig:

a. The Union shall appeal the grievance under thiseBitpd Arbitration after receiving the Step Il aesnprovidec
however, that either party within three (3) normadrking days after the Step Il answer, may reqaesteeting with the Compa
and/or his or her Staff Representative and the rpledon of the grievance committee along with thievance person involved in
effort to resolve the grievance before arbitratidfithin two (2) normal working days after such meet if the grievance is unresolv:
the Union shall appeal the grievance to an arbitrander this Expedited Arbitration Procedure.

b. As soon as it is determined that a grievance iset@rocessed under this procedure, the partie§ shtdin ter
(10) days (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and Hgdidliom the written appeal to arbitration, notihe designated arbitrator fron
mutually-agreed panel of arbitrators. The designated atbitia that member of the panel who', pursuant totation system,
scheduled for the next arbitration hearing. Immidyaupon such notification, the designated artotrahall arrange a place and «
for the hearing to take place not more than te §a9s thereafter. If the designated arbitratoroisavailable to conduct hearing wit
the ten (10) days, the next panel members in ostaghall be notified until an available arbitratsrobtained. Those called but
available shall not be called again until their eansome back pursuant to the rotation system. ppead shall include the date, ti

and place for the hearing. There after, the Rutesd®lure for Expedited Arbitration shall apply.

5. The hearing shall be conducted in accordaiiitethe following:

a. The hearing shall be informal.
b. No briefs shall be filed or transcripts made.
C. There shall be no formal evidence rules.

d. Each party's case shall be presented by a mglyidesignated representative. The designated repatisenshal
be the Plant Manager or Superintendent for the @Gmypand the Staff Representative, Chairpersoneoftlevance committee,

the Union.




e. The arbitrator shall have the obligation of assyitimat all necessary facts and considerations raneght befor

him or her by the representatives of the partiegllirespects, he or she shall assure that thénlgga a fair one.

6. The arbitrator shall issue a decision norl@ten 48 hours after conclusion of the hearingcl{ekng Saturdays, Sundays
Holidays). His or her decision shall be based anrdtords developed by the parties before andeatdlaring and shall include a brief wril
explanation of the basis for his or her conclusiimese decisions shall not be cited as a precédamnty discussions at any step of the griev
or arbitration procedure. The authority of the aetor shall be the same as that provided in thevance and arbitration section of

applicable agreement.

7. Each party shall pay its own expense, with @ompany and the Union sharing equally the expansecompensation of t

arbitrator.

Examples of matters which both parties would regerdoutine:

a. Qualification for holiday pay

b. Removal from job - inability to advance

C. Improper lay-off on cutback or recall

d. Improper lay-off assignment of overtime

e. Safety on an individual basis

f. Reporting pay

g. Prior related experience

h. Ability on job performance

i. Non-Bargaining Unit employee performing BargaimiUnit work.
j- Individual cases of temporary transfers

K. Local Memorandums interpretation -and applicatio

l. Matters pertaining to jury duty and funeral alknce
Tribunal Administrator
American Arbitration Association 17900 JeffersomkPRoad

Middleburg Heights, Ohio 44130

ARTICLE X
SUSPENSION and DISCHARGE CASES

A. The Company agrees that no employee, othem th probationary employee, shall be dischargednpatorily and that in &
instances in which the Company believes that digghis justified, the Company shall notify the eayge in writing of its intention to suspe
or discharge with a statement as to the reasoautci intended action. A copy of such notice, sballjiven to the grievance Chairperson
member of the grievance committee; within threed@)s from date of notice, the employee shall @tgd a hearing. If the employee affe
believes his proposed suspension or dischargefaér am unjust, he may request and shall be gradtethg this period a hearing and discus
of the offense before representatives designatetthdoompany with his grievance committee persaticarthe Chairperson of the grieva

committee.




At such hearing, the facts and circumstances cairggthe matter shall be fully disclosed to andbleyh parties. Within two (2) da
after such hearing, the Company shall make knowethér the suspension shall be extended, revokedified) or converted into a dischar
In the event such disposition is unsatisfactonthmemployee(s), within three (3) normal workiraysl after notice of such action, he shall f
grievance in Step 2 of the grievance procedurepaodess it in accordance with Article VIII - Adjos¢nt of Grievances and Arbitration.

The provisions of this Section apply to all suspems which are made in contemplation of discha@her disciplinary suspensic

shall be subject to processing through the regiriavance procedure

ARTICLE Xl

SENIORITY

A. Seniority rights shall prevail at all times oplantwide basis. Promotional opportunities and job sécshould increase
proportion to length of continuous service and dmanistration of this Article, the intent shall e give full consideration for continuc
service.

B. Company continuous service shall be used fgoatboses in which a measure of service is utilized

C. Promotion, training for a promotion, decreaséoittes, lay-offs and recalls after la§f; the following factors listed belc
shall be considered the determining factor:

a. Continuous service

b. Physical fithess

D. In the event the maintenance position becomesablaithrough retirement, or any other reason, theagany shall po
the job for bidding. If a bidder or bidders do me¢et the reasonable qualifications, the Companythesight to hire a maintenance perso
person consistent with the requirements of Artitle Recognition, pages 1, 2, paragraphs A, B, ¢ tdlé maintenance position. Any n
person or persons hired for the maintenance passtiall be required to join the Union at the timelked out in Article IV - Checloff, pages
4 and Article XI - Seniority, page 18, paragraphPdobationary Period.

E. Continuous service shall be calculated fromddie of first employment or remployment following a break in continue
service in accordance with the following provisiaighis Section E. There shall be no deductionafoy time lost which does not constitu
break in continuous service. Continuous servicdl bleébroken by:

a. The employee(s) quits.

b. The employee(s) is discharged for proper aniccisse.

C. Absence due to lagff or disability or both, which continues for motiean two (2) years, provided, howe
employees injured while on duty shall accumulateditrfor continuous service until the terminatiohtoe period for whic
statutory compensation is payable.

d. When recalled from a layff, the employee fails to report for work withiert (10) work days after receipt of re:
notice sent certified mail or mailgram to his lagbwn address, unless the employee has a validndas failing to report fc

work.

A foreman shall perform no work of the type custdiygperformed by employees within the Bargainingit)except when necessary du

emergencies, or the purpose of instructing or imgiemployees, or when an operator requests tedbtieman help him handle a particular |
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A. PROBATIONARY PERIOD

A new employee shall not accrue seniority rightstfe first ninety (90) days; and termination ofayment shall be at the s
discretion of the Company. After the employee fased his ninety (90) work day probationary perioid, seniority shall date as of his origi
hiring date. The Union shall indemnify and save@wenpany harmless by an action or non-action byCivapany regarding this Section

B. Decrease of force prior to the commenceméragny monthly paid period Management shall, asrtp employee or group
employees, instead of decreasing the force, semtuc@nce of the grievance committee to divide wamka proportional pay basis; and in
event of disagreement, Management shall not schetiel employees on a basis of less than forty [§éQ)s per week, but shall reduce

force.

ARTICLE XII

MILITARY SERVICE
A. Employees who are required to enter annual militeaning duty or temporary special service as anver of a resen
component of the United States Armed Forces, ffg#ntitled to makep pay, not to exceed two (2) weeks, after presgrdue proof of tt

difference between his hourly rate of pay and thal amount received for such service from the
United States Armed Forces, during the period ey this Agreement.
B. EMPLOYMENT RIGHTS

The Company shall accord to each employee who epjdir reemployment after conclusion of his one (1) termmilitary service

with the United States, such re-employment righte@shall be entitled to under the existing statut
C. TRAINING

Reasonable programs of training shall be emplopeithé event employees do not qualify to performvtloek on the job which the

might have attained except for absence in suchcgerv

ARTICLE XIII

HOURS of WORK and OVERTIME
A. The normal work week shall consist of five (8) halays, exclusive of lunch, Monday through Fridaglusive. Th
purpose of this Article is to define the normal Wweveek for the purpose of computing overtime anallstot be construed as a guarante
hours of work.
B. The normal work days shall be eight (8) howsntlude a twenty (20) minute paid lunch break.
C. Employees shall be granted shift preference ob#sés of their seniority, provided the efficieneogtion of the plant is n
impaired thereby, at the discretion of the Company.

D. The normal shift hours shall be:

First shift: - 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.




E. OVERTIME

Any time worked over eight (8) hours per day sballclassified as overtime and be paid for at theabione and one-half [2x) times
the regular rate.

1. Any time worked over forty (40) hours in a pdiro

Week shall be classified as overtime and paid ffar rate of one and one-half (I-I/2x times the tegate.

2. Overtime at the rate of two (2x) times the raguate of pay shall be paid for:
a. Sunday
b. Holiday

F. There shall not be more than one (1) prenpaid for the same hours worked (no pyramiding artmne).

ARTICLE XIV
REPORTING PAY

A. Unless having been notified not to reporty amployee who reports for work in accordance withschedule and upon his arr|
at the Company finds no work available for whichwes scheduled, he shall be paid four (4) houtsisahourly rate. If the Company offi
other employment for that day, it shall be no I#&mn eight (8) hours at the rate of the job of ¢neployee's regular rate, whichever is
highest. This provision shall not apply where latkwork is due to an Act of God, power failure, ather causes beyond the control of
Company.

ARTICLE XV

VACATIONS

A. All employees covered under this Agreement who Hasen employed for the first full year, shall beitéad to vacatio
time off and vacation pay as indicated below:

The Company agrees to buy lunch for entire Companyo celebrate Employee's Birthday. On birthdays Empbyees can leave work :

2:00PM at discretion of the Foreman.

Years of Service Duration of Vacation Vacation Pay

1 but less than 2 1 week 40 hrs. at base rate
2 but less than 8 2 weeks 80 hrs. at base rate
8 but less than 15 3 weeks 120 hrs. at base rate
15 years or more 4 weeks 160 hrs. at base rate
30 years or more 5 weeks 200 hrs. at base rate

The weekly vacation pay shall be based on the eyeplcstraightime rate of pay. Vacation shall be taken from dapd to Decemb
31. Vacation times shall be arranged by the Compritty consideration given to seniority and businesguirements, but the Company s
have the exclusive final right to designate vacaferiods. The Company may elect to close its planvacation after notifying the Uni
thirty (30) days in advance of the shutdown or &thdusiness be such that vacations would not betiped, the employee may be asked to
pay in lieu of vacation. Subject to the foregoimgitation, it is the intent of this Article thatla#dmployees wishing to take vacations sha

permitted to do so.




ARTICLE XVI

HOLIDAYS
New Year's Day Friday after Thanksgiving
Good Friday Christmas Day
Memorial Day Personal Holiday/Sick Day (One aftisr(6) mo).
Fourth of July Personal Holiday/Sick Day (Two af@e (1) Yr.)
Labor Day Thanksgiving Day
Floating Holiday (date to be determined by Company)

B. New employees shall not receive the first persbiaditiay until after completion of six (6) months gl@yment and she
receive the second personal holiday after complatfone (1) year.

C. Employee must give one (1) week advance notleenviaking personal holidays.

D. In order to be eligible for such holiday pdlye employee must work the full regularly scheduleorkday before and the f
regularly scheduled workday after such holidayextused by the Company from the before and aftevigion, the employee must we
sometime during the seven (7) calendar days pregale holiday and must have been an employeesaEtimpany for fortyfive (45) calendz
days previous to the holiday. If a holiday fallghin an employee's vacation period, such holidafl stot be considered as part of the vac:
period, and the employee shall receive his fullatian in addition to holiday pay as hereinbeforevied. Any holiday which falls on a Sunc
shall be celebrated on the following Monday. Anyidey which falls on a Saturday shall either beesised on the preceding Friday or
granted in the form of an additional day's paybembserved on the following Monday, at the empfsydiscretion. Holidays not worked st
be paid for at the employee's base hourly rateifgint (8) hours, holidays worked shall be paiddbthe rate of two (2x) times the regular
of pay for all hours worked, in addition to the uéag holiday pay.

ATTTENDANCE BONUS
PERFECT ATTENDANCE

On July 1 of each calendar year of the existinge&grent now in effect, a bonus will be given if thbas been no lost time, tardin
sickness, etc. Employee will receive one (1) weplils Employee will receive an additional dmeadf (1/2) week's pay for perfect attendance

the life of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVII

RATES of PAY and JOB CLASSIFICATION
A. The Union and the Company agree that the job ¢ieaon and schedule of hourly rates in this Agneat shall be used
a basis of determining rates of pay for the duratibthis Agreement.
B. When the Company establishes a new job classificatr substantially changes an existing job clasgibn, the Compar
shall set the rate for such new or changed clasasifin, subject to the right of the Union to chadle the established rate through the griev
procedure. Any new or changed rate establishedé&yCompany shall become final if the Union faildfite a grievance with respect to si

new or changed rate within sixty (60) days afteestablishment.
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ARTICLE XVIII PENSION
HEALTH and WELFARE

A. PENSION

Effective July 1, 1994, an employee who has beetihempayroll ninety (90) days or more will haveaaqentage of the employee's pension |

The percentage has been agreed upon by both parties

Effective 7/1/07 10%
Effective 7/1/08 12.5%
Effective 7/1/09 15%

Each employee shall have an individual accountaamedunt number.

Each employee shall have the right to designatawits beneficiary, whoever that person may be.

The Union shall, as the desighated Bargaining Agamgure that whatever Plan is agreed upon is plapgeerly.
Reports will be made quarterly, with each employeeiving his own individual report.

As an added measure, each employee shall be givenginal Plan that was mutually agreed upon leyghrties

The Company, the Local Union grievance chairpeswhgrievance committee shall be the trusteeseofticount.

JOB TITLE EFFECTIVE 7/1/14 EFFECTIVE 7/1/05 EFFECTIVE 7/1/06
OPERATOR $51.24 $52.78 $54.34
MAINTENANCE REPAIR $51.24 $52.78 $54.34
TRUCK DRIVER $51.24 $52.78 $54.34
LABORER $48.63 $50.09 $51.57

Based on a forty (40) hour week.

B. HEALTH and WELFARE

The Company will pay the full monthly amount fordpitalization and benefits that Employees now hamder this Agreemer

however employees will make monthly contribution$iealthcare in accordance with the following scited

2004 2005 2006
Family $75.00 Family $75.00 Family $75.00
Couple $65.00 Couple $65.00 Couple $65.00
Single $40.00 Single $40.00 Single $40.00

It is understood and agreed that employee contoibsitin years two and three shall increase onlylkshpremium increase for hee
care increase by five (5%) percent.

If an employee is absent because of iliness ottlaéfjob injury and notifies the employer of such abserthe employer shall contin
to make the required contributions above specifigdas long as such injury or iliness continues aadses the employee to be absent
work, but not to exceed a period of four (4) weiekany one (1) year. If an employee returns to watkichever occurs sooner; if an emplc

is absent because of layf, the employer shall continue to make the regglicontributions for health care for three (3) rhentAn employe

granted a leave of absence who desires continwngrage during such leave shall make his own aeraegts to pay the required contribu

in order to maintain coverage. The employer simédirm the
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Union and the administrator of the Health and Welfaund of the name of any employee granted a lehabsence, and the purported rei

therefore, at the time such leave is granted. Gasispot labor shall not be covered by this Adicl

INSURANCE COMMITTEE

The Company mutually agreed to have at least tyertibloyees check and review, along with the Compiasurance plan benefits.

ARTICLE XIX

LEAVE of ABSENCE
A. Any employee desiring leave of absence from hisleympent shall secure written permission from thepkayer. The
maximum leave of absence shall be for thirty (3@sdand may be extended for like periods. Permisfip extension must be secured fi
both the Union and the employer. During the penbdbsence, the employee shall not engage in daénfployment; failure to comply wi

this provision shall result in the complete losodif for the employee involved.

ARTICLE XX

JURY DUTY
A. Any member who is required to serve on a jury sbalpaid the difference between jury duty pay aschbrmal day's fu
pay for each day spent while on jury duty. Howetke, employee will be required to report prompthy fvork during any day in which t

service as a juror does not require his attendanceurt.

ARTICLE XXI

FUNERAL TIME
A. Any employee who is absent from work in ordeattend the funeral of his wife, mother, fathestesi, brother, mother in-
law, father-infaw, child or grandparents shall receive pay foretithus lost, not to exceed two (2) days of eightours of pay per day in ste
three (3) days out of state; provided however,déngs missed are working days. One (1) of the daséghdays shall be the day of the fun
The pay shall be regular work pay.

ARTICLE XXII
WORK RULES
A. Warning after one (1) year will be voided.
B. The Company has the right to change or amergdiegiwork rules as the need arises and notifyuthien of such.
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ARTICLE XXl
WAGES
July 1, 2007: 2% ($19.80) Increase with a $1000siwgting bonus
July 1, 2008: 3.5% ($20.49) increase

July 1, 2009: 3.5% ($21.21) increase

NEW HIRES

Any employee hired after 7/1/04 shall be hired ir$&00 per hour and increased at the rate of &2s per hour each quarter v
reaching the standard hourly wage base rate ofreabo

ARTICLE XXIV
TERMINATION
This Agreement effective July 1, 2007, shall beffiect until midnight June 30, 2010.

Any notice shall be given by either party ninet@)@ays before the termination day, written signédesire or intention to negotii
with respect to the terms and conditions of a negre@ment, including wages, vacations, holidaygjransce, health benefits, pensions

conditions of employment, etc.

Any notice shall be given by certified mail andjf the Company, be addressed to the United Stekémo(USW), Square One Cen
950 YoungstownA/arren Road, Niles, Ohio 44446 and if by the Uniam¢g be addressed to Specialty Pipe and Tube,3680 Union Stree
P.O. Box 516, Mineral Ridge, Ohio 44440.

ARTICLE XXV
P.A.C. CHECKOFF

The Company agrees that it .will check-off and $rait to the Secretaryreasurer of the United Steelworkers (USW) Politietion
Committee (USWPAC) voluntary contributions to th8W Political Fund from the earnings of those emeésywho voluntarily authorize st
contributions, shall be specified in such forms amdonformance with an applicable state or Fedsegle.

The signing of such USW PAC cheoK-form, which is made part of this Agreement andrked as Appendix "A", and the makinc

such voluntary annual contributions 'are not a @mrdof membership in the Union or of employmerithithe Company.

The United Steelworkers of America Political Acti@ommittee supports various candidates for Federdlother elective office,
connected with the United Steelworkers of Amerigaabor organization, and solicits and accepts aalyintary contributions which &
deposited in an account separate and segregatadhmdues fund of the Union, in its own fund-nagsefforts and in joint fundaising effort
with the AFL-CIO and its Committee on Political Eddion.
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The Union shall indemnify and save the Company kessagainst all claims, demands, suits or othendoof liability that shall aris

out of, or by reason of action taken or not talksnthe Company by reason of the above check-offipian.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto heaugsed this Agreement to be executed and signeheyduly-authorize
representatives this day of 2007.

MEMORANDUMS 40I(K) PENSION

1. For every three (3) month period without amygrkers compensation claims, each employee wilkivec an additional $50.!

contribution by the Company to the employees' 461&h.

HOSPITALIZATION

1. New Employees hired on or after the effectiage of this Agreement, who participates in thegPam of Insurance Benefits, v

contribute 20% of the premium.
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United Steelworkers-USW Specialty Pipe

Leo W. Gerard

International President

James English

International Secretary Treasurer

Tom Conway

Vice President (Administration)

Fred Redmond

Vice President (Human Affairs)

David R. McCall

Director District 1

Kirk L. Davies

Staff Representative - USW

David Jett

Unit Chairman
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Exhibit 10.23

THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT T O S.C.CODE ANN. § 154810 ET SEQ., CODE OF LAWS OF
SOUTH CAROLINA, 1976 (AS AMENDED).

IF THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNIFORM ARBITRATION ACT ISDE EMED NOT TO APPLY, THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT
TO ARBITRATION PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT, TITLE 9, SECTION 1 ET SEQ., UNITED STATES
CODE (AS AMENDED).

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Employment Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made entered into as of May 1, 2014 by and betv@eralloy Corporation, a

Delaware corporation (the “Corporation”), and Cr&igBram, a resident of Richmond, Virginia (the “Eoyee”).
RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Corporation and the Employee execatetidelivered an Employment Agreement dated Jug8113 (the “Prior
Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Corporation and the Employee desitenminate the Prior Agreement and to effectuaeAlgreement as of May 1,
2014 according to the terms herein.

AGREEMENTS

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the above pemsiand the terms and provisions hereinafter gét #and for other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieoicyhich hereby are acknowledged, and intendinget¢éegally bound hereby, the Corporai
and the Employee hereby agree as follows:

1. Employment The Corporation and the Employee hereby termitiegtdrior Agreement effective May 1, 2014. Thetipar
agree this Agreement then and thereafter shalidedle employment agreement between the Corporatid the Employee pursuant to the
terms and provisions set forth herein. The Corpamagrees to employ the Employee and the Emplageees to serve as Chief Executive
Officer and President of the Corporation, and ichsother capacities as the Board of Directors ef@brporation (the “Board”) may designate
from time to time, for a period of two years begimgnMay 1, 2014, the effective date of this Agreemghis original term together with any
extensions thereof shall be referred to collecyiad the “Term”)provided, howevethat, commencing on May 1, 2016 and on each two yea
anniversary of this Agreement thereafter, the Tehiadl automatically be extended for two additioyedrs unless, not later than ninety (90)
days prior to the conclusion of the then currenmii,éhe Corporation or Employee shall have giveittar notice that it does not wish to ext
this Agreementprovided, further, that in no event shall any termination of thiségment result in any forfeiture of rights thatrae prior tc
the date of such termination. During the Term,Ehgployee shall devote his full time, attentionllsknd efforts to the performance of his

duties for the Corporation. Notwithstanding theefgwing, nothing herein




shall be construed to prevent Employee from sergimghe Board of Directors of any other companyhuiitt violating Paragraph 10 below or
continuing employment with Horizon Capital Managetnénc.

2. CompensationSubject to the Board’s annual review and adjustras set forth herein, the Corporation shall ey t
Employee during the Term hereunder a base salafprefe Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand and No Dol|#825,000.00) per year (the “Base
Salary”) together with the Cash Incentive payaklpmvided in Paragraph 3 below, and except aswibe provided in this Agreement. The
Base Salary shall be payable monthly or on a kesgieént basis by mutual agreement. The Compens&tiang-Term Incentive Committee
the Board (the “Committee”), as soon as practicafiler the end of each calendar year during thenTbeginning with the calendar year that
ends on December 31, 2014, shall review the Empley®ase Salary. Based on such reviews, the Coeemitiay increase, but shall not
decrease, the Base Salary on an annual basis.

3. Cash Incentiveln addition to the Base Salary provided for ima@gaph 2 above, for each fiscal year during which
Employee serves as Chief Executive Officer of tleepBGration and provided Employee is in the emplbthe Corporation on the last day of
such fiscal year (except as provided in Paragr8pdrsd 9 hereof), the Employee shall be entitle@l ¢ash incentive (the “Cash Incentive”) as
provided for in the incentive plan (the “Incenti?éan”) established before the beginning of eacth@fCorporation’s fiscal years by the
Committee. In the Committee’s discretion as dethifethe applicable Incentive Plan, the Cash Ingerghall be equal to a percentage of
adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depratiahd amortization (“EBITDA”) or a percentagetb& Employee’s Base Salary, each
calculated using pre-determined EBITDA target ranged other qualitative measures established iaghécable Incentive Plan. EBITDA is a
non-GAAP measure and excludes discontinued opestaash incentives payable to all managers paaticg in the Incentive Plan, interest
expense, change in fair value of interest rate siapme taxes, depreciation, amortization, invgngain/(loss) due to changes in nickel
prices, lower of cost or market inventory adjustimacquisition costs, shelf registration costsneart adjustments, bargain purchase gains,
gain on excess death benefit and retention camts fret income. The Committee shall have sole diseréo determine which other items of
income and expense are included in and/or exclfrded EBITDA and what qualitative measures, if afagtor into computation of the Cash
Incentive, and its determination shall be finahding and conclusive upon the parties hereto. Térp&@ation may at any time or times change
or discontinue any or all of its present or futaperations, or may close, sell or move any onearerof its plants, facilities or divisions, or
may undertake any new or other operations, or ey &ny and all other steps which the Board, imitdusive judgment, shall deem advise
or desirable for the Corporation, and if any suctioa taken by the Corporation or its Board advigraéfects EBITDA as hereinabove defined,
the Employee shall have no claim or recourse byaaf any such action. Cash Incentive paymenis@imade within two and one-half

months of the fiscal year-end.




The provisions of this Paragraph 3 shall apply owthe Incentive Plan in effect for the applicapésar during the Term. Each year’s
Incentive Plan is developed by the Committee amilayed by the Board, in its sole discretion, oraamual basis. Nothing set forth hert
shall be construed to guarantee that an Incentilan Rvill be effective for any year during the Teffhe right of the Employee to Cash
Incentive payments shall be governed solely byritentive Plan, if any, approved by the Board snabsolute discretion for the relevant ye

4, Stock Options / Restricted Stock Awards addition to the Base Salary provided for imé@g@aph 2 above, for each fiscal

year during which Employee serves as Chief Exeeufifficer of the Corporation and provided Emploigin the employ of the Corporatic
on the last day of such fiscal year (except asigeakin Paragraphs 8 and 9 hereof), the Employal Isé eligible for grants of stock options
(“Stock Options”) under the 2011 Long-Term Inceatstock Option Plan or any future stock option (daadopted by the Corporation
(collectively, the “Stock Option Plan”) and/or albite for awards of restricted stock (“Restrictedt Awards”) under the 2005 Stock Awards
Plan or any future restricted stock awards plaagepted by the Corporation (collectively, the “Riestd Stock Plan”), as provided for in the
then current Incentive Plan. The number of Stockddp and/or Restricted Stock Awards granted, yf, @hall be based upon a percentage of
Base Salary and EBITDA ranges established in tipicgble Incentive Plan. The Employee’s rights witspect to Stock Options and
Restricted Stock Awards shall be as set forth @Stock Option Plan and the Restricted Stock Rlampplicable.

The provisions of this Paragraph 4 shall apply owthe Incentive Plan in effect for the applicapésar during the Term. Each year’s
Incentive Plan is developed by the Committee amilaed by the Board, in its sole discretion, oreammual basis. Nothing set forth hert
shall be construed to guarantee that an Incentila Rvill be effective for any year during the Teffhe right of the Employee to grants of
Stock Options and/or Restricted Stock Awards $fetioverned solely by the Incentive Plan, if appraved by the Board in its absolute
discretion for the relevant year.

5. Other BenefitsEmployee shall be eligible to participate in allayee benefits plans in accordance with the tesfissich
plans.

6. Death or Disability If because of death or iliness, physical or metitability, or other incapacity, certified by aysician

acceptable to the Corporation, Employee shaltéaiender the services provided for by this Agreetner if Employee contracts an iliness or
injury, certified by a physician acceptable to @&rporation, which will permanently prevent thefpemance by him of the services provided
for by this Agreement, then the Base Salary praVide in Paragraph 2 hereof shall continue ungl iext anniversary date of this Agreement
but in no event less than three (3) months, wigh@ash Incentive for that fiscal year to be pratdtethe date Employee’s death or the date
Employee’s disability commenced, as applicable.

7. Termination for Cause; Resignatidfothing in this Agreement shall be construed tospnt the Corporation from

terminating Employee’s employment hereunder attamg for cause. Fraud, dishonesty, gross negligemitiéul
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misconduct, misappropriation, embezzlement, mdteidtation of any code of conduct adopted by thleaRl, excessive absences from work,
entry of any order by the Securities and Exchang@@ission pursuant to Section 21C of the Securiiieshange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”) or Section 8A of the Securities Act of 193®hibiting Employee from serving as an officer @medtor of an issuer that has a class of
securities registered pursuant to Section 12 othaurities Exchange Act of 1934 or that is requteefile reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of
that Act, or the like, or any act or omission readaly deemed by the Board to have been disloydlgdCorporation shall constitute cause for
termination. Termination for cause by the Corparapursuant to this Paragraph 7 shall not constautreach of this Agreement by the
Corporation, and shall release the Corporation fadirof its obligations pursuant to this Agreeméntluding without limitation any obligation
to pay any Cash Incentive as described in Parag@gapther than the obligation to pay any accruetdibpaid portion of Employee’s Base
Salary. Additionally, Employee may resign his enyph@nt with the Corporation at any time prior to tmmclusion of the then current Term,
provided that such resignation would constitutelaase of the Corporation of all of its obligatigmssuant to this Agreement (including
without limitation any obligation to pay any Castténtive as described in Paragraph 3) other thaoliligation to pay any accrued but unpaid
portion of Employee’s Base Salary.

8. Termination Without Cause; Failure to Renew Agnent. The Corporation shall have the right to termirtaeeEmployee

at any time without cause or, in its sole discretimot to renew this Agreement for any reasoneattid of a then current Term. Upon the
occurrence of either circumstance, Employee ska#ive, in addition to the Corporation’s accrueligalions with respect to Employee’s Base
Salary and pro-rata portion of the current yeagslCIncentive, the following as severance, provitied Employee agrees to, signs, and does
not revoke a separation agreement presented ydiporation that includes standard terms suchrakase of all claims against the
Corporation and reaffirms the agreements set farthe Confidentiality, Non-Competition and Non-Bihtion Agreement between the
Corporation and Employee dated June 1, 2013:gi}Jithes Employee’s current Base Salary, which atGhrporation’s option may be paid in
the form of a lump-sum payment within ninety (9@ysd of termination or over the course of eightééd) (months in accordance with the
Corporation’s normal payroll schedule (i) eithke taverage of the two most recent Cash Incentiymeats received by the Employee or, if
Employee has received only one Cash Incentive pagrtiee amount of that previous Cash Incentive mayimwhich payment shall be paid to
Employee in the form of a lump-sum payment withimetly (90) days of termination, (iii) reimbursemémtEmployee for the costs of the
premiums (COBRA health insurance premiums for tfst €ighteen (18) months following the date ofaration and the amount equal to si
COBRA premiums for the following six (6) month ped) paid by the Employee to participate, on ternt @verage no less favorable to the
Employee than the terms and coverage offered t@rusenior executives of the Corporation, in ledite, hospitalization and disability

insurance plans, and (iv) immediate vesting inlomedred percent (100%) of any previously grantestitged Stock Awards and Stock
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Options (and such Restricted Stock Awards and Stiqtions shall be exercisable for a period of tadier of (a) one (1) year after termination

or (b) the expiration date of such Restricted StacBtock Options pursuant to their terms).

9. Change in ControlFor purposes of this Agreement, a “Change in @hshall be deemed to have occurred if: (i) any
person (as defined in Section 13(d) and 14(d) ®Bkchange Act) is or becomes the beneficial oymedefined in Rule 13d-3 of the
Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securstief the Corporation representing more than fiftygent (50%) of the combined voting power
of the Corporation’s then outstanding securitiegjipthere is a consummation of a reorganizatmeyrger or consolidation or sale or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the atssef the Corporation (a “Business Combinationt)each case, unless, following such Business
Combination, all or substantially all of the indivials and entities who were the beneficial ownémutstanding voting securities of the
Corporation immediately prior to such Business Coration beneficially own, directly or indirectly,are than fifty percent (50%) of the
combined voting power of the then outstanding \@8ecurities entitled to vote generally in the &becof directors, as the case may be, of the
entity resulting from such Business Combinatiorl(iding, without limitation, an entity which, agesult of such transaction, owns the
Corporation or all or substantially all of the Coration’s assets either directly or through onenore subsidiaries).

If in connection with, or within one (1) year afterChange in Control, (i) the Corporation shalirimate the Employee’s employment
other than for cause (and other than due to hihaeadisability) or (ii) the Employee is not retad in substantially the same or better role anc
at substantially the same or better compensatigal &s prior to the Change in Control, the Emplosieall receive, in addition to the
Corporation’s accrued obligations with respect topfoyee’s Base Salary and pro-rata portion of tiveent year’s Cash Incentive, the
following as severance, provided that Employee egjte, signs, and does not revoke a separatioeragre presented by the Corporation that
includes standard terms such as a release obathglagainst the Corporation and reaffirms theexgents set forth in the Confidentiality, Non-
Competition and Non-Solicitation Agreement betw#enCorporation and Employee dated June 1, 20)3o(@ period of two (2) years
following the date of termination, continuationEnployee’s then-current Base Salary, which at thg@ration’s option may be paid in the
form of a lump-sum payment within ninety (90) daysermination or over the course of two (2) yearaccordance with the Corporation’s
normal payroll schedule, and (b) either two tintesaverage of the two most recent Cash Incentiymeats received by the Employee or, if
Employee has received only one Cash Incentive payrweo times the amount of that previous Cashritigce payment, which payment shall
be paid to Employee in the form of a lump-sum paytwéthin ninety (90) days of termination, (c) rédarsement to Employee for the costs of
the premiums (COBRA health insurance premiumstferfirst eighteen (18) months following the dateesfination and the amount equal to
such COBRA premiums for the following six (6) momtiriod) paid by the Employee to participate, am&and coverage no less favorable tc
the Employee than the terms and coverage offeredrtent senior executives of the Corporation,aalth, life, hospitalization and disability

insurance plans, and (d) immediate vesting in amalted percent (100%) of any previously grantediitésd




Stock and Stock Options (and such Restricted SAwgkrds and Stock Options shall be exercisable foeréod of the earlier of (i) one (1) year

after termination due to Change in Control ort(ig@ expiration date of such Restricted Stock oclS@ptions pursuant to their terms).

10. Covenant Not to CompeteEmployee agrees during the term of employmentfané period of one (1) year after
employment terminates for any reason, the Employitenot, directly or indirectly (such as throughsaparate entity) without the prior writ
approval of the Board, become an officer, emplogeasultant, agent, partner, director, sharehademwner of beneficial interests in or of
following business enterprises:

(i) a business enterprise which competes wighGbrporation and its subsidiaries/affiliates fostomers, orders, supply source:
contracts (a) in the continental United States, (@)dn those businesses in which the Corporatimhits affiliates were engaged on the dat
employment terminated, unless, Emploeattivities for such business enterprise are dichin such a way that Employee is not engz
directly or indirectly, in competition with the Quoration or its affiliates for customers, ordergy@y sources or contracts, or

(i) a Target Company.

As used herein, “Target Companyieans any business enterprise wherever locatedfamdatever type (including without limitati
a business not currently competitive with the Cosgion or its subsidiaries) which during the sixntits immediately preceding the termina
or other cessation of the Employeemployment with the Corporation either was (i)iecussions with the Corporation or its subsiek
regarding a merger with the Corporation or anyt®fsubsidiariespr (ii) in discussions with the Corporation or its sidiaries regarding the
purchase of some or all of the Target Compamguity interests (including stock or limited li#tly company interests) or a material part o
assets or, alternatively, regarding their salehto Target Company of some or all of the Corpor&ian its subsidiariesequity interest
(including stock or limited liability company intests) or a material part of their respective asset§ii) identified by management employ:t
of the Corporation or its subsidiaries as a potértusiness with which the Corporation or its sdiasies will investigate for the purpose
potentially engaging in one or more of the actdstdescribed in subsections (i) and (ii) of thiinikon.

The provisions of this Paragraph 10 shall survivgy @ermination of this Agreement and shall be higdion the Employe
notwithstanding any termination of cessation ofdnigployment with the Corporation (including anyntération pursuant to Paragraphs 7, 8
9 above). For the avoidance of doubt, if there amg perceived inconsistencies between this Parhgt@pand the Confidentiality, Non-
Competition and Norgolicitation Agreement between the Corporation Bnployee dated June 1, 2013, the agreements sletifiothe latte
shall prevail.

Further, passive ownership (not to exceed 5% ofdtad outstanding stock) of any publicly tradeangany will not in itself violate tt

provisions of this Paragraph 10. Employee acknogédsdhat the Corporation and its subsidiariesiatéit are




leaders in the chemical and metals businesses ithvitmanufactures, they have substantial custamlationships throughout the contine
United States, and therefore the geographic scbeenployee’s non-competition obligation is fair areghsonable.

Employee further agrees that at no time duringehiployment or thereafter will he divulge, commurécar use to the detriment of
Corporation or its subsidiaries any of the Corgoras or its subsidiariestonfidential information, data, trade secrets, saéghods, custom
lists, supply sources, or other proprietary infotiora

11. Severability The invalidity or unenforceability of any prowsi hereof shall in no way affect the validity of@eeability of an'
other provision hereof.

12. Arbitration. Any controversy or claim arising out of, or réht to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shallresolve
exclusively by arbitration in the City of SpartambuState of South Carolina, in accordance withriles then obtaining of the Americ
Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the alwandered may be entered in any Court havingdiatisn thereof.

13. Notices Any notice required or permitted to be given uritiéss Agreement shall be sufficient if in writingnd if sent by register
or certified mail or overnight mail by a recognizeational carrier, to his residence in the casErmployee, or to its Executive Offices in
case of the Corporation.

14. Benefit This Agreement, in accordance with its terms eontlitions, shall inure to the benefit of and bedirig upon the
Corporation, its successors and assigns, incluglingnot limited to any corporation which may acquatl or substantially all of the
Corporation’s assets and business, or with orwritich the Corporation may be consolidated or mergad Employee, his heirs, executors,
administrators, and legal representatives, proviblatithe obligations of the Employee hereunder naiybe delegated. Employee agrees,
however, that any such sale or merger shall naleleened a termination hereunder provided that thpl@®rae’s operational duties are not
substantially reduced as a result thereof.

15. Choice of Law This Agreement shall be construed in accordariteamd governed by the laws of the State of S@atolina.

16. Entire AgreementThis instrument contains the entire agreemetheparties hereto. It may not be changed orallyobly by an

agreement in writing.

[Signatures Appear on the Next Page]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettliss Agreement as of the day and year below evritt

WITNESSES

As to Synalloy Corporation

As to Employee

SYNALLOY CORPORATION

By

Murray H. Wright
Its: Chairman of the Board of Directors

EMPLOYEE

Craig C. Bram



Synalloy Corporation
Exhibit 21  Subsidiaries of the Registrant

All of the Company's subsidiaries are wholly ownédl. subsidiaries are included in the Company'ssodidated financial statements. ~
subsidiaries are as follows:

Synalloy Metals, Inc., a Tennessee corporation
Bristol Metals, LLC, a Tennessee limited liabiltgrporation

Manufacturers Soap and Chemicals Company, a Teemessporation
Manufacturers Chemicals, LLC, a Tennessee limitdaility corporation

Ram-Fab, LLC, a South Carolina limited liabilityrporation

Metchem, Inc., a Delaware corporation

Synalloy Fabrication, LLC, a South Carolina limitéability corporation
Palmer of Texas Tanks, Inc., a Texas corporatiom{érly Lee-Var, Inc.)
SynTrans, LLC, a Texas limited liability corporatio

CRI Tolling, LLC, a South Carolina limited liab#itcorporation

Specialty Pipe & Tube, Inc., a Delaware corporation



Exhibit 23

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Synalloy Corporation

We consent to the incorporation by reference inrdggstration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 3853064), of our report dated March
2015, with respect to the consolidated balancetsheeSynalloy Corporation and subsidiaries asawfudry 3, 2015 and December 28, 2
and the related consolidated statements of opest&ghareholders’ equity and cash flows for eacthefyears in the thregear period ende
January 3, 2015, the related financial statemergdide, and the effectiveness of internal contv@rdinancial reporting as of January 3, 2(
which appears in Synalloy Corporation’s 2014 Anrieeport on Form 10-K.

/sl Dixon Hughes Goodman LLP

Charlotte, North Carolina
March 17, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Craig C. Bram, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fSynalloy Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period coverec
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in thégport, fairly present in all material resp
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as de
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatatnal control over financial reporting as define Exchange Act Rules 13&(f) anc
15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procediarese designed under «
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtgubsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiglording, or caused such internal control over friahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggatide reliability of financial reporting and theeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati€slosure controls and procedures and presentéus report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in theésteant's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant's r
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdlsguarter in the case of an annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably lik
to materially affect, the registrant's internal wohover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer andalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafimternal control over financial reportil
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitfethe registrant's board of directors (or pesguerforming the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controéfinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefrwaincial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's interi
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2015 /sl Craig C. Bram
Craig C. Bram
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Richard D. Sieradzki, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fSynalloy Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary to r
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoeler which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period coverec
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in thégport, fairly present in all material resp
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, theégos presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures (as de
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))iatatnal control over financial reporting as define Exchange Act Rules 13&(f) anc
15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procediarese designed under «
supervision, to ensure that material informatiolatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtgubsidiaries, is made known to us
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financiglording, or caused such internal control over friahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggatide reliability of financial reporting and theeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrati€slosure controls and procedures and presentéus report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in theésteant's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant's r
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourthdlsguarter in the case of an annual report) thatrhaterially affected, or is reasonably lik
to materially affect, the registrant's internal wohover financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer andalve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuafimternal control over financial reportil
to the registrant's auditors and the audit commitfethe registrant's board of directors (or pesguerforming the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controéfinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and rtefrwaincial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvesnagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's interi
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 17, 2015 /sl Richard D. Sieradzki
Richard D. Sieradzki

Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accountingfioér




Exhibit 32
Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350

The undersigned, who are the chief executive afftew the chief financial officer of Synalloy Corption, each hereby certifies tt
to the best of his knowledge, the accompanying Fbo of the issuer fully complies with the requiremeiof Section 13(a) or 15(d) of

Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and that infororationtained in the report fairly presents, innaditerial respects, the financial condition
results of operations of the issuer.

Date: March 17, 2015 /s/ Craig C. Bram
Craig C. Bram
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Richard D. Sieradzki
Richard D. Sieradzki

Chief Financial Officer and Principal Accoimngt Officer




